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Bass Coast Shire Council acknowledges Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islanders as the first Australians 

and recognises that they have a unique relationship 
with the land and water.

Council also recognises that we are situated on the 
traditional lands of the Bunurong/Boon Wurrung, 
members of the Kulin Nation who have lived here 
for thousands of years. We offer our respect to 

their elders past and present and through them, all 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
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About Bass Coast

Snapshot of Council
Demographic profile
Bass Coast’s main centres are Wonthaggi, Cowes 
(Phillip Island), Inverloch, San Remo and Grantville. In 
addition, the Shire comprises a further 28 towns.
It has an Estimated Residential Population of 32,848 
people (as at 30 June 2016). However, its proximity to 
Melbourne makes it also very attractive to visitors and 
to people wanting to make a sea change. During peak 
visitor periods, our population swells to over 80,000 
and we welcome more than 3.5 million visitors every 
year.
The proportion of residents aged over 50 is 
significantly higher in Bass Coast (44.9%) than across 
the state (32.20%). Furthermore, 24.3% of our 
population is aged over 65 years, compared to 15.02% 
for the state.
Tourism is estimated to generate approximately $339 
million in direct visitor expenditure. Tourism supports 
approximately 3,100 direct and full-time equivalent 
jobs.

Purpose
Vision
Bass Coast Shire will be recognised as a unique place 
of environmental significance where our quality of life 
and sense of community is balanced by sustainable 
and sensitive development, population and economic 
growth.

Mission
To take a leading role in partnership with other levels 
of government, businesses, community groups and 

individuals to make our community’s vision a reality.

Values
Customer Focus
We will continue to develop effective relationships 
with customers.

Continuous Improvement
We are committed to improving our processes and 
service delivery.

Pride
We take pride in and promote our achievements, our 
staff and our organisation.

Integrity
We act and make decisions that are fair, honest, open 
and accountable.

Respect
We treat people with dignity and respect.

Commitment
We value and recognise contributions towards 
achieving the Bass Coast Vision. We listen, understand, 

Welcome to the Report of Operations 2016/17
Council is committed to transparent reporting and accountability to the community and the Report of 
Operations 2016/17 is the primary means of advising the Bass Coast community about Council’s operations and 
performance during the financial year. This is the fourth and last report against the objectives set out in the 
Council Plan 2013–2017. A Council Election was held on 22 October 2016 and a new Council was appointed for 
a period of four years. The incoming Council has adopted a new Council Plan, covering the period from 2017 to 
2021.



The Year in Review
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Mayor’s Message

The first eight months of the new Council’s first 
term has been an absolute whirlwind, with so much 
accomplished in such a short amount of time.
After finding our feet as Councillors following the 
Local Government elections in October, we began 
planning for our four-year term with our ‘Help shape a 
better Bass Coast’ campaign throughout the month of 
January. 

To say it was a ‘big’ month is actually quite an 
understatement. This truly was the greatest breadth 
of any engagement campaign Bass Coast Shire Council 
has ever undertaken and I am blown away at the 
number of people who took the time to fill out our 
survey, stop and have a chat, attend our community 
sessions or send in their thoughts. 

To put some numbers to it all – we had 2,651 website 
page views, reached over 64,000 people through 
social media, sent over 3,000 emails, had over 850 
surveys completed, ran a hugely successful Facebook 
Q&A session and spoke with over 820 people across 
18 events. Phew!

My fellow Councillors and I were genuinely thrilled 
to have started off our term with such a fantastic 
engagement project; one that I believe has raised the 
bar for all community engagement going forward.
As soon as one campaign was over, the next began, 
with our education campaign on Council’s new three-
bin system starting in April, in preparation for the 
introduction of the new Organics bin in September 
2017. I am very proud to say our Shire is leading 
the way in waste as the first Gippsland council to 
introduce an organics collection. Making this change 
will help protect our beautiful and unique Bass Coast 
environment, and I am looking forward to seeing what 
we can achieve with our new approach to waste over 
the coming years. 

I believe our focus on community engagement is 
already paying off, as we were extremely happy to 
receive our 2017 Community Satisfaction Survey 
result and see that our scores had increased across 
all six measures. Whilst we still have a long way to 
go in terms of being in the top quartile for Large 
Rural Councils, it was very encouraging to see 
improvements in every area and was a promising start 
to our term. We’re looking forward to seeing how we 
can continue to build and improve in coming years. 
I’d like to take this opportunity to thank our 
community for their dedication, passion and 
enthusiasm in helping us shape a better Bass Coast, 
and can’t wait to see what we achieve together going 
forward. I can’t emphasise enough just how proud I 
am to be a part of this incredible community.

Cr Pamela Rothfield, Mayor
Bass Coast Shire Council
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CEO’s Message

On behalf of Bass Coast Shire Council it is a great 
pleasure to present Council’s Annual Report for the 
year 2016/17.

I am proud to report we have once again achieved 
100 per cent of our 39 budget initiatives for 2016/17. 
Of these, 14 were Major Initiatives, including finalising 
contracts for waste services; completion of the 
Wonthaggi North East Precinct Structure Plan and 
a review of the Wonthaggi Dalyston Structure Plan; 
completion of the Phillip Island and San Remo Tourism 
Strategy 2035; and implementing Year One for both 
the Natural Environment Sustainability Strategy and 
the Economic Development Strategy.
In October, we also conducted the 2016 Council 
Election, and welcoming a new Council also required 
the development and adoption of the Council Plan 
2017-20, in conjunction with the new Municipal Public 
Health and Wellbeing Plan. These documents were 
developed with the assistance of a broad community 
consultation campaign and adopted by Council in June 
2017. 

We also achieved 93 per cent of our capital projects. 
As of 30 June 2017, 103 out of 110 capital works projects 
had been delivered, with an additional 18 projects 
deferred. Included in the completed projects were 
consultation and concept designs for the Pioneer Bay 
Potential Road and Drainage Upgrade; commencement 
of the construction of the Bass Valley Children’s 
Centre; construction of the Wonthaggi Netball Courts; 
and completion of the Phillip Island Road Shared Path 
from Anderson to San Remo.

There was also a strong focus on renewing community 
assets in the last year, with 16 renewal programs 
included in Council’s Capital Works Program totalling 
over $3.86 million. These projects varied from renewal 
of roads and paths to community buildings, and park 
and street furniture – as well as everything in between.

Council has also continued to improve the way we 
engage with our community, with the ‘Help shape 
a better Bass Coast’ engagement campaign for the 
Council Plan the largest yet. We also launched our 
first electronic version of our quarterly newsletter, 

Coastell, and grew our following and reach on 
Council’s social media channels, using tools such as 
Facebook to directly engage with our community 
members through regular posts and live Q&A sessions 
with Councillors and staff. 

Council will continue to make improvements to the 
way it engages, and looks forward to working closely 
with the community over the next 12 months.
I would like to take the opportunity to acknowledge 
Council, the local community and all Bass Coast Shire 
Council staff who have contributed to delivering our 
Council’s vision and Council Plan.

Paul Buckley PSM
Chief Executive Officer
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$12.51 million
Operating surplus (budget $0.63 million surplus)

$52.33 million
Rates and charges comprised 62% of the total 
operating revenue

$12.57million
Capital works program delivered (against a budgeted 
$15.99 million)

$38.17million
Cash holdings (increased by $11.83 million from $26.34 
million in 2015/16 to 2016/17)

$13.94 million
Net borrowings (increased by $1.41 million from 
$12.53 million in 2015/16 to 2016/17)

Council focuses on three (3) key areas of financial 
performance as a guide to our overall position from 
a sustainability perspective.
These three (3) areas are:

• Our operating and underlying results
• The renewal or replacement of our existing assets
• Our cash holdings

At the end of 2016/2017 Council’s financial position 
continues to improve and we remain focused on 
delivering efficiencies from our activities. We are 
putting in place systems to provide for detailed long 
term planning, rigorous project management practices, 
a ‘whole of life’ asset management approach, further 
improving internal controls and are working towards an 
approach where funding is determined by the level of 
services our community requires. All of these measures 
provide for the opportunity to increase the quality and 
efficiency of the facilities and the services that Council 
provides for the Bass Coast community. While this 
report focuses on the 2016/2017 financial results, it is 
important to see these results in light of the long-term 
financial objectives developed by Council.

The 2016/17 result:

2016/17
$’ million

2015/16
$’ million

Income statement surplus/
(deficit)

12.51 (1.25)

Underlying result 2.80 (5.85)

Cash assets 38.17 26.34

Net assets 617.48 584.57

For more information please refer to the annual 
financial report.

Operating result
The result for the 2016/2017 year was a $12.51 million 
surplus against a budgeted surplus of $0.63 million. The 
change is the result of significant additional income in 
the form of developer contributed assets ($6.7 million), 
early payment by the Commonwealth of their financial 
assistance grant ($3 million), higher level of fees and 
charges ($0.6 million) and additional investment 
interest ($0.4 million).  This was also supported by 
significant savings in employee costs ($0.5 million) and 
materials and services ($0.7 million) when comparing 
actual results to the budget. 

Chief Financial Officer’s Message

Financial Snapshot
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Underlying result
A key measure of the financial sustainability is the 
trend in the Underlying Result. This identifies whether 
we are generating sufficient revenue to cover 
operating expenses, including asset replacement. The 
underlying result for 2016/2017 was a surplus of $2.8 
million. It has been five (5) years since Council last 
achieved a surplus result and whilst impacted by the 
early payment of Commonwealth Financial Assistance 
Grants, we are expecting this positive trend to 
continue.

Replacing our assets
A key strategic indicator is the rate of replacement of 
our assets as they age and deteriorate.

During 2016/2017, we capitalised a total of $12.57 
million of works and asset purchases (capital 
expenditure/investment) across the shire. This 
included a total of $7.66 million (61%) on renewal 
works/activities and $4.91 million (39%) on new and 
upgrade works/activities.

This trend of investing in our existing assets is a 
critical indicator of long term sustainability and the 
2016/17 result continues to reinforce that focus.

 

 
Another key capital indicator is whether the 
expenditure on renewal matches the rate that our 
assets are deteriorating or depreciating. 

The result for 2016/2017 mirrors the long term trend 
of capital investment with an asset renewal ratio 
of 56.4%, which although an improvement on the 
prior year (from 54.4% to 56.4%), remains significantly 
below the benchmark goal. To combat this, the 
2017/2018 budget and the Long Term Financial Plan 
maintain a target for renewal demand activities of a 
minimum of 100%.

The 2016/17 result:

Budget  
$ million

Actual  
$ million

Renewal 10.14 7.66

Upgrade 3.20 3.57

Expansion 0.44 0.31

New 2.20 1.03

Total Capital Works 15.98 12.57
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Cash holdings
Cash holdings are about our ability to pay for 
Council’s activities and obligations as and when they 
come due and is balanced by restricted items such as 
trust deposits and reserves or funds held for specific 
purposes. For example, employee long service leave 
obligations, future landfill rehabilitation etc.

 

During 2016/2017 cash holding increased to $38.2 
million from $26.3 million in 2015/2016. This increase 
arises from an early payment of Commonwealth 
grants, lower level of cash flows relating to 
employees, materials, services and the deferral of 
works and projects to 2017/2018. The level of cash 
is not an indication of surplus cash but more a 
reflection of the need to balance the day to day 
financing of Council with the need to increase 
capacity or resilience of Council to respond to future 
opportunities or to future financial risks

Financial sustainability
Increasing threats to funding, such as rate capping 
and growing community expectations, emphasise the 
need for strong financial management, efficient long 
and short term planning and the targeted allocation 
of resources.

Our response is to identify and analyse trends of 
significance to provide for sound financial planning 
and decision making. This is reflected in our annual 
budget process, Strategic Resource Plan (SRP) and 
Long Term Financial Plan.

Our Long Term Financial Plan established the strategic 
financial direction for Council to meet the funding 
and investment challenges that lie ahead in the next 
10 years and beyond. It is prepared in conjunction with 
the SRP and Council Plan to ensure the affordability 
of major initiatives included in the Council Plan.

For further financial performance information refer 
to the annual financial report.

Brett Exelby CPA
Manager Finance
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Major Capital Works
The 2016/17 Capital Works Program is made up of 91 capital works projects or actions that formed part of the 
2016/17 Budget, which was approved at the 19 June 2016 Council Meeting. Additional projects and actions including 
those brought forward from 2015/16 brought our total number to 128 of which 104 projects were completed and 12 
projects were deferred. The nature of the capital works projects and actions that form part of the Program varies 
from infrastructure projects, such as buildings, roads and drainage, to the replacement of assets or plant, such as the 
fleet or plant replacement programs. In addition, some infrastructure projects require design and construction in 
the same year. Other larger and more complex projects may require the design and construction to be spread over 
more than one financial year. Over the course of the 2016/17 financial year the number of projects included within 
the Capital Works Program was revised. This has been a result of projects not completed in the 2015/16 financial 
year being carried over for completion in the 2016/17 financial year, new projects being added and projects being 
deferred as a result of external funding not becoming available.

Council is committed to maintaining and renewing its infrastructure assets. Both residents and visitors to Bass Coast 
can enjoy modern, aesthetically pleasing and functional infrastructure throughout the Shire through the ongoing 
commitment made by Council in its annual budget. Council has spent a total of $7.662 million in 2016/2017 on 
renewing its infrastructure right across Bass Coast. Some of the major projects included in the 2016/2017 renewal 
program were:
• Inverloch Boat Ramp Toilet Block replacement
• South Dudley Road pathway renewal
• Fincher Street Wonthaggi pavement works
• Sheepways Road Krowera renewal and
• Cowes foreshore renewal
Many other minor renewal projects have also been completed during the year adding to the total improvements in 
all asset classes including, roads, drainage, pathways, car parks, street lighting, buildings and open space. The whole 
community has benefitted from these improvements and Council has received very positive feedback from the 
community.

Replacement of the toilet block at the Inverloch Boat 
Ramp was one of Council’s 2016/17 renewal projects
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During 2016/17, the major capital works included the following key projects:  

Wonthaggi Netball Courts: $787,000

Council undertook redevelopment works on the Wonthaggi Netball Courts which commenced in October 
2016. This project represents a major investment in sport and recreation facilities in Wonthaggi. The seven 
court project is now a showcase sporting facility for Bass Coast and will provide wonderful opportunities to 
all budding netballers across the Shire. 
Captured as a key project within the Sport and Active Recreation Needs Assessment Study, the courts were 
funded through contributions from Bass Coast Shire Council, Sport and Recreation Victoria, Wonthaggi and 
District Netball Association and the Wonthaggi Power Football Netball Club.
The colourful flexipave surface provides all weather compliant playing areas. This allows the courts to host 
top quality regular season games, tournaments and finals matches. 
The re-designed fencing provides an open feel to the facility and encourages passive use outside of formal 
training and game time. This too has improved access and provides opportunities for continued growth for 
the sport. The Wonthaggi Netball Courts were officially opened on 20 April 2017.

Black Spot Program - Agar Road, Corinella: $1.08 million

Safety Improvement works were undertaken along Agar Road, Corinella from Soldiers Road to Corinella Road. 
Black Spot Program targets those road locations where crashes are occurring.  The emphasis of this program is 
to reduce the number of crashes and the level of severity. Works began in February 2017 and were completed 
in June 2017. Safety improvement works involved extensions to existing culverts, widening of the road and 
sealing of the new shoulders and the installation of guard rails, signage and guideposts in various locations 
along Agar Road. 

The completed redevelopment of the Wonthaggi  
Netball Courts
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Principle Bicycle Network – Potters Hill Road to Back Beach Road, San Remo: $785,000 
Council undertook staged construction works for a shared pathway along Phillip Island Road between 
Potters Hill Road and Panorama Drive in San Remo. Construction works began in August 2016. Works included 
construction of a 2 metre wide concrete shared pathway, connection of stormwater drainage, installation of 
heritage fencing, guardrails, timber retaining walls and safety fencing. 

There was also a shared zone created for pedestrians and vehicles along the service road. Shared zones are 
implemented where pedestrians, cyclists and motorists share the same road space. Signage, linemarking and 
traffic calming devices were installed to define the shared zone space. 
The overall project has created an additional 1.6 kilometres of shared path between Potters Hill Road and 
Back Beach Road linking the existing path network in San Remo to the bus interchange at Anderson. The path 
allows cyclists, as well as those on foot, to travel safely along a continuous path from the main street of San 
Remo along the coastline to Anderson and beyond. 

Cowes Foreshore Building Renewal Program: $280,000

Having identified the need for maintaining and upgrading assets, Council undertook building renewal works on 
the Cowes Foreshore and Thompson Avenue precinct which began in April 2017 and were completed in June 
2017. Areas along the Cowes Foreshore that were refurbished included around The Esplanade toilet block, the 
area to the west side along the Cowes Foreshore and around the Findlay Street toilet block. The Esplanade 
toilet block works involved refurbishing the lookout on top of the toilets and replacing the existing concrete 
surrounding the lower level into the toilet block to improve access. There were landscaping works completed 
at the nearby picnic table area to the west of the toilet block.
Floor coating renewal works were undertaken within the Findlay Street toilet block. There were further 
enhancements such as the renewal of the floor coating and painting at The Esplanade toilets, painting at the 
Mussel Rock picnic area and improvements to Erewhon Point and Red Rocks BBQ.
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Major Changes
2016 Council Election
Every four years the Council conducts Council Elections, this election saw Bass Coast move from seven 
Councillors in seven wards to nine Councillors in three wards. All wards were contested and eight new 
Councillors were elected and only one returning Councillor. An extensive transition program was developed 
to assist the newly elected Councillors to understand their roles, responsibilities and functions of Council.

Major Achievements
Service Review Program
As part of Council’s promise in its Long Term Financial Plan to reduce operating expenditure, we have 
continued to deliver a program of service reviews for 2016/17. These reviews included Parks and Gardens, 
Infrastructure Delivery, Governance and Councillor Support, Customer Service and Building, Road, Plant 
Maintenance and Infrastructure Maintenance Administration.



Our Council
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Bass Coast Profile
Bass Coast Shire Council is a local government 
authority incorporated under the Local Government 
Act 1989 (Vic). It is located approximately 130km 
south east of Melbourne and is bounded by Western 
Port in the north and west, Cardinia Shire in the 
north east, South Gippsland Shire in the east and 
Bass Strait in the south.
The name Bass Coast was adopted as the official 
name of the Shire when the local governments of 
Phillip Island, Bass and Wonthaggi were amalgamated 
in 1994, along with the incorporation of a small 
section of Woorayl.
Bass Coast’s main centres are Wonthaggi, Cowes 
(Phillip Island), Inverloch, San Remo and Grantville. In 
addition, Bass Coast comprises a further 28 towns.
Bass Coast is home to over 30,000 permanent 
residents. However, its proximity to Melbourne 
makes it also very attractive to visitors and to people 
wanting to make a sea change. During peak visitor 
periods, our population swells to over 80,000.
Bass Coast boasts many beautiful beaches, unique 
nature reserves and many major events that attract 
more than 3.5 million visitors each year, such as the 
Australian Motorcycle Grand Prix at the Phillip Island 
Circuit.

Economy and Employment
Our major industries are tourism, construction, 
agriculture and manufacturing.
Tourism is estimated to generate approximately 
$339 million in direct visitor expenditure. Tourism 
supports approximately 3,100 direct and full-time 
equivalent jobs.
Agriculture and manufacturing contributes over 
12.89% of the total economic output (approximately 
$528.912 million annually) to the local economy 
through a combination of traditional farming, such 
as dairy and meat production and processing, as well 
as many agricultural boutique enterprises, including 
venison, free range eggs, olives, wineries and cheese 
making.

During 2016/17, construction was the biggest 
employer in Bass Coast, employing approximately 
2,537 people (22.44% of total jobs).
Of those aged 15 years and above, 95.3% are in the 
labour force, either employed or actively looking for 
work. This is above the regional Victoria average of 
94.8%.
Unemployment is approximately 7.74%. The median 
weekly household income is $700-$900.



Our Council

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  17  

Population
According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, the 
Estimated Resident Population of Bass Coast in 2016 
was 32,848. This represents an annual population 
change of 2.43% from the previous year.
The proportion of residents aged over 50 is 
significantly higher in Bass Coast (44.9%) than across 
the state (32.20%). Further, 24.3% of our population 
is aged over 65 years, compared to 15.02% for the 
state.
At the end of the financial year 2016/17, there were 
30252 rateable properties in Bass Coast. This is an 
increase of 477 from the previous year. Reflecting 
the appeal of Bass Coast as a holiday destination, 
approximately half of all ratepayers reside outside 
the Shire.

History
The traditional owners of Bass Coast are the 
Bunurong/Boon Wurrung, members of the Kulin 
Nation. The area takes its name from the explorer 
George Bass, who sighted it during an expedition to 
prove the existence of Bass Strait in 1796.
European settlement dates back to 1826, when 
a military outpost was set up at Corinella, the 
second permanent settlement in the state. Another 
settlement was established on the Bass River shortly 
after the founding of Melbourne in 1835.
In the early 1800s, timber was the primary industry 
of the area and was shipped to Melbourne and 
beyond from several ports along the coastline. The 
cleared land was used for farming and grazing. In 
the 1860s, land was opened for selection, leading 
to growth around Wonthaggi, largely due to coal 
mining.
The area continued to grow into the early 1900s, 
when many townships and villages were established. 
The construction of the first bridge to Phillip Island 
in the 1940s also spurred significant growth.

Council Customer Service Centres
Civic Centre
76 McBride Avenue, Wonthaggi 3995

Cowes
91-97 Thompson Avenue, Cowes 3922

Inverloch
16 A’Beckett Street, Inverloch 3996

Grantville
1504-1510 Bass Highway, Grantville 3984

Email: basscoast@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Website: www.basscoast.vic.gov.au

Postal address: PO Box 118, Wonthaggi VIC 3995
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Townsend Ward 
(Mayor July – October 2016)

Cr Jordan Crugnale
Anderson Ward
Cr Bradley Drew

McHaffie Ward 
Cr Kimberley Brown 

Leadbeater Ward
Cr Clare Le Serve

Thompson Ward
Cr Andrew Phillips

Hovell Ward
Cr Neil Rankine

Churchill Ward
Cr Phil Wright

On 27 October 2012 the Bass Coast community elected the outgoing Council for a four year term 
which ceased on 21 October 2016. The Councillors are listed below:

Previous Council ward boundaries
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Ward Structure Change

Western Port  
Ward

Bunurong 
Ward

Island 
Ward

The Minister for Local Government, The Hon. Natalie Hutchins MP, accepted the Victorian Electoral
Commission’s recommendation for a three-ward, nine-councillor structure for Bass Coast Shire Council.
This is a change from the seven, single councillor wards that previously made up the ward structure for our
municipality. This new structure came into effect for the 2016 Council Elections.

A Council election took place by postal vote on 20 October 2016. The incoming Council was sworn in on 
16 November 2016 for a four-year term.

New ward boundaries
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Incoming Councillors

Cr Stephen Fullarton 
(03) 5956 6379 
0429 099 118 
stephen.fullarton@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Pamela Rothfield  
(Mayor 16 Nov 2016 - 30 June 2017) 
(03) 5956 6393 
0428 936 025 
pamela.rothfield@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Michael Whelan 
(03) 5956 6394 
0429 129 811 
michael.whelan@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Julian Brown
(03) 5671 2123
0429 130 472
julian.brown@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Les Larke
(03) 5671 2121 
0428 747 461
les.larke@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Brett Tessari  
(Deputy Mayor 16 Nov 2016 - 30 June 2017)

(03) 5671 2122 
0428 857 845 
brett.tessari@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Geoff Ellis 
(03) 5671 2157 
0428 840 868 
geoff.ellis@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Bruce Kent 
(03) 5671 2156 
0428 741 843 
bruce.kent@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Cr Clare Le Serve 
(03) 5671 2155 
0448 083 286 
clare.leserve@basscoast.vic.gov.au

Bunurong Ward

Island Ward

Western Port Ward
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Our People

Organisational structure
Council is the governing body that appoints a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO has responsibility for 
the day-to-day management of operations in accordance with the strategic directions of the Council Plan. 
Four General Managers and the CEO form the Executive Team and lead the organisation.

Chief Executive Officer
Paul Buckley PSM

Senior Officers Reporting Directly to the Chief Executive Officer

Paul joined Bass Coast after nine years as CEO of Latrobe City Council. Paul holds a Graduate Diploma 
of Business Management from Monash University and has completed the Senior Executives in State and 
Local Government Program at Harvard University. He has also completed the Colloquium through the 
Cranlana Programme and is a graduate and member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. A 
proven manager, leader and motivator, Paul is a member of Local Government Professionals Australia and 
the International City and County Managers Association. In addition, Paul holds positions on a variety of 
community committees. In the 2012 Queen’s Birthday Honours, Paul was awarded the Public Service Medal for 
his outstanding public service and sustained leadership to the local community.

Mark Brady, General Manager Finance and Organisation Development
Areas of responsibility:

• Finance
• People and Culture

Mark has over 30 years of experience in local government including 14 at the executive level.  Prior to joining 
Bass Coast, he spent five years at the City of Port Phillip, initially as General Manager Corporate Services and 
then as Executive Manager Governance and Culture.
Mark brings a diverse portfolio of skills to the role with demonstrated leadership of Corporate Services, 
Planning, Human Resources and Organisation Development, Finance, Information Services, Governance and 
Local Laws all under his leadership previously. 
Mark has played a leading role in developing stronger financial management and sustainability at Bass Coast 
whilst also building a high performing organisational culture.
He holds a Bachelor of Business, a Graduate Diploma of Business, is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, and is an accredited executive coach and Human Synergistics LSI practitioner.
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Allison Jones, General Manager Sustainable Development and Growth
Areas of responsibility:

• Strategic Planning and Development
• Sustainable Environment
• Economic Development and Tourism

Allison has over two decades of experience working for local and state governments, including 11 years at the 
executive level and has qualifications in economics and commerce. 

Prior to joining Bass Coast Shire Council in March 2015, Allison spent 9 years at Latrobe City Council, initially 
as Manager Economic Development and then as General Manager Economic Sustainability. Allison has also 
worked for the Victorian Government in senior economic and regional policy roles as well as City of Casey.

Allison is passionate about sustainable development, customer services and advocacy for regional 
communities. She is a leader who lives continuous improvement and has an underlying dedication to creating 
a culture of excellence. 

David Elder, General Manager Healthy Communities and Governance
Areas of responsibility:

• Community Health and Wellbeing
• Community Strengthening
• Governance and Information Services

David started his career in the private sector working in tourism and hospitality, and then moved into the 
marketing sector for a number of years.  His career has spanned private, not for profit and international 
appointments all in senior manager roles.

He spent six years in senior management roles with City of Latrobe and joined Bass Coast Shire Council in 
2014. David has a strong reputation for the development of relationships with the community and takes a 
strategic view to achieve the community’s long-term vision. He is a recognised change agent and culture 
builder with high-level business skills. David holds a Bachelor of Business and is a graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Felicity Sist, General Manager Infrastructure
Areas of responsibility:

• Asset Management
• Infrastructure Delivery
• Infrastructure Maintenance

Felicity Sist was appointed Infrastructure Director on July 2011. Felicity has 21 years local government 
experience at Bass Coast Shire Council and has qualifications in Civil Engineering and Business Administration. 
Prior to this, Felicity worked in the construction industry and state and federal government agencies. 
Felicity is responsible to ensure that infrastructure is managed through its lifecycle. Felicity protects the 
community’s major assets for the benefit of the current and future generations through the development of 
long term asset management plans.
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Bass Coast
Towards 2030
A celebration of Natural Assets
A window on the History of Victoria
A village in a Technology World
A Food Bowl for Victoria

Council Plan
2013-2017
Natural Environment
Sustainable Development and Growth
Economic Development
Healthy Communities
Effective Governance

 
 
 

Corporate Plan
2014-2018
Strategy  Leadership
Partnerships People
Finance  Assets
Processes  Services

Strategic Principles
Performance Management:
Deliver what you promise, when you 
promise it.

Financial Management:
Deliver what you promise, when you 
promise it, within the financial parameters 
that have been set ie budget and long term 
plan.

Relationship Development and 
Management:
Appreciate the stakeholders and 
understand their roles and responsibilities.

Values
Customer focus
Integrity
Continuous Improvement
Respect
Commitment
Pride
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Council staff
A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff by organisational structure, employment 
type and gender is set out below. These figures are based on actuals and therefore do not include vacancies.

Employment 
type/Gender

Executive 
Office            

FTE

Finance and 
Organisation 

Development FTE

Healthy 
Communities 

and Governance 
FTE

Infrastructure 
FTE

Sustainable 
Development 

and Growth    
FTE

Grand Total 
FTE

(excluding 
vacancies)

Casual - female 0.2 2.2 2.4
Casual - male 0.7 1.83 2.53
Permanent FT - 
female

1 26 34 11 20 85

Permanent FT- 
male

1 7 20 90 13 124

Permanent PT- 
female

1 3.9 39.11 1 5.24 50.25

Permanent PT- 
male

0.6 6.46 7.06

Temporary FT - 
female

7 2 2 18

Temporary FT- 
male

2 1 10

Temporary PT - 
female

0.4 0.8 1.2

Temporary PT - 
male

0.4 0.8 1.2

Grand Total 3 44.5 104.17 103.1 46.87 301.64

FT - Full Time
PT - Part Time
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Employment Classification Female FTE Male FTE Grand Total
(not 

including 
vacancies)

Band 1 1.3 0.26 1.56
Band 2 21.22 5 26.22
Band 3 6.14 45.53 51.67
Band 4 23.95 21.8 45.75
Band 5 45.8 13 58.8
Band 6 25.71 19.2 44.91
Band 7 19 17.53 15
Band 8 5 10 15
All other FTE 10.2 11 21.2
Grand total 158.32 143.32 301.64

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff categorised by employment classification and 
gender is set out below. These figures are based on actuals and therefore do not include vacancies

Band “other” is anyone who is not a banded employee (senior officers, senior executive officers, trainee/
apprentices etc). 
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Equal employment opportunity (EEO) 
program
A Council with 40 or more members of staff 
must have developed and implemented an equal 
opportunity program. Council’s Working Together 
Policy and training program is designed to eliminate 
discrimination and promote equal opportunity in 
relation to employment matters. 

A key objective of Council’s Working Together 
Policy and training program is to ensure there is no 
discrimination relating to the characteristics listed 
under the Equal Opportunity Act 2010 such as race, 
colour, sex, marital status, parenthood, physical 
or mental impairment, age, religious or political 
affiliation, gender identity and sexual orientation. 

Additional objectives include ensuring the 
workplace is free from bullying and harassment. 
Council has a formal Grievance procedure readily 
available to all supervisors and staff in the rare 
circumstance where an EEO/Working Together 
breach is detected. 

Awareness of the Working Together Policy is 
mandatory for all employees and Councillors 
and is reviewed every four years (post Councillor 
elections). All new staff are provided with a hard 
copy of the Working Together Policy and an 
introduction to EEO principles at the mandatory 
Corporate Induction Day. Working Together training 
is provided to all staff with regular workshops 
timetabled throughout the year to capture all new 
staff and existing staff requiring refresher training.

Other staff matters
Professional development
Council has a strong commitment to high 
performance across the organisation and has a 
number of staff performance and professional 
development programs in place.  Performance 
development is an ongoing process and regular 
discussions are typically held between employees 

and their supervisors. This is developed in alignment 
with strategic priorities as well as in response 
to needs identified through performance and 
development plans.

White Ribbon Australia
The Prevention of Violence Against Women works 
primarily through promoting gender equity and 
building respectful and safe relationships and 
breaking down stereotypes of women. Council is 
one of the first workplaces to become accredited 
in this area, and is leading the way to help improve 
some confronting statistics. This is a prevention 
approach consistent with Council’s health and 
wellbeing planning and aims to increase both the 
confidence and safety of staff members and those 
in the community.

Health and safety
During 2016/17, Council continued its focus on 
Health and Safety, striving to meet our aim of 
working together to maintain a safety culture that 
supports an incident and injury-free workplace for 
all employees, councillors, contractors, visitors and 
the public.
Our organisation’s leaders, working alongside our 
Staff and OHS Consultative Committee (SOCC) have 
maintained focus on:

• identification and elimination of OHS hazards
• early intervention when there are signs of an 

injury or illness
• planning and supporting return to work plans to 

minimise lost time
Through our consistent efforts we have achieved 
a significant reduction in our work related injury 
costs and subsequent reduction in our WorkCover 
premium.
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The Planning and Accountability Framework is found 
in part 6 of the Local Government Act 1989. The Act 
requires Councils to prepare the following planning 
and reporting documents:
• A Council Plan within the six months after each 

general election or by 30 June, whichever is later
• A Strategic Resource Plan for a period of at least 

four years and include this in the Council Plan
• A budget for each financial year
• An annual report in respect of each financial year

The following diagram shows the relationships 
between the key planning and reporting documents 
that make up the planning and accountability 
framework for local government. It also shows 
that there are opportunities for community and 
stakeholder input and feedback at each stage of the 
planning and reporting cycle.

Planning and Accountability Framework

Time horizon Planning

Medium Term

Short Term

Reporting Timing

Council Plan
•	 Strategic Objectives
•	 Strategies
•	 Strategic Indicators

Strategic Resource Plan
•	 Financial Statements
•	 Statements	of	non-financial	

resources

Budget
•	 Services and initiatives
•	 Service outcome indicators
•	 Major initiatives
•	 Financial statements

Stakeholder 
and 

community 
engagement

Annual Report
•	Report of operations
•	Financial statements
•	Performance statement

Jan–June

Feb-June

Mar-June

Jul – Sep

1. Natural Environment Our unique natural environment is protected, maintained 
and enhanced for the enjoyment of all

2. Sustainable Development and Growth Our built environment complements our landscape, 
lifestyle and climate

3. Healthy Communities Our community feels connected, safe and strong
4. Effective Governance Our leadership will be achieved through good governance, 

community engagement and excellence in service delivery
5. Economic Development Our economy is supported by diverse, local and innovative 

businesses and employment

Council Plan
The 2013-2017 Council Plan includes strategic objectives, strategies for achieving these for the four year period, 
strategic indicators for monitoring achievement of the strategic objectives and a Strategic Resource Plan. The 
following are the five strategic objectives as detailed in the Council Plan.
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Performance
Council’s performance against each strategic objective for 2015/16 has been reported to demonstrate how 
Council is performing in achieving the 2013-2017 Council Plan. Performance has been measured as follows:
• Results achieved in relation to the strategic indicators in the Council Plan
• Progress in relation to the major initiatives identified in the Budget
• Services funded in the Budget and the persons or sections of the community who are provided those 

services
• Results against the prescribed service performance indicators and measures.
The following sections review the performance of Council against the Council Plan and the services, 
initiatives, major initiatives and service performance indicators for each business area.

Strategic Objective 1: Natural Environment

To achieve our objective of Natural Environment we will continue to plan for our unique natural environment 
to ensure it is protected, maintained and enhanced for the enjoyment of all. 

Major Initiatives Progress
Implement Year One of the Natural Environment Sustainability Strategy 100%

Finalise contracts for waste services, including kerbside services and management of waste 
facilities 

100%

Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Coast and Bushland  
Management

This service manages coast and bushland reserves to ensure safe use 
and enjoyment by the community and conservation of biodiversity.

1515
1468

46
Climate Change and  
Sustainability

This service helps to maintain and improve the local natural
environment by complying with environmental regulations,
mitigating and adapting to the effects of climate change,
providing environmental education for staff and the
community, and recording and reporting on the organisations 
greenhouse emissions and water use.

146
334

(188)

Waste Services This service provides the effective management of Council’s waste 
services including the contracted collection of domestic, smaller 
commercial, public place garbage and recycling and domestic hard 
waste. This service monitors and investigates reports of illegally 
dumped rubbish and litter including issuing compliance notices and 
infringements, and aims to reduce waste to landfill in accordance with 
the State Government’s “Towards Zero Waste” strategy through waste 
and recycling education programs.

4896
5340
(444)



Our Performance

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  31  

Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Landfill 
Rehabilitation

This service is responsible for rehabilitating closed landfill sites 
and cells throughout the Shire in accordance with environmental 
regulations.

-
946

(946)

Sustainable 
Environment 
Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the 
Natural Environment strategic objective.

198
165
32

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Waste Management
Satisfaction
Kerbside bin collection 
requests
[Number of kerbside garbage 
and recycling bin collection 
requests / Number of kerbside 
bin collection households] 
x1000

45.54 28.53 Council serviced 25,205 kerbside collection 
properties and received 719 Customer Requests 
for 2016/17 compared to 1,134 Customer 
Requests for 2015/16.

Service Standard
Kerbside collection bins missed
[Number of kerbside garbage 
and recycling collection bins 
missed / Number of scheduled 
kerbside garbage and recycling 
collection bin lifts] x10,000

1.72 1.66 The low number of missed bins compared to 
number of bins collected demonstrates the 
continued high level of service of the Shire’s 
waste contract service.

Service Cost
Cost of kerbside garbage bin 
collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside 
garbage bin collection service/
Number of kerbside garbage 
collection bins]

$96.76 $102.43 The increase in kerbside garbage bin collection 
service cost is attributed to a marginal landfill 
operational cost increase.



Our Performance

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  32  

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Waste Management

Service Standard
Cost of kerbside recyclables 
collection service
[Direct cost of the kerbside 
recyclables bin collection 
service / Number of kerbside 
recyclables collection bins]

$39.25 $42 The number of kerbside recyclables collection 
bins is 25,277.

Waste Diversion
Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and 
green organics collected 
from kerbside bins / Weight 
of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from 
kerbside bins] x100

29.89% 32.40% Diversion from landfill results are reflective of a 
kerbside service with no organic or green waste 
kerbside collection service. Council kerbside 
food and organic waste service is to be 
introduced in September 2017 and will increase 
diversion rates significantly.
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Strategic Objective 2: Sustainable Development and Growth

To achieve our objective of Sustainable Development and Growth we will continue to plan for the built 
environment that complements our landscape, lifestyle and climate.

Major Initiatives Progress
Complete preparation of the Wonthaggi North East Precinct Structure Plan 100%

Complete review of the Wonthaggi Dalyston Structure Plan 100%

Review the Asset Management Strategy and Policy 100%

Commence preparation of a Municipal Recreation Plan 100%

Complete review of the Road Management Plan 100%

Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Infrastructure
Management

This service is responsible for managing the infrastructure activities to 
deliver the sustainable development and growth strategic objective.

1021
1019

2
Asset Management This service plans for the preservation, protection and expansion of 

existing and future infrastructure assets for their maximum possible 
design life and minimum ongoing life-cycle cost, while responding to 
the community’s changing needs and expectations.  This service also 
provides advice to Planning Approvals and Strategic Planning on new 
developments across Bass Coast.

900
1134

(234)

Asset Management
Systems

This service protects the value of Council’s assets through
effective asset management systems and processes to deliver the best 
outcome for the community.

417
457
(40)

Geographic 
Information
Systems (GIS)

This service provides Geographic Information Systems for
Council including the management of software architecture and tools 
to enable strategic planning across the organisation.

365
349

16

Civil Construction 
and Design

This service undertakes design, tendering, contract management and 
supervision of various works within Council’s capital works program to 
ensure delivery to a quality standard, to scope, on time and on budget.

426
701

(275)

Building 
Maintenance

This service maintains Council buildings in accordance with the building 
asset management plan.

515
679

(164)
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Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Parks This service maintains open spaces including parks, gardens, reserves, 
foreshores and sporting ovals.

4055
4751

(696)
Plant This service provides plant and vehicle management services to the 

infrastructure maintenance department.
(248)

105
(353)

Roads This service maintains Council’s roads and road related infrastructure. 5392
5920
(528)

Sustainable 
Development
and Growth
Management

This service is responsible for managing the sustainable
development and growth activities to deliver the sustainable 
development and growth strategic objective.

671
772

(101)

Building Services This service is responsible for the assessment and determination 
of building applications, conducting building inspections, advising 
residents on building-related matters and implementing pool safety 
and essential safety audits.

169
136
33

Enforcement This service enforces the Bass Coast Planning Scheme including the 
management and investigation of complaints, liaison and negotiation 
to achieve positive outcomes after breaches have occurred and the 
legal activities associated with Planning Enforcement.

75
87

(12)

Statutory Planning This service provides assessment of planning permit applications 
against the various requirements of the Bass Coast Planning Scheme 
and the Planning and Environment Act to ensure that development 
across the Shire is appropriately planned and controlled.

496
915

(418)

Strategic Planning This service maintains the Bass Coast Planning Scheme by 
development and delivery of key Strategic Planning projects and 
policies and the assessment of planning scheme amendments. This 
service also plans for recreation facilities and services to meet the 
current and future needs of the community.

361
766

(405)



Our Performance

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  35  

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Statutory Planning
Timeliness
Time taken to decide planning 
applications
[The median number of days 
between receipt of a planning 
application and a decision on 
the application]

84 days 76 days Significant improvement this year is a result 
of recruitment and refinements to internal 
processes which have resulted in a reduction in 
time taken to make a decision by an average of 
8 days per application.

Service standard
Planning applications decided 
within required time frames
[(Number of regular planning 
application decisions made 
within 60 days) + (Number of 
VicSmart planning application 
decisions made within 10 
days) / Number of planning 
application decisions made] 
x100

67.01% 75% An increased focus on process improvement 
together with recruitment of two additional 
positions has resulted in a significant increase in 
the number of applications decided within the 
60 day statutory timeframe. 19 of 19 VicSmart 
applications received were processed within 
the required 10 day timeframe.

Service Cost
Cost of statutory planning 
service
[Direct cost of the statutory 
planning service / Number of 
planning applications received]

$1,995.52 $2,026.13 An increase in customer service staff together 
with recruitment of previously unfilled 
positions has resulted an increased cost this 
year and is also reflected in improved timelines 
for determination of applications.

Decision Making
Council planning decisions 
upheld at VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions 
that did not set aside council’s 
decision in relation to a 
planning application / Number 
of VCAT decisions in relation to 
planning applications] x100

85.71% 40% Two out of five VCAT decisions upheld the 
decision of Council.
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Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Roads

Satisfaction of Use
Sealed local road requests
[Number of sealed local road 
requests/Kilometres of sealed 
local roads ] x100

5.84 7.45 Council maintains 550 kilometres of sealed 
local roads. We received a total of 41 sealed 
local road requests in 2016/17 compared to 32 
requests in 2015/16.

Condition
Sealed local roads below the 
intervention level
[Number of kilometres of 
sealed local roads below the 
renewal intervention level set 
by Council / Kilometres of 
sealed local roads] x100

99.76% 99.82% Council has addressed the majority of roads 
outside of intervention based on the 2014 
network condition audit. There is now just 
970metres (.018%) outside of intervention levels 
from a sealed network totalling 550 kilometres. 
The next routine network condition audit 
will take place in late 2017 and inform future 
programs and reporting.

Service Cost
Cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction
[Direct cost of sealed local 
road reconstruction / Square 
metres of sealed local roads 
reconstructed]

$81.48 $33.53 Council’s pavement reconstruction costs are 
comparably lower than last year. This is due 
to this financial year’s projects predominantly 
being located in rural areas. Due to lower 
traffic volumes, rural road projects do not 
typically need to be constructed with as much 
material as urban projects so are less expensive. 
Lower costs are also realised as there are 
fewer adjustments required to surrounding 
infrastructure such as drainage, services, 
vehicle crossings and less traffic management is 
required.

Service Cost
Cost of sealed local road 
resealing
[Direct cost of sealed local 
road resealing / Square metres 
of sealed local roads resealed]

$4.96 $7.24 The square metre rate for reseals has increased 
this financial year as the preparation work has 
been included in the costs which it historically 
has not been included. Preparation works 
can include crack sealing, asphalt patching 
and other activities which are required to be 
undertaken before applying a reseal to prolong 
the life of the road.

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with sealed local 
roads
[Community satisfaction 
rating out of 100 with how 
council has performed on the 
condition of sealed local roads]

41 48 A seven point increase in satisfaction levels 
compared to 2015/16 is reflective of Council’s 
commitment to improve its road network. It is 
important to note that the survey results are 
also a reflection of the state controlled roads 
with the municipality.
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Strategic Objective 3: Healthy Communities

To achieve our objective of healthy communities we will continue to plan to ensure the community feels 
connected, safe and strong.

Major Initiatives Progress
Commence construction of the Bass Valley Children’s Centre 100%

Prepare a new Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 100%

Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Healthy 
Communities 
Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the 
healthy communities strategic objective.

708
720
(13)

Local Laws and 
Emergency 
Management

This service assists the organisation to ensure Council and the
municipality is in a state of preparedness to fulfil its
responsibilities in Emergency Management. The service also
implements Council’s responsibilities under legislation including
the Domestic Animals Act and Council’s Local Laws, to promote
community safety and promulgate harmonious community
relationships.

884
1017

(134)

Environmental 
Health

This service provides Environmental Health services such as
immunisation programs and monitoring compliance with health
regulations to the community and businesses to promote health
and wellbeing.

159
265

(106)

Aged Disability 
Services

This service provides a range of home and community care
services for the aged and disabled including home delivered
meals, personal care, and home maintenance.

620
1061
(441)

Community 
Strengthening

This service provides support services to enable our diverse
community to be strong and healthy, including senior citizens
support, maternal and child health, kindergartens and housing
support.

298
236
62

Social and 
Community Planning

This service has the responsibility to frame and respond to the
challenges of social inclusion that present to Council. This
service provides and gives support to community development,
community planning, community grants, youth and social
planning, rural access and Inter Council Aboriginal Consultative
Committee.

1093
1225
(132)
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Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Recreation and 
Culture

This service supports, encourages and develops leisure projects,
programs and services which will benefit the community and enhance 
the quality of life for those living and working in and visiting Bass Coast 
Shire.

535
569
(35)

Libraries This service provides library services that cater for the expectations 
and needs of residents.

2011
2007

4

Leisure Centres This service provides a range of recreational facilities including an
aquatic centre, fully equipped Gymnasiums, and an extensive
range of recreational programs and opportunities accessible to 
individuals of all ages, sexes and abilities.

784
772

12

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Libraries

Utilisation
Library collection usage
[Number of library collection 
item loans/Number of library 
collection items]

6.92 6.40 There were 44,379 items in the library 
collections with 284,041 loans made for the 
2016/17 year.

Resource Standard
Standard of library collection
[Number of library collection 
items purchased in the last 
5 years / Number of library 
collection items] x100

74.66% 74.91% Bass Coast libraries have continued to have a 
very high collection renewal rate with almost 
75% of the collection being renewed in the last 
five years.

Service Cost
Cost of library service
[Direct cost of the library 
service/Number of visits]

$5.83 $5.83 In 2016/17 there were 283,078 visits to Bass 
Coast Shire libraries.

Participation
Active library members
[Number of active library 
members / Municipal 
population] x100

32.58% 30.74% Bass Coast Shire libraries have a total of 10,242 
active library members.
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Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Aquatic Facilities
Service Standard
Health inspections of aquatic 
facilities
[Number of authorised officer 
inspections of Council aquatic 
facilities/Number of Council 
aquatic facilities]

2 2 Bass Coast Shire has one aquatic facility. 
Two inspections were completed ensuring 
appropriate water quality standards are 
maintained.

Health and Safety
Reportable safety incidents at 
aquatic facilities
[Number of WorkSafe 
reportable aquatic facility 
safety incidents]

1 0 No Worksafe reportable incidents occurred in 
the 2016/2017 year.

Service Cost
Cost of indoor aquatic facilities
[Direct cost of indoor aquatic 
facilities less income received/
Number of visits to indoor 
aquatic facilities]

$2.62 $2.36 During 2016/17 a total of 154,899 visits were 
made to the aquatic centre from an estimated 
population of 33,317.

Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities/Municipal population]

4.31 4.65 During 2016/17 a total of 154,899 visits were 
made to the aquatic centre from an estimated 
population of 33,317.

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Animal Management

Timeliness
Time taken to action animal 
management requests
[Number of days between 
receipt and first response 
action for all animal 
management requests/Number 
of animal management 
requests]

3.85 days 2.42 days Improvements have been made to processes 
which have resulted in a decrease in the time 
taken to respond to animal management 
requests.  Animal management request are 
triaged by Council staff and public risk requests 
such as stock at large, dog attack/dog rushes 
and dog and cat pickups are dealt with as soon 
as possible by Council staff. Other animal 
management requests considered a public risk 
will be dealt with when resources are available.
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Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Animal Management

Service Standard
Animals reclaimed
[Number of animals reclaimed/
Number of animals collected] 
x100

55.04% 50.09% Council promotes responsible pet ownership at 
every opportunity. All animals that come in to 
our pound are checked for registration tags and 
a microchip. We promote unidentifiable found 
animals through our website and through our 
Facebook page. Council works closely with 
the community in returning animals to their 
owners.

Service Cost
Cost of animal management 
service
[Direct cost of the animal 
management service/Number 
of registered animals]

$58.44 $43.46 Following a formal service review of the 
service, some changes have been made which 
have reduced costs.  Council continues to 
look for improvement opportunities in how 
we provide our animal management service.   
Council has been developing a new Domestic 
Animal Management Plan which will see the roll 
out of some new initiatives over coming years.

Health and Safety
Animal management 
prosecutions
[Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions]

5 6 This number is reflective of the successful 
Animal Management prosecutions during 
2016/17 (excluding unpaid fines).

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Food Safety

Timeliness
Time taken to action food 
complaints
[Number of days between receipt 
and first response action for all 
food complaints/Number of food 
complaints]

2.56 days 2.62 days In 2016/17 Council received 45 food 
complaints with a total number of 118 days 
between receipt and first response action 
for all food complaints.  Food related 
requests are prioritised for completion, 
with the majority actioned on the day they 
are reported to Council.

Service Standard
Food safety assessments
[Number of registered class 1 food 
premises and class 2 food premises 
that receive an annual food safety 
assessment in accordance with 
the Food Act 1984 / Number of 
registered class 1 food premises 
and class 2 food premises that 
require an annual food safety 
assessment in accordance with the 
Food Act 1984] x100

92.45% 98.51% In 2016/17 there were 331 out of 336 food 
premises assessments completed. This 
result is a significant improvement on the 
result of 92.45% reported for the 2015/16 
year.
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Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Food Safety

Service Cost
Cost of food safety service
[Direct cost of the food safety 
service / Number of food 
premises registered or notified 
in accordance with the Food 
Act 1984]

$346.29 $303 There has been an increase in the number of 
food premises from 458 in 2015/16 to 482 in 
2016/17 which have been managed with no 
increase in resources.

Health and Safety
Critical and major non-
compliance outcome 
notifications
[Number of critical non-
compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about 
a food premises followed 
up / Number of critical 
non-compliance outcome 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about 
a food premises] x100

92.26% 96.59% The result for 2016/17 is an improvement on 
the 92.26% reported for the previous year.

Reporting on Home and Community Care (HACC) Local Government Performance Reporting Framework 
Performance Indicators ceased on 1 July 2016 due to the introduction of the Commonwealth Government’s 
National Disability Insurance Scheme and Commonwealth Home Support Programme.
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Strategic Objective 4: Effective Governance

To achieve our objective of effective governance we will continue to plan for good governance, community 
engagement and excellence in service delivery. 

Major Initiatives Progress
Develop and adopt the Council Plan 2017-2021 100%

Conduct the 2016 Council Election 100%

Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Councillors and 
Chief
Executive

This area of governance includes the Mayor, Councillors, Chief 
Executive Officer and associated support.

597
590

8
Governance
Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the 
governance strategic objective.

794
1025
(231)

Mayor and 
Councillor Support

This service provides the Councillors with support to assist them in 
performing their role as a Councillor.  This includes administration 
assistance, such as diary management, ensuring Councillors have the 
resources they require, and being a contact point for the community 
wishing to connect with the Mayor and Councillors.

491
611

(120)

Accounting This service provides responsive and reliable accounting services and 
reporting to enable the organisation to make effective and timely 
decisions; ensures the organisation meets its financial legislative and 
statutory compliance obligations; and accurately accounts for and 
reports on the activities of Council.

1087
796
290

Procurement and 
Fleet

This service provides contract management support services, 
coordinates the tender process, prepares tender and quote 
documentation; monitors officer obligations under the Competition 
and Consumer Act and monitors spending with suppliers to ensure 
legislative compliance; maintains and administers procurement 
systems; and provides fleet management services (including services 
for plant management).

234
200

34

Revenue This service is responsible for raising and collecting ratepayer revenue 
and special charges; maintaining property data including street 
and property addressing; providing valuation services, including 
revaluation of all properties in the municipality every two years and 
supplementary valuations as required.

170
(5)
174
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Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Communications 
and
Engagement

This service informs staff and community on key Council issues; provides 
professional advice on consultation and engagement within Council; 
and assists and educates Council staff on effective and professional 
communication with the community and stakeholders in order to raise the 
profile of Council and protect Council’s image.

408
608

(199)

Corporate 
Planning,
Performance and
Reporting

This services provides an oversight to Council’s Corporate
Planning and Business Planning and improvement processes that integrate 
with risk management and insurance; ensures Council has the appropriate 
process, authorisations and delegations in order to make transparent and 
accountable decisions; provides support and compliance to Committees 
of Management and the Wonthaggi and San Remo Cemetery Trusts; 
manages Council’s property portfolio including Crown Land where Council 
is the appointed Committee of Management; and oversees Council’s
Service Review Program.

1334
1747
(413)

Customer Service 
and
Facility 
Management

This service provides frontline customer service to our
customers and ratepayers to provide services and to enable contact 
with Council staff about services provided by Council. This service also 
provides a coordinated approach for the Wonthaggi Civic Centre for the 
amenity of staff and the community.

1,350
1432
(82)

Corporate 
Information

This service assists the organisation to ensure records are
captured efficiently and accurately; provides usable data and
statistical support for organisation decision making; accurately digitises 
physical records into a compliant electronic format; and conducts 
staff training and inductions in Information Management Awareness, 
Information Privacy, Freedom of Information and
Confidentiality.

509
668

(159)

Information 
Technology

This service provides, supports and maintains reliable and cost effective 
communications and computing systems, facilities and infrastructure to 
Council staff enabling them to deliver services in a smart, productive and 
efficient way.

1978
2329
(351)

Human Resources This service delivers workforce planning and recruitment,
employee relations, human resources information and reporting, and 
payment of salaries and wages to Council employees.

570
702
(131)
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Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Organisation
Development

This service provides leadership, advice, programs and support to the 
whole organisation in the areas of OHS, WorkCover, health and wellbeing, 
payroll, leadership and organisation culture, and learning and development.

1348
1286

62

Core System 
Project

1350
-

1350

Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Governance

Transparency
Council decisions made at 
meetings closed to the public
[Number of Council resolutions 
made at ordinary or special 
meetings of Council, or 
at meetings of a special 
committee consisting only 
of Councillors, closed to the 
public / Number of Council 
resolutions made at ordinary 
or special meetings of Council 
or at meetings of a special 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors ] x100

6.16% 3.43% At 2016/17 Council meetings there were 8 
of 233 decisions made closed to the public 
compared to 17 of 276 decisions in 2015/16.

Consultation and Engagement
Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement
[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how Council 
has performed on community 
consultation and engagement]

45 51 A six point increase in satisfaction levels 
compared to 2015/16 is indicative of the 
implementation of Council’s Communications 
and Engagement Strategy which is focussed 
on improved engagement with the community 
and explaining the reasons behind Council 
decisions.
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Performance Indicators Result
2015/16

Result
2016/17

Material Variations and Comments

Governance

Attendance
Councillor attendance at 
council meetings
[The sum of the number of 
Councillors who attended each 
ordinary and special Council 
meeting / (Number of ordinary 
and special Council meetings) × 
(Number of Councillors elected 
at the last Council general 
election)] x100

95.24% 97.79% Bass Coast Shire Councillors’ commitment to 
actively serve the community is reflected in a 
97.79% attendance rate at 11 ordinary Council 
meetings and 5 special Council meetings held 
in 2016/17.

Service Cost
Cost of governance
[Direct cost of the governance 
service/Number of Councillors 
elected at the last Council 
general election]

$47,038.32 $47,367.97 This figure is indicative of the cost to provide 
support to elected Councillors to allow them 
to perform their role. Such costs include 
allowances, IT equipment, professional 
development, Mayor vehicle/fuel, meals and 
child care. This does not include staff support 
costs, civic events or capital purchases. In 
October 2016 Bass Coast Shire was subject to 
an electoral review resulting in an increase from 
seven to nine Councillors.  Local Government 
elections were held in October 2016.

Satisfaction
Satisfaction with council 
decisions
[Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with how council 
has performed in making 
decisions in the interest of the 
community]

41 47 Council has adopted a Communications and 
Engagement Strategy with a strong focus on 
improved engagement with the community 
and explaining the reasons behind Council 
decisions.
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Strategic Objective 5: Economic Development

To achieve our objective of economic development we will supported our diverse economy, local and 
innovative businesses and employment.

Major Initiatives Progress
Implement Year One of the Economic Development Strategy 100%

Complete the Phillip Island and San Remo Tourism Strategy 2035 100%

Secure funding and undertake detailed design for the Cowes Revitalisation Project 100%

Service Description Net Cost
Actual

Budget
Variance

$000

Economic 
Development 
Management

This service is responsible for managing the activities to deliver the 
economic development strategic objective.

195
178
17

Economic 
Development

This service supports local business operators to build their skills and 
run more efficient business operations leading to increased investment 
and employment opportunities.

168
267

( 99)

Events This service is responsible for coordinating Council involvement in 
event activities in the Shire.

529
527

2

Tourism This service assist with tourism development for the region, provides 
visitor services through the operation of Visitor Information Centres 
and provides management of the Inverloch Community Hub.

1003
949

55
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Performance Statement
Description of municipality 
Bass Coast Shire Council is a local government authority incorporated under the Local Government Act 
1989 (Vic). It is located about 130km south east of Melbourne and is bounded by Western Port in the 
north and west, Cardinia Shire in the north east, South Gippsland Shire in the east and Bass Strait in the 
south. 
Bass Coast’s main centres are Wonthaggi, Cowes (Phillip Island), Inverloch, San Remo and Grantville. In 
addition, the Shire comprises a further 28 towns. 
Bass Coast is home to over 30,000 permanent residents. However, its proximity to Melbourne makes it 
also very attractive to visitors and to people wanting to make a sea change. During peak periods, our 
population swells to over 80,000. The Shire boasts many beautiful beaches, unique nature reserves and 
many major events that attract more than 3.5 million visitors each year, such as the Australian Motorcycle 
Grand Prix at the Phillip Island Circuit.
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Indicator/measure Results
2015

Results 
2016

Results 
2017

Material Variations

Population

Expenses per head of municipal 
population
[Total expenses/Municipal population]

$2,133.26 $2,223.99 $2,156.74 The population has increased on the 
prior year which has resulted in a 
lower average cost per head.

Infrastructure per head of municipal 
population
[Value of infrastructure/Municipal 
population]

$13,994.15 $13,736.93 $13,531.68 The population has increased on the 
prior year which has resulted in a 
lower average value of infrastructure 
per head.

Population density per length of road
[Municipal population/Kilometres of 
local roads]

33.68 34.52 35.82 The population has increased on the 
prior year which has resulted in a 
higher density per length of road.

Own-source revenue

Own-source revenue per head of 
municipal population
[Own-source revenue/Municipal 
population]

$1,700.63 $1,800.77 $1,823.33 The change is a result of additional 
fees and charges collected arising 
from increased activity in the shire.

Recurrent grants
Recurrent grants per head of municipal 
population
[Recurrent grants/Municipal population]

$357.21 $240.13 $406.76 Half of the annual Commonwealth 
Grants Commission funding for the 
2017-18 period was received early.

Disadvantage

Relative socio-economic disadvantage
[Index of Relative Socio-economic 
Disadvantage by decile]

4.00 4.00

Sustainable Capacity Indicators
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Definitions
“adjusted underlying revenue” means total income other than:
 (a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 
 (b) non-monetary asset contributions; and 
 (c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above

“infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land

“local road” means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under 
the Road Management Act 2004

“population” means the resident population estimated by council

“own-source revenue” means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of 
council (including government grants)

“relative socio-economic disadvantage”, in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic 
disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant financial year, of the area in which the municipality is 
located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 2033.0.55.001) of 
SEIFA

“SEIFA” means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of 
Statistics on its Internet website
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Service/indicator/measure Results
2015

Results 
2016

Results 
2017

Material Variations

Aquatic facilities

Utilisation
Utilisation of aquatic facilities
[Number of visits to aquatic facilities/Municipal 
population]

2.20 4.31 4.65 During 2016/17 a total of 154,899 
visits were made to the aquatic 
centre from an estimated 
population of 33,317

Animal management
Health and safety
Animal management prosecutions
[Number of successful animal management 
prosecutions]

16 5 6 This number is reflective of the 
successful Animal Management 
prosecutions during 2016/17 (ex-
cluding unpaid fines).

Food safety

Health and safety
Critical and major non-compliance notifications
[Number of critical non-compliance notifications 
and major non-compliance notifications about 
a food premises followed up/Number of critical 
non-compliance notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about food premises] 
x100

87% 92.26% 96.59% A small number of non-
compliances were followed up 
outside the reporting period. 
The result for 2016/17 is an 
improvement on the 92.26% 
reported for the previous year.

Governance
Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with council decisions
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 
how council has performed in making decisions 
in the interest of the community] 

44 41 47 Council has adopted a 
Communications and Engagement 
Strategy with a strong focus 
on better engaging with the 
community and explaining the 
reasons behind Council decisions.

Service Performance Indicators
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Service/indicator/measure Results
2015

Results 
2016

Results 
2017

Material Variations

Home and Community Care (HACC)

Participation
Participation in HACC service
[Number of people that received a HACC 
service/Municipal target population for HACC 
services] x100

46% 45.38% n/a Reporting on HACC 
ceased on 1 July 2016 due 
to the introduction of the 
Commonwealth Government’s 
NDIS and CHSP programs

Participation
Participation in HACC service by CALD people
[Number of CALD people who receive a HACC 
service/Municipal target population in relation 
to CALD people for HACC services] x100

42% 39.95% n/a Reporting on HACC 
ceased on 1 July 2016 due 
to the introduction of the 
Commonwealth Government’s 
NDIS and CHSP programs

Libraries

Participation 
Active library members
[Number of active library members/Municipal 
population] x100

35% 32.58% 30.74% Bass Coast Shire libraries have 
a total of 10,242 active library 
members.

Maternal and child health

Participation
Participation in the MCH service
[Number of children who attend the MCH 
service at least once (in the year)/Number of 
children enrolled in the MCH service] x100

0% 0% 0% Council does not have 
operational control of MCH 
service.

Participation
Participation in the MCH service by Aboriginal 
children
[Number of Aboriginal children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the year) / Number 
of Aboriginal children enrolled in the MCH 
service] x100

0% 0% 0% Council does not have 
operational control of MCH 
service.
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Service/indicator/measure Results
2015

Results 
2016

Results 
2017

Material Variations

Roads

Satisfaction 
Satisfaction with sealed local roads
[Community satisfaction rating out of 100 
with how council has performed on the 
condition of sealed local roads]

36 41 48 A seven point increase in 
satisfaction levels compared to 
2015/16 is reflective of Council’s 
commitment to improve its 
road network. It is important 
to note that the survey results 
are also a reflection of the 
state controlled roads with the 
municipality.

Statutory Planning

Council planning decisions upheld at VCAT
[Number of VCAT decisions that did not 
set aside council’s decision in relation to a 
planning application / Number of VCAT 
decisions in relation to planning applications] 
x100

83% 85.71% 40% Two out of five VCAT decisions 
upheld the decision of Council.

Waste Collection
Waste diversion
Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill
[Weight of recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins/Weight of 
garbage, recyclables and green organics 
collected from kerbside bins] x100

28% 29.89% 32.40% Diversion from landfill results 
are reflective of a kerbside 
service with no organic or 
green waste kerbside collection 
service. Council kerbside food 
and organic waste service is to 
be introduced in September 
2017 and will increase diversion 
rates significantly.
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Definitions
“Aboriginal child” means a child who is an Aboriginal person 

“Aboriginal person” has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006  

“active library member” means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library 

“annual report” means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act

“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country 
whose national language is not English

“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been 
declared as class 1 food premises under section 19C of that Act 

“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been 
declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C of that Act 

“Community Care Common Standards” means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of 
HACC services, published from time to time by the Commonwealth

“critical non-compliance outcome notification” means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) 
or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency 
that poses an immediate serious threat to public health 

“food premises” has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984  

“HACC program” means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered 
into for the purpose of the Home and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth 

“HACC service” means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program 

“local road” means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under 
the Road Management Act 2004

“major non-compliance outcome notification” means a notification received by a council under section 
19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a 
deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial 
action is taken 

“MCH” means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and 
development of children within the municipality from birth until school age

“population” means the resident population estimated by council 

“target population” has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home 
and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth 

“WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident” means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility 
that is required to be notified to the Victorian WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act 2004. 
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Results
Forecasts

D
im

ension/indicator/m
easure

2015
2016

2017
2018

2019
2020

2021
M

aterial Variations

Efficiency
Revenue level 
A

verage residential rate per residential property 
assessm

ent
[Residential rate revenue/N

um
ber of residential 

property assessm
ents]

$1,586.69
$1,601.84

$1,601.31
$1,640.01

$1,683.79
$1,729.69

$1,790.93

Expenditure level
Expenses per property assessm

ent
[Total expenses/N

um
ber of property assessm

ents] 

$2,305.38
$2,394.66

$2,375.01
$2,345.63

$2,538.83
$2,499.94

$2,467.38
O

ngoing focus on efficiencies 
have resulted in a reduction.

W
orkforce turnover 

Resignations and term
inations com

pared to average staff
[N

um
ber of perm

anent staff resignations and 
term

inations / A
verage num

ber of perm
anent staff for 

the financial year] x100

10.10%
12.71%

6.49%
6.98%

6.98%
6.98%

6.98%
C

ouncil has seen a significant 
reduction in staff turnover due 
to departm

ental service review
s, 

cultural developm
ent and 

investing in our w
orkforce.

Liquidity

W
orking capital 

C
urrent assets com

pared to current liabilities
[C

urrent assets/C
urrent liabilities] x100

196.82%
232.51%

279.37%
140.01%

151.13%
152.28%

170.15%
D

ue to early receipt of grants, 
additional revenue from

 fees 
and charges coupled w

ith low
er 

operating expenses, C
ouncil has 

a higher cash balance at year end 
w

hich has increased this indicator.
U

nrestricted cash

U
nrestricted cash com

pared to current liabilities
[U

nrestricted cash / C
urrent liabilities] x100

94.64%
108.84%

176.71%
65.40%

64.48%
66.11%

71.84%
D

ue to early receipt of grants, 
additional revenue from

 fees 
and charges coupled w

ith low
er 

operating expenses, C
ouncil has 

a higher cash balance at year end 
w

hich has increased this indicator.

Financial Perform
ance Indicators
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O
ur Perform

anceResults
Forecasts

D
im

ension/indicator/m
easure

2015
2016

2017
2018

2019
2020

2021
M

aterial Variations

O
bligations

A
sset renew

al 
A

sset renew
al com

pared to 
depreciation
[A

sset renew
al expenses/A

sset 
depreciation] x100

41.24%
54.43%

56.38%
83.36%

88.99%
93.44%

91.15%
There is a steady program

 of increasing C
ouncil’s 

allocation tow
ards renew

al of existing assets and 
this result continues that trend.

Loans and borrow
ings 

Loans and borrow
ings com

pared to 
rates
[Interest bearing loans and 
borrow

ings/Rate revenue] x100

28.01%
25.05%

26.68%
30.57%

19.31%
16.61%

13.96%
In 2017-2018 borrow

ings are being used to support 
the construction of a new

 landfill cell at G
rantville, 

construction of the C
ow

es Transit H
ub and 

construction w
orks at the C

ow
es C

ultural C
entre.  

Existing borrow
ings w

ill be paid dow
n over the 

forecast years 2019-2021.  

Loans and borrow
ings 

Loans and borrow
ings repaym

ents 
com

pared to rates
[Interest and principal repaym

ents on 
interest bearing loans and borrow

ings 
/ Rate revenue] x100

3.61%
7.37%

3.46%
3.58%

12.92%
2.98%

2.64%
The 2016-2017 result reflects a m

ore norm
al 

pattern of loan repaym
ents, w

hilst the forecast 
year for 2019 includes the repaym

ent of a local 
governm

ent bond.

Indebtedness 
N

on-current liabilities com
pared to 

ow
n source revenue

[N
on-current liabilities/O

w
n source 

revenue] x100

26.52%
26.94%

27.04%
22.63%

21.42%
19.36%

18.09%

O
perating Position

A
djusted underlying result

A
djusted underlying surplus (or deficit)

[A
djusted underlying surplus (deficit)/

A
djusted underlying revenue] x100

-3.02%
-8.06%

3.76%
2.03%

2.67%
0.89%

2.71%
The underlying result for 2016-2017 w

as favourably 
im

pacted by the early paym
ent to C

ouncil of half 
of the annual C

om
m

onw
ealth G

rants C
om

m
ission 

funding.
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O
ur Perform

ance
Results

Forecasts
D

im
ension/indicator/m

easure
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
2021

M
aterial Variations

Stability
Rates concentration 
Rates com

pared to adjusted underlying revenue
[Rate revenue/A

djusted underlying revenue] 
x100

70.44%
76.19%

70.01%
74.51%

70.27%
74.70%

76.94%
Reduced reliance on rates due to an increase 
in revenue from

 fees and charges, and grants 
received early.

Rates effort 
Rates com

pared to property values
[Rate revenue/C

apital im
proved value of 

rateable properties in the m
unicipality] x100

0.42%
0.44%

0.45%
0.47%

0.48%
0.49%

0.51%

D
efinitions

“adjusted underlying revenue” m
eans total incom

e other than:
 (a) non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 
 (b) non-m

onetary asset contributions; and 
 (c) contributions to fund capital expenditure from

 sources other than those 
referred to above
“adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)” m

eans adjusted underlying revenue less 
total expenditure
“asset renew

al expenditure” m
eans expenditure on an existing asset or on 

replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to its 
original capability
“current assets” has the sam

e m
eaning as in the A

ustralian A
ccounting Standards 

(A
A

S)
“current liabilities” has the sam

e m
eaning as in the A

A
S

“non-current assets” m
eans all assets other than current assets

“non-current liabilities” m
eans all liabilities other than current liabilities

“non-recurrent grant” m
eans a grant obtained on the condition that it be 

expended in a specified m
anner and is not expected to be received again during 

the period covered by a council’s Strategic Resource Plan
“ow

n-source revenue” m
eans adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue 

that is not under the control of council (including governm
ent grants)

“population” m
eans the resident population estim

ated by council
“rate revenue” m

eans revenue from
 general rates, m

unicipal charges, service rates 
and service charges
“recurrent grant” m

eans a grant other than a non-recurrent grant
“residential rates” m

eans revenue from
 general rates, m

unicipal charges, service 
rates and service charges levied on residential properties
“restricted cash” m

eans cash and cash equivalents, w
ithin the m

eaning of the 
A

A
S, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for w

hich it is 
restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital w

orks expenditure from
 

the previous financial year
“unrestricted cash” m

eans all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash.
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Basis of preparation

Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual report. The performance 
statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable capacity, service performance and financial 
performance indicators and measures together with a description of the municipal district and an explanation 
of material variations in the results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on accounting bases 
consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other results are based on information drawn 
from Council information systems or from third parties (eg Australian Bureau of Statistics).

The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the prescribed financial 
performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the council’s strategic resource plan. The Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the 
results contained in the performance statement. Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to 
each indicator and measure and explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality 
thresholds unless the variance is considered to be material because of its nature.

The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by Council in its Strategic 
Resource Plan on 21 June 2017 and which forms part of the Council Plan. The Strategic Resource Plan includes 
estimates based on key assumptions about the future that were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed 
at achieving sustainability over the long term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained 
in the General Purpose Financial Statements. The Strategic Resource Plan can be obtained by contacting 
Council. 

Other Information
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In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 
1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Brett Exelby CPA
Principal Accounting Officer
Dated: 27 September 2017

In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of Bass Coast Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2017 
presents fairly the results of Council’s performance in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results in relation to service 
performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars in the performance 
statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

We have been authorised by Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify this 
performance statement in its final form.

Cr Pamela Rothfield
Mayor
Dated: 27 September 2017

Cr Brett Tessari
Deputy Mayor
Dated: 27 September 2017

Paul Buckley PSM
Chief Executive Officer
Dated: 27 September 2017

Certification of the Performance Statement
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Bass Coast Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Bass Coast Shire 
Council (the council) which comprises the:  

 description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 other information and 
 the certification of the performance statement. 

In my opinion, the performance statement of Bass Coast Shire Council in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2017 presents fairly, in all material respects, 
in accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989. 

Basis for Opinion I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which 
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. My 
responsibilities under the Act are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the performance statement section of my 
report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff 
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of 
the performance statement in Australia and have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Councillors' 
responsibilities for the 
performance 
statement  

The Councillors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and for such internal control 
as the Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the statement of performance that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the 
audit of the 
performance 
statement 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance 
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial 
report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of performance 
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
statement of performance, including the disclosures, and whether the 
statement of performance represents the underlying events and results 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
28 September 2017 

Tim Loughnan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Governance
Bass Coast Shire Council is constituted under the 
Local Government Act 1989 to provide leadership 
for the good governance of the municipal district 
and the local community. Council has a number of 
roles including:
• taking into account the diverse needs of the local 

community in decision-making
• providing leadership by establishing strategic 

objectives and monitoring achievements
• ensuring that resources are managed in a 

responsible and accountable manner
• advocating the interests of the local community 

to other communities and governments
• fostering community cohesion and encouraging 

active participation in civic life
Council is committed to effective and sustainable 
forms of democratic and corporate governance 
as the key to ensuring that Council and its 
administration meet the community’s priorities. The 
community has many opportunities to provide input 
into Council’s decision-making processes including 
community consultation, public forums such as ward 
meetings and the ability to make submissions to 
Special Committees of Council.
Council’s formal decision-making processes are 
conducted through Council Ordinary meetings and 
Special Committees of Council. Council delegates 
the majority of its decision-making to Council staff. 
These delegations are exercised in accordance with 
adopted Council policies.

Meetings of Council
Council conducts open public meetings on the third 
Wednesday of each month, with some exceptions 
made and no meeting held in January.
Members of the community are welcome to attend 
these meetings and observe from the gallery. 
Council meetings also provide the opportunity 
for community members to submit a question to 
Council.

For the 2016/17 year Council held the following 
meetings:
• 11 Ordinary Council meetings
• 5 Special Council meetings
The following table provides a summary of 
Councillors’ attendance at Council Ordinary 
meetings and Special Council meetings for the 

2016/17 financial year.

July 2016 – October 2016

Councillors
Council 
Meeting

Special 
Council 
Meeting Total

Cr Jordan Crugnale 
(Mayor, July 16 - Oct 16)

4 0 4

Cr Bradley Drew  
(Deputy Mayor, July 16 - 
Oct 16)

4 0 4

Cr Kimberley Brown 4 0 4
Cr Clare Le Serve 4 0 4
Cr Andrew Phillips 3 0 3
Cr Neil Rankine 4 0 4
Cr Phil Wright 4 0 4

November 2016 – June 2017

Councillors
Council 
Meeting

Special 
Council 
Meeting Total

Cr Pamela Rothfield 
(Mayor Nov 16 – Jul 17)

7 5 12

Cr Brett Tessari
(Deputy Mayor, Nov 16 
– Jul 17)

7 5 12

Cr Julian Brown 7 5 12
Cr Les Larke 6 5 11
Cr Stephen 
Fullarton

7 5 12

Cr Michael Whelan 7 5 12
Cr Clare Le Serve 7 4 11
Cr Geoff Ellis 7 5 12
Cr Bruce Kent 7 5 12
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Special Committees
Council has a variety of working groups, advisory 
and planning committees that Councillors are 
delegated to.
Special committees have also been established 
under Section 86 of the Local Government Act 
1989.
Council adopted the Appointment of Section 86 
Special Committees Policy at the Ordinary meeting 
of 15 August 2012.
The objectives of the Policy are to:
• provide Council with a clear framework for 

appointing Committees
• ensure that Special Committees are appointed 

only when necessary and with clear roles and 
responsibilities

The following list contains the names of committees 
that Councillors are delegated to as well as the 
special committees established by Council: 
• Access and Inclusion Advisory Committee
• Audit Committee
• Bass Coast Community Road Safety Committee
• Bass Coast Events Advisory Committee
• Bass Coast Municipal Emergency Management 

Planning Committee
• Bass Coast Municipal Fire Management 

Committee
• Bass Coast Place Names Committee
• Bass Coast War Memorial Custodial Committee
• Cape Paterson Hall Committee of Management
• Cape Paterson Sports Facility Committee of 

Management
• Car Ferry Project Steering Committee
• Corinella Community Hall Committee of 

Management
• Coronet Bay Reserves Committee of Management
• Dalyston Hall Committee of Management
• Dalyston Recreation Reserve Committee of 

Management
• Glen Alvie Recreation Reserve Committee of 

Management
• Glen Forbes Community Recreation Reserve 

Committee of Management
• Kernot Hall and Reserve Committee of 

Management

• Krowera Hall Committee of Management
• Newhaven Hall Committee of Management
• Phillip Island Aquatics Working Group
• Phillip Island New Year’s Eve Working Group
• Pioneer Bay Reserve Committee of Management
• Pound Creek Recreation Reserve Committee of 

Management
• Public Art Reference Committee
• Rhyll Hall and Reserve Committee of Management
• Rural Engagement Group
• Surf Beach Community Park Committee of 

Management
• The Chief Executive Officer Employment Matters 

Committee

Councillor Code of Conduct
The Local Government Act 1989 requires councils to 
develop and approve a Councillor Code of Conduct 
within 12 months after each general election. On 
22 June 2016, Council adopted a revised Councillor 
Code of Conduct which is designed to:
• assist Councillors to maintain the highest 

standards of conduct and behaviour as well as 
provide a means to deal with problems they may 
encounter

• attract the highest level of confidence from 
Council’s stakeholders

• assist the Mayor and Councillors to discharge the 
responsibilities of their public office appropriately

In addition to setting out the Councillor Conduct 
Principles, the Code also outlines:
• other conduct definitions under the Act, such 

as those relating to misuse of position, improper 
direction, breach of confidentiality and conflict of 
interest

• roles and relationships

• dispute resolution procedures



Governance, Management and  
Other Information

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  64  

Conflict of Interest
Councillors are elected by the residents and 
ratepayers to act in the best interests of the 
community. This is a position of trust that requires 
Councillors to act in the public interest. When a 
Council delegates its powers to a Council officer or 
a committee, the committee or officer also needs to 
act in the public interest.
A conflict of interest occurs when a personal or 
private interest might compromise the ability to act 
in the public interest. A conflict of interest exists 
even if no improper act results from it. Council has a 
comprehensive procedure in place to accommodate 
the disclosure of a conflict of interest.
Declaration of a conflict of interest is a standard 
agenda item for all Council and Committee 
meetings.
While the procedures vary depending on the 
particular role and circumstances, in general they 
involve disclosing the relevant interests in a specific 
way and then stepping aside from the relevant 
decision-making process or from the exercise of the 
public duty. A register is maintained to record all 
disclosed conflicts of interests.

Councillor Allowances
In accordance with Section 74 of the Local 
Government Act 1989, Councillors are entitled to 
receive an allowance while performing their duty as 
a Councillor. The Mayor is also entitled to receive a 
higher allowance.
The State Government sets the upper and lower 
limits for all allowances paid to Councillors and 
Mayors. Councils are divided into three categories 
based on the income and population of each 
Council. In this instance Bass Coast Shire Council is 
recognised as a category two Council.
For the period 1 July 2015 to 31 November 2015, the 
Councillor annual allowance for a category 2 Council 
(as defined by the Local Government Act 1989) was 
fixed at $23,539 per annum and the allowance for 
the Mayor was $72,834 per annum. On 23 November 

2015, the Minister for Local Government announced 
annual adjustment of 2.5 per cent to take effect 
as from 1 December 2015. The annual allowances 
were adjusted for the period 1 December 2015 to 30 
June 2016 at $24,127 per annum for the Councillor 
allowance and $74,655 per annum for the Mayoral 
allowance. 
The following table contains a summary of the 
allowances paid to each Councillor during the 
2016/17 year:

July 2016 – October 2016

Councillors Allowance
Cr Jordan Crugnale  
(Mayor, July 16 - Oct 16)

$19,789.58

Cr Bradley Drew
(Deputy Mayor, July 16 - Oct 16)

$6,665.41

Cr Kimberley Brown $6,717.23
Cr Clare Le Serve $6,308.64
Cr Andrew Phillips $6,665.41
Cr Neil Rankine $4,619.29
Cr Phil Wright $6,665.41

November 2016 – June 2017

Councillors Allowance
Cr Pamela Rothfield  
(Mayor Nov 16 – Jul 17)

$49,059.65

Cr Brett Tessari
(Deputy Mayor, Nov 16 – Jul 17)

$16,490.19

Cr Julian Brown $16,490.19
Cr Les Larke $16,490.19
Cr Stephen Fullarton $16,490.19
Cr Michael Whelan $16,490.19
Cr Clare Le Serve $16,490.19
Cr Geoff Ellis $16,490.19
Cr Bruce Kent $16,490.19
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Councillor Expenses
In accordance with Section 75 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council is required to reimburse a 
Councillor for expenses incurred whilst performing his or her duties as a Councillor. Council is also required to 
adopt and maintain a policy in relation to the reimbursement of expenses for Councillors. The policy provides 
guidance for the payment of reimbursements of expenses and the provision of resources, facilities and other 
support to the Mayor and Councillors to enable them to discharge their duties. Council also publishes in its 
Annual Report the details of the expenses, including reimbursement of expenses for each Councillor and 
member of a Council Committee paid by Council. 
The details of the expenses for the 2016/17 year are set out in the following table:

July 2016 – October 2016

Councillor
 

Travel 
$

 
Child Care 

$

Information and  
Communication

$

Conferences 
and Training

$

 
Total 

$
Cr Jordan Crugnale  
(Mayor, July 16 - Oct 16)

$0 $0 $220 $0 $220

Cr Bradley Drew
(Deputy Mayor, July 16 - Oct 16)

$3,522.60 $0 $220 $0 $3,742.60

Cr Kimberley Brown $338.30 $0 $100 $0 $438.30
Cr Clare Le Serve $1,914.11 $0 $220 $0 $2134.11
Cr Andrew Phillips $1,602.82 $0 $220 $0 $1,822.82
Cr Neil Rankine $3,930.38 $0 $220 $0 $4,150.38
Cr Phil Wright $2,290.06 $0 $100 $0 $2,390.06

November 2016 – June 2017

Councillor
 

Travel 
$

 
Child Care 

$

Information and  
Communication

$

Conferences 
and Training

$

 
Total 

$
Cr Pamela Rothfield  
(Mayor Nov 16 - Jul 16)

$0 $0 $0 $862.76 $862.76

Cr Brett Tessari  
(Deputy Mayor Nov 16 – Jul 17)

$2003.70 $0 $0 $371.50 $2375.20

Cr Julian Brown $1647.33 $0 $0 $0 $1647.33
Cr Les Larke $2543.99 $0 $0 $0 $2543.99
Cr Stephen Fullarton $3153.55 $0 $0 $0 $3153.55
Cr Michael Whelan $4060.34 $0 $0 $113.70 $4174.04
Cr Clare Le Serve $4011.10 $0 $0 $0 $4011.10
Cr Geoff Ellis $1913.52 $0 $0 $0 $1913.52
Cr Bruce Kent $3343.79 $0 $0 $0 $3343.79
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Management
Council has implemented a number of statutory and 
better practice items to strengthen its management 
framework. Having strong governance and 
management frameworks lead to better decision 
making by Council. The Act requires Council to 
undertake an assessment against the prescribed 
governance and management checklist and include 
this in its report of operations. Council’s Governance 
and Management Checklist results are set out 
in the section below. The following items have 
been highlighted as important components of the 
management framework.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s role is to oversee and 
monitor the effectiveness of Council in carrying 
out its responsibilities for accountable financial 
management, good corporate governance, 
maintaining an effective system of internal control 
and risk management and fostering an ethical 
environment. The Audit Committee consists of 
three independent members, Mr David Schultz 
(Chair), Mr Vincent Philpott and Mr Tim Large, and 
three Councillors. 
Independent members are appointed for a three 
year term, with a maximum of two terms. 
The chair is elected by Council. Mr David Schultz’s 
term finished and a new independent member has 
been appointed, Mr Homi Burjoree.
The Audit Committee meets five times a year. The 
Internal Auditor, External Auditor, Executive Team 
and relevant Managers attend all Audit Committee 
meetings. Other officers attend as required to 
present reports.
Recommendations from each Audit Committee 
meeting are subsequently reported to and 
considered by Council.

Internal Audit
Council’s internal audit function provides 
independent and objective assurance that the 
appropriate processes and controls are in place 
across Council. The department is jointly resourced 
by an in-house Internal Auditor who has extensive 
local government experience and an external 
provider. A risk based three-year Strategic Internal 
Audit Plan (SIAP) is revised annually to ensure the 
audit resources remain focused on the appropriate 
areas. The review process considers Council’s risk 
framework, the Council Plan, the impact of any 
change on operations, systems or the business 
environment; prior audit coverage and outcomes 
and management input. The SIAP is reviewed and 
approved by the Audit Committee annually.
The Internal Auditor attends each Audit Committee 
meeting to report on the status of the SIAP to 
provide an update on the implementation of 
audit recommendations and to present findings 
of completed reviews. The responsible General 
Manager and Manager for each area reviewed 
are required to attend the Audit Committee 
meeting to respond to questions in relation to 
the review. All audit issues identified are risk rated. 
Recommendations are assigned to the responsible 
Manager and tracked in Council’s performance 
management system.
Managers provide quarterly status updates that 
are reviewed by the Internal Auditor and reported 
to the Executive Team and the Audit Committee. 
Quality assurance is measured through client 
satisfaction surveys for each review, the annual Audit 
Committee self-assessment, completion of the 
internal audit plan and benchmarking against other 
internal audit functions.
The SIAP for 2016-17 was completed with the 
following reviews conducted:

• Risk Management
• Human Resources
• Review of Local Government Performance 

Reporting Framework
• Data Interrogation of Financial Systems
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External Audit
Council is externally audited by the Victorian 
Auditor-General. For the 2016/17 year the annual 
external audit of Council’s Financial Statements 
and Performance Statement was conducted by 
the Victorian Auditor-General’s representative. The 
external auditors attend Audit Committee meetings 
during the year to present the annual audit plan 
and Independent Audit Report. The external audit 
management letter and responses are also provided 
to the Audit Committee.

Risk Management  
In April 2015, Council adopted the Risk Management 
Framework and Policy in line with current best 
practice in the management of business enterprise 
risks and current AS/NZS 31000 guidelines. The Risk 
Management Framework and Policy addresses items 
such as:
• risk management culture and branding
• communication and  training
• best practice in risk management
• responsibilities of and to internal and external 

stakeholders
• risk registers and risk management software 

development
• the Council planning cycle, budget cycle and 

annual audit cycle
• a performance measurement system to 

determine the effectiveness of the framework
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Governance and Management Checklist
The following are the results in the prescribed form of Council’s assessment against the prescribed 
governance and management checklist.

Governance and Management Items Assessment
1 Community engagement policy (policy outlining 

Council’s commitment to engaging with the 
community on matters of public interest)

Communication and Engagement Policy adopted 
September 2015

2 Community engagement guidelines (guidelines to 
assist staff to determine when and how to engage 
with the community)

Communication and Engagement Strategy adopted 
September 2015

3 Strategic Resource Plan (plan under section 126 of 
the Act outlining the financial and non-financial 
resources required for at least the next four 
financial years)

Adopted in accordance with section 126 of the Act. 
Date of adoption: 21 June 2017

4 Annual budget (plan under section 130 of the 
Act setting out the services to be provided and 
initiatives to be undertaken over the next 12 
months and the funding and other resources 
required)

Adopted in accordance with section 130 of the Act. 
Date of adoption: 21 June 2017

5 Asset management plans (plans that set out the 
asset maintenance and renewal needs for key 
infrastructure asset classes for at least the next 10 
years)

Date of operation of current plans: Roads 21 May 
2014, reviewed May 2017; Drainage 24 June 2015: 
Building 18 May 2016

6 Rating strategy (strategy setting out the rating 
structure of Council to levy rates and charges)

Incorporated in 2016/17 Budget. Adopted 21 June  
2017

7 Risk policy (policy outlining Council’s commitment 
and approach to minimising the risks to Council’s 
operations)

Date of operation of current policy: 15 April 2015

8 Fraud policy (policy outlining Council’s 
commitment and approach to minimising the risk 
of fraud)

Date of operation of current policy: 16 July 2014

9 Municipal Emergency Management Plan (plan 
under section 20 of the Emergency Management 
Act 1986 for emergency prevention, response  and  
recovery)

Prepared and maintained in accordance with 
section 20 of the Emergency Management Act 
1986: 15 April 2015

10 Procurement policy (policy under section 186A 
of  the Local Government Act 1989 outlining the 
matters, practices and procedures that will apply 
to all purchases of goods, services and works)

Prepared and approved in accordance with section 
186A of the Local Government Act 1989: 19 April 
2017
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Governance and Management Items Assessment
11 Business Continuity Plan (plan setting out the 

actions that will be undertaken to ensure that 
key services continue to operate in the event of a 
disaster)

Date of operation of current plan: 25 November 
2014, reviewed 31 January 2017

12 Disaster Recovery Plan (plan setting out the actions 
that will be undertaken to recover and restore 
business capability in the event of a disaster)

Date of operation of current plan: 31 October 2014

13 Risk management framework (framework outlining 
Council’s approach to managing risks to the  
Council’s operations)

Date of operation of current framework: 15 April 
2015

14 Audit Committee (advisory committee of 
Council under section 139 of the Act whose 
role is to oversee the integrity of a Council’s 
financial reporting, processes to manage risks 
to the Council’s operations and for compliance 
with applicable legal, ethical, and regulatory 
requirements)

Established in accordance with section 139 of the 
Act  
Date of establishment: 1 January 1997

15 Internal audit (independent accounting 
professionals engaged by the Council to provide 
analyses and recommendations aimed at improving 
Council’s governance, risk and management 
controls)

Date of engagement of current provider: 18 July 2011

16 Performance reporting framework (a set of 
indicators measuring financial and non-financial 
performance, including  the performance 
indicators referred to in section 131 of the Act)

Date of operation of current framework: 1 July 2014

17 Council Plan reporting (report reviewing the 
performance of the Council against the Council 
Plan, including the results in relation to the 
strategic indicators, for the first six months of the 
financial year)

Date of reports: Major Initiatives, Finance and 
Capital Works Progress Report 23 November 2016, 
15 February 2017, 17 May 2017

18 Financial reporting (quarterly statements to 
Council under section 138 of the Act comparing 
budgeted revenue and expenditure with actual 
revenue and expenditure)

Statements presented to council in accordance 
with section 138(1) of the Act
Date statements presented: Annual Report 19 
October 2016, Major Initiatives, Finance and Capital 
Works Progress Reports 23 November 2016, 15 
February 2017, 17 May 2017 

19 Risk reporting (six-monthly reports of strategic 
risks to Council’s operations, their likelihood and 
consequences of occurring and risk minimisation 
strategies)

Date of reports: 27 July 2016, 22 February 2017, 07 
June 2017 
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Governance and Management Items Assessment
20 Performance reporting (six-monthly reports of 

indicators measuring the results against financial 
and non-financial performance, including 
performance indicators referred to in section 131 of 
the Act)

Reported in Annual Report 19 October 2016 
and Major Initiatives, Finance and Capital Works 
Progress Report 17 May 2017

21 Annual report (annual report under sections 131, 132 
and 133 of the Act to the community containing 
a report of operations  and audited financial and 
performance statements)

Considered at a meeting of Council in accordance 
with section 134 of the Act. Date statements 
presented: 19 October 2016

22 Councillor Code of Conduct (Code under section 
76C of the Act setting out the conduct principles 
and the dispute resolution  processes to be  
followed by Councillors)

Reviewed in accordance with section 76C of the 
Act. Date reviewed: 15 February 2017

23 Delegations (a document setting out the powers, 
duties and functions of Council and the Chief 
Executive Officer that have been delegated to 
members of staff)

Reviewed in accordance with section 98(6) of the 
Act. Date of review: 22 June 2016

24 Meeting procedures (a local law governing the 
conduct of meetings of Council and special  
committees)

Meeting procedures local law made in accordance 
with section 91(1) of the Act. Date local law made: 
16 December 2009

I certify that this information presents fairly the status of Council’s governance and management arrangements.

Paul Buckley PSM     Cr Pamela Rothfield
Chief Executive Officer    Mayor
Dated: 27 September 2017    Dated: 27 September 2017 
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The following information is provided in accordance 
with legislative and other requirements applying to 
Council.

Documents Available for Public Inspection 
In accordance with Part 5 of the Local Government 
(General) Regulations 2015, the following is a list of the 
prescribed documents that are available. Inspection or 
copies of documents can be obtained for the purposes 
of section 222 of the Local Government Act 1989 at 76 
McBride Ave, Wonthaggi:

• details of current allowances fixed for the Mayor and 
Councillors

• details of overseas or interstate travel (with the 
exception of interstate travel by land for less than 
three days) undertaken in an official capacity by 
Councillors or any member of Council staff in the 
previous 12 months

• names of Council officers who were required to 
submit a return of interest during the financial year 
and the dates the returns were submitted

• names of Councillors who submitted returns of 
interest during the financial year and the dates the 
returns were submitted

• agendas for, and minutes of, Ordinary and Special 
meetings held in the previous 12 months except if the 
minutes relate to parts of meetings which have been 
closed to members of the public

• a list of all special committees established by Council 
and the purpose for which each committee was 
established

• a list of all special committees established by Council 
which were abolished or ceased to function during 
the financial year

• minutes of meetings of special committees held in 
the previous 12 months except if the minutes relate 
to parts of meetings which have been closed to 
members of the public

• a register of delegations

• submissions received in accordance with Section 223 
of the Act during the previous 12 months

• agreements to establish regional libraries
• details of all property, finance and operating leases 

involving land, buildings, plant, computer equipment 
or vehicles entered into by Council as lessor or 
lessee, including the name of the other party to the 
lease and the terms and the value of the lease

• a register of authorised officers

• a list of donations and grants made by Council 
during the financial year

• a list of contracts valued at $150,000 or more which 
Council entered into during the financial year 
without first engaging in a competitive process.
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Best Value
In accordance with section 208B(f) of the Local 
Government Act 1989, at least once every year a 
Council must report to its community on what it has 
done to ensure that it has given effect to the Best 
Value Principles.
Council incorporates Best Value Principles through 
regular business planning and performance monitoring 
processes and through a commitment to continuous 
improvement and innovation which is supported by 
our Sustainable Excellence Program. To further reflect 
Council’s commitment to Best Value, Council has 
commenced the introduction of a Service Review 
Program.  This program has been introduced to review 
six service areas per year to find opportunities and 
efficiencies, and to make sure that the model we use 
to deliver services provides maximum benefit to our 
community. The purpose of the service reviews: 
• Is designed to find operational efficiencies and 

innovations to deliver services to the community 
in accordance with the Council Plan and Long Term 
Financial Plan

• Is our commitment to continuous improvement in 
what we do

• Is not about performance. In general, service reviews 
are designed to determine the level of service we 
will provide and the most appropriate strategic 
model to provide that service

The following Service Reviews are being undertaken:

Event Management and 
Tourism

Currently being scoped

Customer Service Draft report is currently 
being considered by the 
Project Control Group

Economic Development Being reviewed as part of the 
VAGO review of Economic 
Development.  Report due 
end of July 2017

Road, Building, 
Administration and 
Plant Maintenance

Draft report is currently 
being considered by the 
Project Control Group

The following Service Reviews are being implemented:
• Infrastructure Delivery
• Parks and Gardens
• Funding to other Organisations
• Revenue Services
• Recreation Services
• Cemetery Management
• Caravan Parks
• Waste Management
• Fleet Management
• Phillip Island Nature Park (PINP) and Council’s Asset 

Management and Response on crown land

The following Service Reviews are completed, 
including implementation:

• Statutory Planning, Building Approvals and Planning 
Administration

• Emergency Management and Fire Prevention

• Environmental Health Services

• Governance and Councillor Support

• Visitor Services

• Local Laws

• Valuations

• Building Approvals
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Carers Recognition 
In accordance with the Carers Recognition Act 2012 
(CRA), Council is required to report annually on its 
care measurement obligations under Section 11 of 
that Act. Council has taken all practicable measures 
to comply with its responsibilities outlined in the 
Carers Recognition Act 2012. 
During 2016/2017 Council undertook significant 
effort to promote the CRA to Council staff and 
the community. Staff from Aged and Disability 
and Communications teams met to develop a 
communications plan surrounding meeting the 
legislative requirements of the CRA. The CRA was 
promoted heavily during Carers Week in October 
2016. 
Council has promoted the principles of the CRA 
to people in care relationships who receive council 
services, to people in care relationships, and to the 
wider community by:
• report in the Bass Coast Shire Council Annual 

Report 
• report in the Carers Support annual report to 

Department of Health and Human Services
• CRA material in the client information book
• CRA material in the Aged and Disability client 

newsletter
• media release recognising carers in the community 

and CRA which was distributed during Carers 
Week in October 2016

• Coastell Summer edition– Council’s community 
newsletter

• promotion of the CRA poster through council 
community services and facilities

• promotion on Council website for the CRA with 
links to the official CRA website 

Council has taken all practicable measures to ensure 
staff, Council agents and volunteers working for 
council are informed about the principles and 
obligations of the Act by including information on 
the care relationship in:
• Shire Crier (Council’s staff newsletter)
• CRA information placed in the Community Care 

Workers staff manual
• staff induction program 

• distribute CRA via email to Aged and Disability 
office based staff

• promote the CRA to Managers, Team Leaders and 
Coordinators for distribution to teams members

• Council induction and meetings for staff working 
in Aged and Disability Services

Council has taken all practicable measures to review 
and modify policies, procedures and supports to 
include recognition of the carer relationship and 
has provided the following additional activities and 
resources to recognise the care relationship:
• Council hosted a carers planning session during 

2016/2017. This consultation gave carers an 
opportunity to express their views and opinions of 
what they would like to see Council offer during 
2017/2018

• provision of respite services for carers
• provision of three carer retreats
• provision of workshops for carers 
• provision of a series of social events for carers
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Contracts 
During the year Council did not enter into any 
contracts valued at $150,000 or more for any goods 
and services or works (ie construction/building) 
that will exceed $200,000 or more without first 
engaging in a competitive process. These figures are 
GST inclusive and are for the value of the life of the 
goods, services and works.

Disability Action Plan 
In accordance with section 38 of the Disability Act 
2006, as Council has prepared a Disability Action 
Plan it must report on the implementation of the 
Disability Action Plan in its annual report.
Disability Action Plan key outcomes and 
achievements 2016/17:
• Improved access to businesses through support 

and promotion of the “Good Access is Good 
Business” project, improving inclusion for people 
with disabilities and their carers

• Hearing Loops installed in Council customer 
service centres to assist people with hearing aids 
and cochlear implants

• Supported the Social Inclusion Week event “Fun in 
the Park” for young people with disability, service 
providers and education providers

Domestic Animal Management Plan 
The Domestic Animals Act 1994 requires council 
to submit a domestic animal management plan 
on a four-yearly cycle beginning 3 November, in 
consultation with the Secretary of the Department 
of Economic Development, Jobs, Transport and 
Resources. Council’s Domestic Animal Management 
Plan 2012-2016 set the strategic direction in terms 
of animal management within Bass Coast.  The next 
submission of the plan was due to the Secretary of 
the Department by 3 November 2016. As this date 
coincided with council elections, making it difficult 
for newly elected councillors to contribute to the 
plan, the Secretary requested councils submit new 
plans by 3 November 2017.  

During 2016/17 council has reviewed the outcomes 
of the previous plan and has consulted with the 
community and relevant stakeholders to better 
understand broader community views in relation to 
dog and cat issues. A new Bass Coast Shire Council 
Domestic Animal Management Plan 2017-2021 is being 
developed and will be presented to Council in 2017.
Ongoing Domestic Animal Management activities 
during 2016/17 include:
• Introduction of order to require newly registered 

cats to be desexed from three months of age
• Introduction of order to prohibit cats from public 

places between sunset to sunrise
• Budget allocation for a desexing assistance 

initiative
• Implementation of impounded animals on 

Council’s Facebook page to help with the reuniting 
of lost animals 

• Building relationships with more rescue groups and 
implementing formal agreements to help rehome 
unwanted animals

• Regular checks conducted to ensure that domestic 
animal businesses are being conducted in 
accordance with the Domestic Animals Act 1994. 
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Food Act Ministerial Directions 
In accordance with section 7E of the Food Act 1984, 
Council is required to publish a summary of any 
Ministerial Directions received during the financial 
year in its annual report.
No such Ministerial Directions were received by 
Council during the 2016/17 financial year.

Freedom of Information (FOI) 
In accordance with section 7(4AA)(a) and 7(4AA)(b) 
of the Freedom of Information Act 1982, Council 
is required to publish certain statements in their 
annual report or separately such as on its website, 
concerning its functions and information available. 
Council has chosen to publish the statements 
separately however provides the following summary 
of the application and operation of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1982.
Access to documents may be obtained through 
written request to the Freedom of Information 
Officer, as detailed in section 17 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1982 and in summary as follows:
• it should be in writing
• it should identify as clearly as possible which 

document is being requested
• it should be accompanied by the appropriate 

application fee (the fee may be waived in certain 
circumstances)

Requests for documents in the possession of Council 
should be addressed to the Freedom of Information 
Officer. Requests can be lodged by post or email.
Access charges may also apply once documents have 
been processed and a decision on access is made (eg 
photocopying and search and retrieval charges). The 
timeframes for processing an FOI Application can vary 
depending on the relevant access charges and third 
party appeal rights.
Further information regarding FOI can be found at 
www.foi.vic.gov.au and on Council’s website  
www.basscoast.vic.gov.au/foi.

Protected Disclosure Procedures
In accordance with section 69 of the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012 a Council must include in their 
annual report information about how to access 
the procedures established by Council under Part 
9 of that Act. It is also required to provide certain 
information about the number and types of 
protected disclosures complaints investigated during 
the financial year.

The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 aims to ensure 
openness and accountability in government by 
encouraging people to disclose improper conduct 
within the public sector and provide protection for 
people who make disclosures. Procedures on how to 
make a disclosure are publicly available on Council’s 
website at  
www.basscoast.vic.gov.au/protecteddisclosure. 
During the 2016/17 year no disclosures were notified 
to Council officers appointed to receive disclosures, 
or to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption 
Commission (IBAC).

Road Management Act Ministerial Direction 
In accordance with section 22 of the Road 
Management Act 2004, Council must publish a copy 
or summary of any Ministerial direction in its annual 
report. 
No such Ministerial Directions were received by 
Council during the financial year.
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Financial Performance
We are committed to providing accurate, 
understandable and fair reporting on our financial 
performance for 2016/17 and our financial position 
at the end of the period. It enables an assessment of 
our ability to deliver current services and maintain 
existing facilities in the longer-term.

In brief
We achieved a $12.51 million surplus in 2016/17; $11.87 
million above budget expectations.
This was mainly due to additional income:
• Prepayment of 50% of the 2017/18 Commonwealth 

Financial Assistance Grant in 2016/17 of $2.99 
million

• Developer contributed assets of $6.69 million.
• Additional capital and operating grants of $0.7 

million
• Increased planning and statutory fees of $0.48 

million
• Increase return on Council’s investments for $0.34 

million
We ended the financial year with a total cash balance 
of $38.2 million compared to $26.3 million in 2015/16.
Total borrowings increased from 2015/16, to 
$13.9 million from $12.5 million as a result of new 
borrowings to fund the Bass Valley Children’s Centre 
and the Cowes Jetty Triangle (see Liabilities).

Operating results
We achieved a $12.51 million surplus for the 2016/17 
financial year, compared to a $1.2 million loss for 
2015/16.  This was due to a combination of factors 
including grant funding received in advance in the 
year, additional income generated from activities, 
an increased level of assets being contributed 
by property developers (such as roads, drainage, 
footpaths etc.)  and a reduction the depreciation of 
Council’s assets.  

Excluding abnormal items between the 2015/16 and 
2016/17 financial years our year on year results have 
improved by $1.5 million through the continued focus 
on delivering efficiencies from existing services and 
activities.

It remains a major challenge to deliver a surplus to 
fund infrastructure renewal requirements whilst 
maintaining service levels.

Revenue
Our total revenue for 2016/17 was $84.37 million 
(budgeted $72.34 million) compared with $69.99 
million for 2015/16. The most significant variations 
between the two years are the early payments of 
the Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grant ($6 
million), additional developer contributed assets ($5 
million), rates and charges increased in accordance 
with the budget ($2 million) with the remainder arising 
from various sources such as increased fees, user 
charges, investment interest and reimbursements.
Further detail on our income can be seen in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement.

An analysis of Council’s revenue sources highlights 
that 81% of our income is derived from three income 
categories:
• Rates and charges 62%
• Operating grants 14%
• Capital grants 5%
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Expenditure
Our total expenses for 2016/17 were $71.86 million 
(budgeted $71.71 million); $0.6 million more than 
the $71.24 million spent in 2015/16 (detailed in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement).

An analysis of expenses indicates that 96% were in 
the following three categories:
• Employee benefits 39%
• Materials and services 38%
• Depreciation and amortisation 19%

Aside from employee related costs the other major 
expenditure type is materials and services.  
Materials and services covers a wide range of 
activities, such as payments to contractors for 
services, waste collection activities, maintenance, 
repairs, legal fees, bank fees and insurances, amongst 
many others. Each of the types of payments made in 
this area is broken up into more detail within Note 12 
of the Annual Financial Report.  

An area of interest within Note 12 is often Council’s 
use of consultants, which is contained within the 
Materials and Services area of the financial report.  
The item “Services, consultants and other expenses” 
has within it $0.669 million that relates to the use of 
consultants (2015/16 was $0.943 million).

Capital Works
In 2016/17 Capitalised Works increased by $1.61 million 
to a total of $12.57 million. Renewal and upgrade of 
our existing assets accounted for $11.23 million and we 

spent $1.3 million on new and expansion works. The 
investment in capital works is a strategic approach 
to maintaining or renewing the community’s existing 
assets as they age.

Activities included:
• $4.3 million on road works
• $1.5 million on footpaths and cycle ways
• $1.5 million on the Bass Valley Integrated Children’s 

Centre construction
• $0.8 million on the Wonthaggi Netball courts 

upgrade
• $0.6 million on parks and open space

Although Council capitalised works for $12.57 million, 
the total value of project costs for those activities 
was $15.75 million.   

Total project costs include activities that support 
the delivery of capital works. These support costs do 
not form part of the assets value and do not then 
appear in the Statement of Capital Works within the 
financial statements. To better understand the cost of 
a project against the budget the following Statement 
of Project Works is prepared.
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Statement of Project Works
2017  

Budget
2017  

Forecast
2017  

Actual
$’000 $’000 $’000

Property
Land 185 508 178
Total Land 185 508 178
Buildings 6,026 5,583 3,923
Building improvements - 2,657 223
Total buildings 6,026 8,241 4,146
Total property 6,211 8,749 4,323

Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and 
equipment

1,509 1,596 1,236

Fixtures, fittings and 
furniture

10 105 100

Computers and 
telecommunications

905 2,221 1,410

Art works 50 70 20
Total plant and 
equipment

2,474 3,992 2,766

Infrastructure
Roads 4,474 4,714 4,514
Bridges 55 142 168
Footpaths and cycle 
ways

699 1,907 1,800

Drainage 658 531 414
Recreational and 
leisure facilities

1,017 1,124 871

Waste management 40 138 65
Parks, open space and 
streetscapes

257 1,011 729

Off street car parks 102 102 101
Total infrastructure 7,303 9,670 8,661

Total project works 
expenditure

15,988 22,410 15,751

The 2017 Forecast includes variations that occur 
to the program throughout the year and projects 
carried forward from the 2015/16 financial year.
An analysis of the more significant variations include:
• $2.2 million for the Cowes Jetty Triangle carried 

forward from 2015/16
• $1.4 million reduction in the Cowes Cultural Centre 

(arising from Council decision) 
• $1.3 million for the Bass Valley Children’s Centre 

added to the program carried forward from the 
previous year

• $1.3 million brought forward from 2015/16 for the 
continued replacement of Council’s corporate 
software platform.

• $0.6 million increase in renewal works on various 
buildings

• $0.6 million on pathway renewal completion from 
prior year.

• $0.4 million arising from the completion of the 
Potters Hill to Back Beach Road pathway

• $0.4 million on foreshore works
• $0.3 million for the Phillip Island Football Netball 

clubrooms project carried forward.
• $0.3 million South Dudley shared pathway 

completion from prior year.
• $0.2 million on the Ayr Creek reserve drainage 
• $0.2 million on completing rail trail works from the 

prior year.
• $0.1 million completing the Grantville landfill 

monitoring bores installation and new cell design

Assets
Our total assets are valued at $649 million; 99% 
consisting of:
• Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure 

(land, buildings, roads, bridges etc.)
• Cash assets (mainly short-term investments)
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Liabilities
Our total liabilities were $31.97 million as at 30 June 
2017. Liabilities included loans, amounts owed to 
suppliers, provisions for landfill rehabilitation and 
amounts owed to employees for leave entitlements. 
Liabilities increased by $2.89 million, in comparison 
with 2015/16. This was mainly due to an increase in 
overall borrowings of $1.2 million.

Provisions for employee benefits increased by
$0.45 million, due to allowing for future employee 
leave liabilities. Council’s provision for landfill 
restoration decreased by $0.28 million after a 
reassessment of works required and costings.
Council’s borrowing liability levels increased from 
$12.5 million in 2015/16 to $13.7 million in 2016/17.

During 2016/17 Council made total loan repayments 
(principal and interest) of $1.7 million and borrowed 
an additional $2.2 million. This resulted in an overall 
net increase in debt of $1.2 million. Council’s current 
debt is within the prudential ratio limits previously 
used by the Victorian State Government.

Financial Indicators

The financial indicators included in this report 
provide information on performance trends over 
time.

Asset renewal ratio
This ratio is about the renewal of our existing assets 
(ie replacing one asset with another of the same 
quality). There has been a steady increase in this ratio 

over the last three (3) years as Council has dedicated 
more resources to the ensuring our existing assets are 
in optimal condition.

Underlying result
This ratio provides an indication of whether council 
generates sufficient funds from its day to day 
operations to deliver existing services and maintain 
existing assets.  The ratio has over the last several 
years been heavily influenced by the pre-payment 
of Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grants, the 
correction of that pre-payment and finally another 
pre-payment.  There is however an overall trend of 
improvement in the underlying result taking into 
account those large variations.

This result places Council within the ‘Low’ risk 
category for financial sustainability 
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Revenue Ratio
The Revenue Ratio shows the level of our reliance 
on rate revenue. It is an indication of how much of 
our total revenue comes from rates and charges. 
It is influenced by other revenue sources such as 
government grants, contributions, special charges, 
user fees and charges. Rate income is a secure and 
predictable source of revenue. A low ratio can warn 
of undue reliance on other forms of revenue, which 
may or may not be sustainable, e.g. government 
grants. The preferred position is for a reliance on 
rates and other commercial revenue, with a low 
dependency on government grants.

Financial Sustainability Risk Indicators
Financial sustainability is defined in a number of 
different ways.  A generally accepted definition is 
whether local governments have sufficient current 
and prospective financial capacity (inflows) to meet 
their current and prospective financial requirements 
(outflows).

To be sustainable, councils need to have some 
excess capacity at any point in time to be able to 
manage future financial risks and shocks without 
having to radically adjust their current revenue or 
expenditure policies.

The indicators utilised by the Victorian Auditor 
General to assess the financial viability of councils 
are:
• Net Result – whether enough revenue is 

generated to cover operating costs (including the 
cost of replacing assets, reflected in depreciation 
expense).

• Liquidity – whether sufficient working capital 
exists to meet short-term commitments.

• Internal Financing – whether sufficient operating 
cash flows are generated to invest in asset renewal 
and to repay any debt incurred in the past.

• Indebtedness – whether there is an over reliance 
on debt to fund capital programmes.

• Capital Replacement – whether assets have been 
replaced at a rate consistent with the rate of their 
consumption.

• Renewal Gap – whether existing assets have been 
maintained at a consistent rate.

The following graphs show the trend for each of the 
financial sustainability risk indicators.
 

Net Result Ratio
This ratio includes capital grants that aid in 
generating an underlying surplus. This can be utilised 
for new assets or asset renewal. This result places 
Council within the ‘Low’ risk category for financial 
sustainability.
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Liquidity Ratio
The Liquidity Ratio expresses the level of current 
assets, such as cash and investments, that Council 
has available to meet our current liabilities. This 
includes outstanding creditors and employee 
entitlements.
To be considered at Low risk by the Auditor General 
the ratio must be greater than 1.0. This means that 
Council has the capacity to pay its immediately 
due debts.  A result above 1.5 has historically been 
recommended by the Municipal Association of 
Victoria (MAV) as the minimum level for this ratio.
Our current ratio of 2.79 is over the recommended 
target for low risk and reflects Council’s practice of 
putting aside funds to pay for future activities. This 
is a very positive result and it means that we have 
no immediate issue with repaying our liabilities when 
they fall due.

Indebtedness Ratio
This ratio indicates our ability to repay debt from our 
own sources of revenue, such as rates and charges. 
The ratio is comfortably in the low risk category, 
indicating that we are generating sufficient funds to 
cover debt without requiring outside assistance.

Internal Financing Ratio
Results indicate that we are generating sufficient 
cash from operations to fund the renewal of existing 
assets. The increase in the trend of this ratio is a 
reflection of the efficiencies generated from the 
operational and service delivery activities.

Capital Replacement Ratio
This ratio is about the overall spending on assets, 
both new and existing. The graph has historically 
been inflated by the use of special charge schemes 
to fund capital activities, of which there have been 
no new schemes since 2014/15. Although lower in the 
past three (3) years, since 2014/15 there has been a 
steady increase as efficiencies have freed up funds to 
invest in new assets.
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Renewal Gap Ratio
This ratio is about the renewal and upgrade of our 
existing assets (ie replacing one asset with another 
of the same or better quality). Much like the 
Capital Replacement Ratio, the Renewal Gap ratio 
has historically been impacted by special charge 
schemes and the more recent trend is reflective 
of the funds made available through organisational 
efficiencies being invested into the replacement of 
existing assets.

Understanding the Financial Statements
Introduction
The financial statements show Council’s 
performance during 2016/17 and our overall financial 
position as at 30 June 2017.

We present our financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards. Particular terms 
required by the standards may not be familiar 
to some readers. Our commitment is to be as 
transparent as possible. It is in this context that the 
following explanations have been developed to 
assist readers understand and analyse the financial 
report.

The financial report comprises two sets of 
statements:
• Financial Statements (see page 88)
• Performance Statement (see page 47)

Annual Financial Report
The Annual Financial Report contains the General 
Purpose Financial Statements. The data throughout 
this report includes all entities controlled by 
Council.

Council’s financial report has two main sections, the 
Report and the Notes. There are five Statements 
and 40 notes. These are prepared by Council 
staff and reviewed by Council and Council’s Audit 
Committee. They are also audited by the Victorian 
Auditor-General.

The five statements included in the first few pages 
of the report are the Comprehensive Income 
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Statement of Capital Works and Statement 
of Cash Flows.

The Notes detail Council’s accounting policies and 
give further information about the make- up of the 
values contained in the statements.

Comprehensive Income Statement
This statement includes all sources of income, less 
all operating expenses incurred in delivering Council 
services. It also includes depreciation of the value 
of buildings, roads, footpaths, drains and all other 
assets used to deliver Council services. These assets 
are depreciated over their life as they are used. 
Capital costs or new assets acquired or created 
during the year are excluded from the statement.

Preparation of the statement is on an ‘accrual’ basis. 
This means that all income and costs for the year 
are recognised even though the income may not 
have been received (interest on bank deposits), or 
expenses not paid (invoices not received for goods 
and services already used).

The key figure to look at is the surplus/(deficit) 
for the year. A surplus is positive as it means that 
revenue was greater than expenses. Continual 
deficits (losses) may raise questions about Council’s 
ability to be financially viable in the longer-term.
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Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet is a one-page summary of our 
financial position as at 30 June each financial year. 
It shows what we own (assets) and what we owe 
(liabilities). The bottom line of this statement is net 
assets or the ‘net worth’ of Council.

The assets and liabilities are separated into current 
and non-current. Current means those assets or 
liabilities which will fall due or will be used in the 
next 12 months. The components of the Balance 
Sheet are described below.

Current and Non-Current Assets
• Cash includes cash and cash equivalents ie cash 

held in the bank, petty cash and term deposits

• Receivables are monies owed to Council by 
ratepayers and others

• Investment in Associate is the investment in the 
West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation.

• Other assets include inventory and accounts 
which have been prepaid

• Property, Plant and Equipment, Infrastructure is 
the largest component of Council’s worth and 
represents the value of all land, buildings, roads, 
vehicles, equipment, and other items

Current and Non-Current Liabilities
• Trade and other payables are monies owed by 

Council as at 30 June each financial year

• Trust funds and deposits are monies received and 
held by Council

• Provisions include landfill rehabilitation works and 
employee benefits, such as accrued long service 
and annual leave

• Interest bearing liabilities includes loans repaid 
over a set period of time. Lease liabilities are 
leases of assets where ownership of the asset is 
transferred to Council

Net Assets
This term is used to describe the difference 
between the value of total assets and the value 
of total liabilities. It represents the net worth of 
Council as at 30 June each financial year. The net 
value of Council is also synonymous with total 
equity.

Total Equity
• Asset revaluation reserve is the difference 

between the previously recorded value of 
property and infrastructure assets and their 
current valuations

• Other reserves are allocations of the accumulated 
surplus to specific projects.

• Accumulated surplus is the value of all net assets 
accumulated over time

Statement of Changes in Equity
The value of total equity, as set out in the balance 
sheet, changes during the year. The statement 
shows the values of each change along with how 
and why.

The main reasons for changes in equity are:
• The ‘profit and loss’ from operations, described 

in the Comprehensive Income Statement as the 
surplus/(deficit)) for the year

• The use of monies from Council’s reserves and 
transfers to Council’s reserves

• Revaluation of assets occurs to ensure that assets 
are correctly valued at current replacement value

Statement of Capital Works
The Statement of Capital Works summarises Council 
spending on assets for the year. The Statement of 
Capital Works breaks all capital expenditure incurred 
by Council into three broad headings – Property, 
Plant and Equipment, and Infrastructure, with 
relevant sub groups below these.
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The Statement of Capital Works also shows asset 
spending by four (4) categories:
• Asset renewal expenditure – spending on 

renewing Council’s existing assets back to their 
original service provision capacity

• Asset upgrade expenditure – spending on 
improving the service capacity of Council’s 
existing assets

• Asset expansion expenditure – spending on new 
assets that expand the existing network

• New asset expenditure – spending on assets that 
Council has not possessed previously

Statement of Cash Flows
The Statement of Cash Flows summarises Council’s 
cash payments and cash receipts for the year. This 
statement is presented according to a very specific 
Accounting Standard and needs some care in analysis. 
The values may differ from those shown in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement because this 
statement is prepared on an accrual accounting basis.

The amounts disclosed in the Cash Flow Statement 
are our cash flows generated from, and used in, three 
main areas:

1. Cash Flow from Operating Activities
• Receipts. All cash received into Council’s bank 

account from ratepayers and other monies owed 
to Council. Receipts also include the interest 
assets from Council’s cash investments. It does not 
include the costs associated with the sale of assets

• Payments. All cash paid from Council’s bank 
account to staff, creditors and other persons. It 
does not include the costs associated with the 
creation of assets

2. Cash Flow from Investing Activities
The accounting term Investing Activities relates to 
payments for the acquisition of assets, such as new 
plant, roads and other long-term revenue producing 
assets. It also includes the proceeds from the sale of 
assets, such as plant, and land.

3. Cash Flow from Financing Activities
This is where the receipt and repayment of borrowed 
funds are recorded, as well as any movement in trust 
funds and deposits held by Council.
The bottom line of the Statement of Cash Flows is 
our total cash at the end of the financial year.
The Statement of Cash Flows is important as it shows 
the source of our funds and detail show they are 
spent.

Notes to the Accounts
The Notes are an important and informative section 
of the report. The Australian Accounting Standards 
are not prescriptive on a lot of issues. To understand 
the basis on which the values shown in the 
statements are established, it is necessary to provide 
details of Council’s accounting policies. These are 
described in Note 1.

Apart from the accounting policies, the Notes 
also give details behind many of the summary 
figures contained in the statements. The Note 
numbers are shown beside the relevant items in the 
Comprehensive Income Statement, Balance Sheet, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement 
of Cash Flows.

Note 2 provides for a comparison between end of 
year actual results and Council’s original budget, 
highlighting and providing explanations for major 
variances.

Where Council wishes to disclose other information 
that cannot be incorporated in the statements, then 
this is shown in the Notes. Other Notes include:
• The cost of the various functions of Council
• The breakdown of expenses, revenues, reserves 

and other assets
• Transactions with persons related to Council

The Notes should be read in conjunction with the 
other parts of the Financial Statements to get a clear 
picture of the accounts.



Our Finances

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  87  

What is the Performance Statement?
The Performance Statement reports on Council’s progress for the financial year against the Local Government 
Performance Reporting Framework indicators adopted as part of the annual budget. They include financial 
and non-financial data.

Our external auditors review the evidence and accuracy of the results.

Statements by Principal Accounting Officer and Councillors
The Certification of the Principal Accounting Officer is made by the person responsible for the financial 
management of Council. It assures that, in her/his opinion, the financial statements have met all the statutory 
and professional reporting requirements.

The Certification of Councillors is made by two councillors on behalf of Council confirming that in their 
opinion the financial statements are fair and not misleading. The Chief Executive Officer also endorses and 
signs the certification.

Auditor General’s Report
The Independent Auditor’s Report provides an external opinion on the financial statements. The opinion 
covers statutory and professional requirements as well as addressing the fairness aspects of the financial 
statements.
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 2017 2016
Restated(1)

$'000 $'000
Income
Rates and charges 4 52,332                   50,308                  
Statutory fees and fines 5 2,052                     1,470                    
User fees 6 4,755                     4,498                    
Grants - operating 7 11,485                   5,681                    
Grants - capital 7 4,381                     4,543                    
Contributions - monetary 8 1,067                     562                       
Contributions - non monetary 8,40 6,685                     1,522                    
Share of net profits of associates 17 169                        310                       
Other income 10 1,440                     1,098                    
Total income 84,366                   69,992                  

Expenses
Employee costs 11 28,045                   27,029                  
Materials and services 12 27,176                   26,777                  
Bad and doubtful debts 13 -                         55                         
Depreciation and amortisation 14,40 13,784                   15,207                  
Borrowing costs 15 629                        649                       
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 9 1,471                     152                       
Other expenses 16 751                        1,372                    
Total expenses 71,856                   71,241                  

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 12,510                   (1,249)                  

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods
Net asset revaluation increment 23,29,40 20,404                   -                       
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 17 -                         139                       
Total comprehensive result 32,914                   (1,110)                  

Page 1

Comprehensive Income Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

(1) Council has restated the Comprehensive Income Statement to correct errors as outlined in Notes 3 and 40

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 1

Comprehensive Income Statement for Year Ended 30 June 2017
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 2017 2016 1 July 2015
Restated(1) Restated(1)

$'000 $'000 $'000
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18 38,168                    26,342                      24,320                      
Trade and other receivables 20 4,277                      4,560                        5,507                        
Other financial assets 19 40                           40                             40                             
Inventories 21 57                           43                             44                             
Other assets 22 878                         589                           1,342                        
Total current assets 43,420                    31,574                      31,253                      

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 20 49                           59                             319                           
Investments in associates and joint ventures 17 1,318                      1,149                        700                           
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 23,40 604,155                  580,159                    583,016                    
Intangible assets 24 508                         703                           529                           
Total non-current assets 606,030                  582,070                    584,564                    
Total assets 649,450                  613,644                    615,817                    

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 3,474                      3,095                        4,622                        
Trust funds and deposits 26 3,656                      2,727                        2,939                        
Provisions 27 7,299                      6,713                        7,282                        
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28 1,113                      1,045                        1,038                        
Total current liabilities 15,542                    13,580                      15,881                      

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 27 3,596                      4,014                        2,377                        
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 28 12,832                    11,484                      11,883                      
Total non-current liabilities 16,428                    15,498                      14,260                      
Total liabilities 31,970                    29,078                      30,141                      

Net assets 617,480                  584,566                    585,676                    

Equity
Accumulated surplus 40 243,246                  241,332                    247,733                    
Reserves 29,40 374,234                  343,234                    337,943                    
Total Equity 617,480                  584,566                    585,676                    

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2017

(1)  Council has corrected errors that, as outlined in Note 3, required a restatement of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment; asset 
revaluation reserves and accumulated surplus as at 1 July 2015.  The consequences of this correction are also reflected in Note 40.

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 2

Page 1

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2017
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Bass Coast Shire Council

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year(1) 584,566          241,332             317,873                 25,361             
Surplus for the year 12,510            12,510               -                         -                  
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 29(a) 20,404            -                     20,404                   -                  
Transfers to other reserves 29(b) -                  (19,105)              -                         19,105             
Transfers from other reserves 29(b) -                  8,509                 -                         (8,509)             
Balance at end of the financial year 617,480          243,246             338,277                 35,957             

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves

2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at beginning of the financial year as reported 577,881          239,938             318,075                 19,868             
Prior period property, infrastructure, plant and equipment adjustment(1) 7,795              7,795                 -                         -                  
Balance at beginning of the financial year restated 585,676          247,733             318,075                 19,868             
Deficit for the year(1) (1,249)             (1,249)                -                         -                  
Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement)(1) 29(a) 139                 341                    (202)                       -                  
Transfers to other reserves 29(b) -                  (10,497)              -                         10,497             
Transfers from other reserves 29(b) -                  5,004                 -                         (5,004)             
Balance at end of the financial year(1) 584,566          241,332             317,873                 25,361             

(1)  Council has restated the Statement of Changes in Equity to correct errors as outlined in Notes 3 and 40.

2016/2017 Financial Report

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 1

Statement Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Bass Coast Shire Council

2017 2016
Inflows/ Inflows/

(Outflows) (Outflows)
Note $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges 52,624                 50,696               
Statutory fees and fines 2,052                   1,471                 
User fees 5,277                   4,897                 
Grants - operating 11,517                 5,712                 
Grants - capital 4,515                   4,691                 
Contributions - monetary 1,067                   562                    
Interest received 690                      804                    
Dividends received 2                          2                        
Trust funds and deposits taken 12,333                 10,730               
Other receipts  366                      1,337                 
Net GST refund 2,859                   3,343                 
Employee costs (27,762)                (27,711)              
Materials and services (30,234)                (30,234)              
Trust funds and deposits repaid (11,331)                (10,942)              
Other payments (1,037)                  (1,925)                
Net cash provided by operating activities 30 22,938                 13,433               

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 23 (11,846)                (11,083)              
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 358                      713                    
Net cash used in investing activities (11,488)                (10,370)              

Cash flows from financing activities     
Finance costs (634)                     (649)                   
Proceeds from borrowings 2,185                   2,646                 
Repayment of finance leases (130)                     -                     
Repayment of borrowings (1,045)                  (3,038)                
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 376                      (1,041)                

Net increase  in cash and cash equivalents 11,826                 2,022                 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 26,342                 24,320               
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     38,168                 26,342               

Financing arrangements 31
Restrictions on cash assets 18

2016/2017 Financial Report

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

The above statement of cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 1

Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Bass Coast Shire Council

Note 2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Property
Land 161                      26                        
Total land 161                      26                        
Buildings 2,819                   1,242                   
Building improvements 197                      426                      
Total buildings 3,016                   1,668                   
Total property 3,177                   1,694                   

Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,235                   1,545                   
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 96                        23                        
Computers and telecommunications 60                        96                        
Total plant and equipment 1,391                   1,664                   

Infrastructure
Roads 4,337                   5,104                   
Bridges 162                      568                      
Footpaths and cycleways 1,537                   315                      
Drainage 305                      45                        
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 848                      566                      
Waste management 65                        229                      
Parks, open space and streetscapes 636                      601                      
Off street car parks 90                        90                        
Other infrastructure 20                        81                        
Total infrastructure 8,000                   7,599                   

Total capital works expenditure 12,568                 10,957                 

Represented by:
Asset renewal expenditure 7,662                   7,452                   
Asset upgrade expenditure 3,568                   2,257                   
Asset expansion expenditure 306                      186                      
New asset expenditure 1,032                   1,062                   
Total capital works expenditure 12,568                 10,957                 

2016/2017 Financial Report

Statement of Capital Works
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 1

Statement of Capital Works for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Introduction    
The Bass Coast Shire Council was established by an 
Order of the Governor in Council on 1 December 1994 
and is a body corporate.   
The Council’s main office  is located at 76 McBride 
Avenue Wonthaggi VIC 3995.      

Statement of compliance    
These financial statements are a general purpose 
financial report that consists of a Comprehensive  
Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement 
of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, 
Statement of Capital Works and Notes accompanying 
these financial statements. The general purpose 
financial report complies with the Australian 
Accounting Standards, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board, the Local Government Act 1989, 
and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014.      

Note 1 Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of accounting    
The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the 
preparation of these financial statements, whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they 
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.  
 
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required 
to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated judgements 
are  based on professional judgement derived from 
historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised and also 
in future periods that are affected by the revision.  
Judgements and assumptions made by management 
in the application of Australian Accounting Standards 
that have significant effects on the financial 
statements and estimates relate to:

   

• the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment (refer to Note 1 (l) ) 

• the determination of depreciation for  buildings, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 1 
(m) )

• the determination of employee provisions (refer to 
Note 1 (s) ) 

•  the determination of landfill restoration provisions 
(refer to Note 1 (t) )   

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies 
are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  
Where appropriate, comparative figures have been 
amended to accord with current presentation, and 
disclosure has been made of any material changes to 
comparatives.     

(b) Changes in accounting policies   
There have been no changes in accounting policies 
from the previous period.
The disclosures regarding related parties and senior 
officers remuneration in Notes 37 and 38 reflect the 
changes to Australian Acounting Standards Board 
124 Related Party Disclosures (AASB 124) applying 
for the period commencing 1 July 2016. Comparative 
information has also been provided.   

(c) Committees of management   
All entities controlled by Council that have material 
revenues, expenses, assets or liabilities, such as 
committees of management, have been included in 
this financial report. Any transactions between these 
entities and Council have been eliminated in full.

(d) Accounting for investments in associates and joint 
arrangements    

Associates    
Associates are all entities over which Council has 
significant influence but not control or joint control. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting, after initially being 
recognised at cost.       

Joint arrangements    
Investments in joint arrangements are classified as 
either joint operations or joint ventures depending on 
the contractual rights and obligations each investor 
has, rather than the legal structure of the joint 
arrangement.       
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.) 
(d) Accounting for investments in associates and joint 
arrangements (cont’d)    

(i) Joint operations    

Council recognises its direct right to, and its share of 
jointly held assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses 
of joint operations. These have been incorporated 
in the financial statements under the appropriate 
headings.     

(ii) Joint ventures     

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method. Under this method, the interests 
are initially recognised in the consolidated balance 
sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
Council’s share of the post-acquisition profits or 
losses and movements in other comprehensive 
income in profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income respectively.     
 

(e) Revenue recognition    
Income is recognised when the Council obtains 
control of the contribution or the right to receive 
the contribution, it is probable that the economic 
benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the 
Council and the amount of the contribution can be 
measured reliably.     
 
Rates and Charges    

Annual rates and charges are recognised as 
revenues when Council issues annual rates notices.  
Supplementary rates are recognised when a valuation 
and reassessment is completed and a supplementary 
rates notice issued.    
      
Statutory fees and fines    

Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and 
fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has 
been provided, the payment is received, or when the 
penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs. 
      

User fees    

User fees are recognised as revenue when the service 
has been provided or the payment is received, 
whichever first occurs.    
      
Grants    

Grant income is recognised when Council obtains 
control of the contribution. This is normally obtained 
upon receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier notification 
that a grant has been secured, and are valued at fair 
value at the date of transfer.    
Where grants or contributions recognised as revenues 
during the financial year were obtained on condi-
tion that they be expended in a particular manner or 
used over a particular period and those conditions 
were undischarged at balance date, the unused grant 
or contribution is disclosed in Note 7. The note also 
discloses the amount of unused grant or contribu-
tion from prior years that was expended on Council’s 
operations during the current year.  
   
Contributions    

Monetary and non monetary contributions are 
recognised as revenue when Council obtains control 
over the contributed asset.  

    
Sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined 
when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to 
the buyer.    
      
Interest    

Interest is recognised as it is earned.    
 
Dividends    

Dividend revenue is recognised when the Council’s 
right to receive payment is established.   
  
Other Income    

Other income is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable and is recognised 
when Council gains control over the right to receive 
the income.    
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.) 
(f) Fair value measurement  

Council measures certain assets and liabilities 
at fair value where required or permitted by 
Australian Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value 
measurement, aims to improve consistency and 
reduce complexity by providing a definition of fair 
value and a single source of fair value measurement 
and disclosure requirements for use across Australian 
Accounting Standards.    

AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.  Fair value under AASB 13 is an 
exit price regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique.     

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within a fair value hierarchy, described 
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:  

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and  

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.    

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has 
determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis 
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset 
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above.    

In addition, Council determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents    
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of 3 months or less, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.    

(h) Trade and other receivables  

Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount 
as amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method would not impact the carrying value. A 
provision for doubtful debts is recognised when 
there is objective evidence that an impairment 
has occurred. Long term receivables are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.      

(i) Other financial assets    
Other financial assets are valued at fair value, being 
market value, at balance date. Term deposits are 
measured at amortised cost. Any unrealised gains and 
losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as 
either a revenue or expense.     

(j) Inventories    
Inventories held for distribution are measured at 
cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service 
potential.      
All other inventories, including land held for sale, 
are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Where inventories are  acquired for no cost or 
nominal consideration, they are measured at current 
replacement cost at the date of acquisition. 

(k) Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
A non-current asset classified as held for sale 
(including disposal groups) is measured at the lower 
of its carrying amount and fair value less costs of 
disposal, and are not subject to depreciation. Non-
current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities 
and assets are treated as current and classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only 
when the sale is highly probable and the asset’s sale 
(or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed 
within 12 months from the date of classification.
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.) 
(l) Recognition and measurement of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment and intangibles 

Acquisition    

The purchase method of accounting is used for 
all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of 
assets provided as consideration at the date of 
acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to 
the acquisition. Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) 
in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date.    
Where assets are constructed by Council, cost 
includes all materials used in construction, direct 
labour, borrowing costs incurred during construction, 
and an appropriate share of directly attributable 
variable and fixed  overheads.    
In accordance with Council’s policy, the threshold 
limits detailed in Note 1 (m) have applied when 
recognising assets within an applicable asset class and 
unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior 
year.       

Revaluation    

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, 
non-current physical assets, other than plant and 
equipment, are measured at their fair value, being 
the price that would be received to sell an asset (or 
paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement 
date.  At balance date, the Council reviewed the 
carrying value of the individual classes of assets 
measured at fair value to ensure that each asset 
materially approximated its fair value.  Where the 
carrying value materially differed from the fair value at 
balance date, the class of asset was revalued.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance 
with a valuation hierarchy.  Changes to the valuation 
hierarchy will only occur if an external change in the 
restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in 
changes to the permissible or practical highest and 
best use of the asset.  Further details regarding the 
fair value hierarchy are disclosed at Note 23 Property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment.

In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation 
of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a 
regular basis ranging from 1 to 5 years. The valuation is 
performed either by experienced council officers or 
independent experts.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation 
increments are credited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve except to the extent that an 
increment reverses a prior year decrement for that 
class of asset that had been recognised as an expense 
in which case the increment is recognised as revenue 
up to the amount of the expense.  Revaluation 
decrements are recognised as an expense except 
where prior increments are included in the asset 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which 
case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the 
extent of the remaining increments.  Within the same 
class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements 
within the year are offset.   

Land under roads    

Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair 
value.       

(m) Depreciation and amortisation of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment and intangibles  
Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful 
lives are systematically depreciated over their useful 
lives to the Council in a manner which reflects 
consumption of the service potential embodied in 
those assets.  Estimates of remaining useful lives and 
residual values are made on a regular basis with major 
asset classes reassessed annually.  Depreciation rates 
and methods are reviewed annually.

Where assets have separate identifiable components 
that are subject to regular replacement, these 
components are assigned distinct useful lives and 
residual values and a separate depreciation rate is 
determined for each component.

Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that 
they are assessed as not having a limited useful life. 

Straight line depreciation is charged based on the 
residual useful life as determined each year.   
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Note 1   Significant accounting policies (cont.)
(m)  Depreciation and amortisation of property, infrastructure plant and equipment and intangibles (cont.)

Depreciation periods used are listed below and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.

Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods Depreciation 
Period

Threshold 
Limit
$’000

Property
Land - 10
Land under roads - 10
Land improvements 20-100 years 10
Buildings
Buildings 30-100 years 10
Other structures 30-100 years
Plant and Equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 5-10 years 10
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 3-10 years 5
Computers and telecommunications 3-10 years 5
Artworks - 5
Infrastructure
Road and footpaths 10-100 years 10
Bridges 10-100 years 10
Drainage 50-100 years 10
Waste management 5-15 years 10

Water sensitive urban design 25-50 years 10

Intangible assets
Landfill airspace 3-20 years 10
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.) 
(n) Repairs and maintenance    
Routine maintenance, repair costs, and minor 
renewal costs are expensed as incurred. Where the 
repair relates to the replacement of a component 
of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation 
threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated. The 
carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed.  

(o) Investment property    
Council does not hold any investment property held 
to generate long-term rental yields.  

(p) Impairment of assets    
At each reporting date, the Council reviews the 
carrying value of its assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that these assets have been 
impaired.  If such an indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to 
the carrying value. Any excess of the carrying value 
of the asset over its recoverable amount is expensed 
to the comprehensive income statement, unless the 
asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, 
the impairment loss is recognised directly against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of 
asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not 
exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that 
same class of asset. 

(q) Trust funds and deposits    
Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts 
controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds 
until they are returned, transferred in accordance with 
the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited (refer to Note 
26).

(r) Borrowings    
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being 
the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of 
transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent 
to initial recognition depends on whether the Council 
has categorised its interest-bearing liabilities as either 
financial liabilities designated at fair value through 
the profit and loss, or financial liabilities at amortised 
cost.  Any difference between the initial recognised 

amount and the redemption value is recognised in 
net result over the period of the borrowing using the 
effective interest method. 
The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council 
determines the classification of its interest bearing 
liabilities at initial recognition.   

Borrowing costs    

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred, except where 
they are capitalised as part of a qualifying asset 
constructed by Council. Except where specific 
borrowings are obtained for the purpose of specific 
asset acquisition, the weighted average interest rate 
applicable to borrowings at balance date, excluding 
borrowings associated with superannuation, is used 
to determine the borrowing costs to be capitalised.  
Borrowing costs include interest on bank overdrafts, 
interest on borrowings, and finance lease charges.

(s) Employee costs and benefits   
The calculation of employee costs and benefits 
includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as 
follows at reporting date.    

Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick 
leave expected to be wholly settled within 12 months 
of the reporting date are recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits in respect of employee 
services up to the reporting date, classified as current 
liabilities and measured at their nominal values.

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised 
in the provision for employee benefits as current 
liabilities, measured at the present value of the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.   
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.) 
Long service leave    

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits.   
Current liability - unconditional LSL is disclosed 
as a current liability even when the council does 
not expect to settle the liability within 12 months 
because it will not have the unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the entitlement should an 
employee take leave within 12 months.  

The components of this current liability are 
measured at :    
• present value - component that is not expected 

to be wholly settled within 12 months; and 
• nominal value - component that is expected to 

be wholly settled within 12 months.  

Classification of employee costs 

Non-current liability - conditional LSL that has 
been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach 
a qualifying term of employment, is disclosed as 
a non-current liability. There is an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the entitlement until 
the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.  This non-current LSL liability is measured at 
present value.       

(t) Landfill rehabilitation provision   
Council is obligated to restore Grantville landfill site 
to a particular standard. The forecast life of the site 
is based on current estimates of remaining capacity 
and the forecast rate of infill. The provision for 
landfill restoration has been calculated based on the 
present value of the expected cost of works to be 
undertaken. The expected cost of works has been 
estimated based on current understanding of work 
required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard.  
Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required 
is dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing 
of the work, work required and related costs.

(u) Leases    

Finance leases    

Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the asset are 
transferred to the Council are classified as finance 

leases. Finance leases are capitalised, recording an as-
set and a liability at the lower of the fair value of the 
asset and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, including any guaranteed residual value.  
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction 
of the lease liability and the interest expense.  Leased 
assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over 
their estimated useful lives to the Council where it is 
likely that the Council will obtain ownership of the 
asset or over the term of the lease, whichever is the 
shorter. Leased assets are currently being amortised 
over a 5 year period.    

Operating leases    

Lease payments for operating leases are required 
by the accounting standard to be recognised on a 
straight line basis, rather than expensed in the years 
in which they are incurred.   

(v) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are 
shown inclusive of GST.    

Cash flows are presented in the Statement of 
Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, 
which are disclosed as operating cash flows.   

(w) Financial guarantees  
Financial guarantee contracts are not recognised 
as a liability in the balance sheet unless the lender 
has exercised their right to call on the guarantee 
or Council has other reasons to believe that it is 
probable that the right will be exercised. Details of 
guarantees that Council has provided, that are not 
recognised in the balance sheet, are disclosed at 
Note 35 contingent liabilities and contingent assets.  
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Note 1 Significant accounting policies (cont.) 
(x) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and 
commitments   
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed 
by way of Note 35 and, if quantifiable, are measured 
at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities 
are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively.    
Commitments are not recognised in the Balance 
Sheet. Commitments are disclosed at their nominal 
value by way of Note 32 and presented inclusive of 
the GST payable.      

(y) Pending accounting standards   
The following new Australian Accounting Standards 
have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 
June 2017 reporting period. Council has assessed these 
pending standards and has identified the following 
potential impacts will flow from the application of 
these standards in future reporting periods.   
 
Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) 
(applies 2019/20 for not for profit entities) 

The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-
level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is 
determined based on what the customer expects 
to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while 
measurement encompasses estimation by the 
entity of the amount expected to be entitled for 
performing under the contract. The full impact of 
this standard is not known however it is most likely 
to impact where contracts extend over time, where 
there are rights and obligations that may vary the 
timing or amount of the consideration, or where 
there are multiple performance elements. This has 
the potential to impact on the recognition of certain 
grant income.      

Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)    
The classification of leases as either finance leases or 
operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will 
be recognised in the Balance Sheet by capitalising 
the present value of the minimum lease payments 

and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future lease 
payments will be recognised as a financial liability.  
The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or 
loss will change. Rather than being shown as rent, or 
as leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation 
on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an interest charge 
on the lease liability. The interest charge will be 
calculated using the effective interest method, which 
will result in a gradual reduction of interest expense 
over the lease term.    
Council has a significant number of operating leases 
that will be impacted as a result of this change. The 
financial impact on assts and liabilities is not yet 
known.

(z) Rounding    
Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial 
report have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars. Figures in the financial statement may not 
equate due to rounding.    
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 2 Budget comparison 

(a) Income and expenditure
Budget Actual Variance

2017 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Income
Rates and charges #REF! 52,332         #REF!
Statutory fees and fines #REF! 2,052           #REF! 1
User fees #REF! 4,755           #REF!
Grants - operating #REF! 11,485         #REF! 2
Grants - capital #REF! #REF! #REF!
Contributions - monetary #REF! #REF! #REF! 3
Contributions - non monetary #REF! #REF! #REF! 4
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures #REF! #REF! #REF! 5
Other income #REF! 1,440           #REF! 6
Total income #REF! #REF! #REF!

Expenses
Employee costs #REF! 28,045         #REF!
Materials and services #REF! 27,176         #REF!
Depreciation and amortisation #REF! 13,784         #REF!
Borrowing costs #REF! #REF! #REF!
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment #REF! #REF! #REF! 7
Other expenses #REF! 751              #REF!
Total expenses #REF! #REF! #REF!

Surplus/(deficit) for the year #REF! #REF! #REF!

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

The budget comparison notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual performance.  
The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014  requires explanation of any material variances.  Council has 
generally adopted a materiality threshold of the lower of 10 percent or $1,000,000 where further explanation is warranted.  
Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material 
because of its nature.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 22 June 2016.  The Budget was based on assumptions that 
were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget.  Council sets guidelines and parameters for income and expense targets in this 
budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term.  The budget did not 
reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989  and the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 .
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Note 2   Budget comparison 

Budget Actual Variance
2017 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Income
Rates and charges 52,333     52,332        (1)              
Statutory fees and fines 1,574       2,052          478            1
User fees 4,660       4,755          95              
Grants - operating 8,149       11,485        3,336         2
Grants - capital 4,023       4,381          358            
Contributions - monetary 603          1,067          464            3
Contributions - non monetary - 6,685          6,685         4
Share of net profits of associates - 169             169            5
Other income 997          1,440          443            6
Total income 72,339     84,366        12,027       

Expenses
Employee costs 28,581     28,045        536            
Materials and services 27,835     27,176        659            
Depreciation and amortisation 13,554     13,784        (230)          
Borrowing costs 618          629             (11)            
Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment - 1,471          (1,471)       7
Other expenses 1,119       751             368            8
Total expenses 71,707     71,856        (149)          

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 632          12,510        11,878       
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 2 Budget comparison (cont'd)

(a) Income and expenditure (cont'd)
(i) Explanation of material variations

Ref Item Explanation

1 Statutory fees and 
fines

2 Grants - operating

3 Contributions - 
monetary

4 Contributions - 
non monetary

5 Share of net profits 
of associates 

6 Other income

7

Net loss on disposal 
of property, 
infrastructure, plant 
and equipment

8 Other expenses

The State Government increased the regulatory fees during the year, which has resulted in an increase in 
statutory planning fees of $207K.  Subdivision plan checking and subdivision supervision fees also increased 
by $137K and due to an education program concerning animal registrations, these fees increased by $67K.

The predominant variation is as a result of the early receipt of the 2017/18 Commonwealth Financial 
Assistance Grant of $2.97m along with an additional $203K arising from small one off grants to support 
projects.
There were additional developer contributions for roads and open space as a result of development 
applications.
Non monetary developer contributed assets are received on completion of developments.  These are not 
budgeted for due to uncertainty of timing.

The additional items in other income include $352K in additional interest generated on council’s investment 
portfolio and $75K arising from additional property rental received from new lease agreements.

The written down value of infrastructure assets renewed during the year as part of the capital program was 
$1,412K which is reflected as a net loss on disposal.  The remaining net loss arose from the replacement of 
plant and fleet.

Council's share of net profits is dependant upon the performance of West Gippsland Regional Library 
Corporation. This is not budgeted for due to the timing of preparation of Council's budget

The impact of discounting of the provision for landfill restoration is not budgeted for
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Note 2 Budget comparison (cont.) 
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 2 Budget comparison (cont'd)

(b) Capital works
Budget Actual Variance

2017 2017 2017
$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref

Property
Land 185              161              (24)               
Total land 185              161              (24)               
Buildings 6,026           2,819           (3,207)          1
Building improvements -               197              197              2
Total buildings 6,026           3,016           (3,010)          
Total property 6,211           3,177           (3,034)          

Plant and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment 1,509           1,235           (274)             3
Fixtures, fittings and furniture 10                96                86                4
Computers and telecommunications 905              60                (845)             5
Total plant and equipment 2,424           1,391           (1,033)          

Infrastructure
Roads 4,474           4,337           (137)             
Bridges 55                162              107              6
Footpaths and cycleways 699              1,537           838              7
Drainage 658              305              (353)             8
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 1,017           848              (169)             9
Waste management 40                65                25                
Parks, open space and streetscapes 257              636              379              10
Off street car parks 103              90                (13)               
Art works 50                20                (30)               
Total infrastructure 7,353           8,000           647              

Total capital works expenditure 15,988         12,568         (3,420)          

Represented by:
Asset renewal expenditure 10,139         7,662           (2,477)          
Asset upgrade expenditure 3,202           3,568           366              
Asset expansion expenditure 443              306              (137)             
New asset expenditure 2,204           1,032           (1,172)          
Total capital works expenditure 15,988         12,568         (3,420)          

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017
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Note 2 Budget comparison (cont.) 
(b) Capital Works
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 2 Budget comparison (cont'd)

(b) Capital works (cont'd)
(i) Explanation of material variations

Ref Item Explanation

1 Buildings

2 Building 
improvements

3 Plant, machinery 
and equipment

4 Fixtures, fittings 
and furniture

5
Computers and 
telecommuni-
cations

6 Bridges

7 Footpaths and 
cycleways

8 Drainage

9

Recreational, 
leisure and 
community 
facilities

10
Parks, open 
space and 
streetscapes

Variances result from a number of projects that were funded from savings identified in the year, including 
Cowes foreshore renewal $208K, beach access restorative works $35K and Grantville Memorial Park 
exercise stations $14K; projects completed that were funded from the 2015/16 budget including the Ayr Creek 
Reserve flood mitigation $163K and whale watch trail signage $23K; and delays in completion of playground 
equipment renewals ($80K).

Works budgeted as capital that were completed during the year but reclassified as operating expenses 
included Cowes Revitalisation Project works that have not progressed beyond concept plans ($1,363K) and 
Building Renewal Programs that included a high degree of maintenance, repairs and works below the asset 
recognition threshold ($953K).
Works on the Bass Valley Children's Centre and Cuttriss Street public toilet continue into 2017/18 and 
account for ($440K) and ($77K) variances respectively; and renewal of Wonthaggi Football Club facilities was 
delayed ($384K). Replacement of the Inverloch boat ramp public toilet was completed under budget by 
($115K). Projects completed in 2016/17 that were carried over (funded) from the 2015/16 budget included the 
Civic Centre upgrade $113K and replacement of the Cape Paterson Caravan Park amenities block $252K.

Works completed in 2016/17 that were funded from the 2015/16 budget (carried over) included the purchase 
of workstations and office equipment for the Civic Centre $98K and Newhaven jetty shed roof works $30K.  
Additional purchases of workstations and office equipment for the Civic Centre $53K were funded from 
operational savings identified through the year.

The variance is a combination of a delay in fulfilling orders for large items of plant and a change in the 
replacement cycle of light fleet.

Cowes and Inverloch Shared Services Upgrade $25K and Cinema Equipment Purchase $65K were not 
originally budgeted for and were funded by operational savings identified through the year.

The decision to replace Council's core corporate business systems with software as a service rather than as 
an outright purchase resulted in the actual costs incurred being recognised as an operating expense rather 
than capital ($829K).

Powlett River bridge works were funded from the prior year budget $72K, and Bourne Creek pedestrian 
bridge works were funded from savings of $15K identified during the year.

Savings during the year allowed the South Dudley Road path to be extended from the wetlands entrance to 
the Wonthaggi Secondary College $290K and provided additional funding for the Phillip Island Tourist Road 
footpath renewal $213K; Ventnor Road rehabilitation $198K; and  Principal Bicycle Path Network in San 
Remo $192K.  Projects completed under budget included the Settlement Road pathway ($18K) and the 
pathways gaps program ($21K).

Concept design and community consultation costs for the Pioneer Bay Drainage Improvement Strategy were 
reclassified as operating expenditure ($95K), while the Sunset Strip road and drainage project did not 
proceed ($45K).  Projects completed under budget included Goroke Street drainage outfall ($67K) and 
Seascape Ave network ($32K).  The Jenner Avenue drainage network project included kerb and channel 
works costs that were recognised in roads ($67K), and savings from several multi-site smaller drainage 
projects were used to fund other projects ($32K).

Thompson Reserve lighting project was deferred pending permits ($249K). Upgrade of Wonthaggi Netball 
Courts $58K and Dalyston and Cowes Netball Courts design $22K were funded from savings identified 
through the year.
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Note 2 Budget comparison (cont.) 
(b) Capital Works (cont’d) 

(i) Explanation of material variations

Our Finances
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 3 Correction of error

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 4 Rates and charges

General Rates 43,359          41,880         
Waste management charge 8,168            7,816           
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments 508               329              
Interest on rates and charges 231               218              
Revenue in lieu of rates 66                 65                
Total rates and charges 52,332          50,308         

Note 5 Statutory fees and fines
Permits 918               831              
Town planning fees 761               319              
Infringements and costs 228               186              
Land information certificates 145               134              
Total statutory fees and fines 2,052            1,470           

Note 6 User fees
Waste management services 2,132            2,168           
Leisure centre and recreation 911               709              
Other fees and charges 827               846              
Aged and health services 579               564              
Building services 114               71                
Registration and other permits 95                 51                
Parking 90                 77                
Child care/children's programs 7                   12                
Total user fees 4,755            4,498           

 Note 7 Grants
Grants were received in respect of the following :
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants 12,244          5,176           
State funded grants 3,622            5,048           
Total grants received 15,866          10,224         

Due to found assets and recognition of water sensitive urban design assets for the first time, the value of infrastructure 
assets were understated.  As a result the value of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment and accumulated 
surplus was understated by $7,795K as at 1 July 2015 and by $7,771K for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district.  The 
CIV of a property is its estimated market value. 
The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2016/17 was $11,419 million (2015/16 $11,266 million). 

The date of the latest general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2016, 
and the valuation was first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2016.
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Note 3  Correction of error
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

 Note 7 Grants (cont'd)

Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Victoria Grants Commission 8,512            2,713           
Aged care 1,281            -
Recurrent - State Government
Aged care 1,015            2,055           
General home care 242               357              
Environment 52                 45                
Maternal and child health -               46                
Community health 23                 26                
Total recurrent operating grants 11,125          5,242           
Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Environment 9                   14                
Non-recurrent - State Government
Tourism and economic development 43                 135              
Community safety 49                 112              
Transport network 13                 66                
Education -               60                
Drainage 45                 -               
Community health 18                 13                
Environment -               20                
Footpaths and cycleways 10                 -               
Waste management 8                   -               
Recreation -               6                  
Other 165               13                
Total non-recurrent operating grants 360               439              
Total operating grants 11,485          5,681           

Capital Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to recovery 2,427            2,029           
Total recurrent capital grants 2,427            2,029           
Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Transport network 15                 420              
Non-recurrent - State Government
Transport network 1,285            971              
Education 501               -               
Drainage 100               17                
Environment 40                 30                
Footpaths and cycleways -               230              
Recreation 13                 824              
Waste management -               22                
Total non-recurrent capital grants 1,954            2,514           
Total capital grants 4,381            4,543           

Balance at start of year 1,824            1,717           
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date 63                 1,051           
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year (1,622)          (944)             
Balance at year end 265               1,824           

Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 8 Contributions
Monetary 1,067            562              
Non-monetary(1) 6,685            1,522           
Total contributions 7,752            2,084           

Land 105               -               
Buildings 40                 -               
Infrastructure(1) 6,540            1,522           
Total non-monetary contributions 6,685            1,522           
(1)  Refer Note 40.

Note 9 Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Proceeds of sale 340               744              
Written down value of assets disposed (1,811)          (896)             
Total net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (1,471)          (152)             

Note 10 Other income
Interest 687               633              
Rating valuation recovery from State Revenue Office 366               46                
Reimbursements 184               244              
Other rent 75                 61                
Fire services levy administration recovery from State Revenue Office 52                 50                
Council election non voter fines 50                 -               
Dividends 2                   2                  
Other 24                 62                
Total other income 1,440            1,098           

Note 11 (a) Employee costs
Wages and salaries 20,933          21,011         
Annual leave 2,475            1,590           
Superannuation 2,161            2,247           
Long service leave 698               407              
WorkCover 590               615              
Fringe benefits tax 189               191              
Other 999               968              
Total employee costs 28,045          27,029         

Note 11 (b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:
Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 209               229              
Total defined benefit fund employer contributions 209               229              
No defined benefit employer contributions were payable at reporting date (2016: nil)

Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 1,395            1,487           
Employer contributions -  other funds 564               531              
Total accumulation fund employer contributions 1,959            2,018           
Employer contributions payable at reporting date 88                 30                

Contributions of non monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes:

Refer to note 34 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 12 Materials and services
Contractor Payments 11,050          9,475           
Maintenance and repairs 4,689            4,938           
Services, consultants and other expenses 2,318            2,246           
Consumables and supplies 2,835            3,169           
Library services 1,760            1,710           
Waste management 1,531            1,836           
Information and technology 902               1,262           
Staff development and recruitment 474               534              
Insurance 482               479              
Legal and debt recovery 222               233              
Property leases 251               242              
Utilities 205               203              
Banking and financing fees 180               171              
Subscriptions and memberships 137               119              
Cost of goods sold 81                 92                
Advertising 59                 68                
Total materials and services 27,176          26,777         

Note 13 Bad and doubtful debts
Rates debtors -               52                
Special charge scheme debtors -               3                  
Total bad and doubtful debts -               55                

Note 14 Depreciation and amortisation
Property (1) 3,334            3,395           
Plant and equipment 1,195            1,223           
Infrastructure(1) 9,060            9,074           
Total depreciation 13,589          13,692         
Intangible assets 195               1,515           
Total depreciation and amortisation 13,784          15,207         

(1)  Refer Note 40.

Note 15 Borrowing costs
Interest - borrowings 629               649              
Total borrowing costs 629               649              

Note 16 Other expenses
Land management rebate 611               637              
Councillors' allowances 272               259              
Fire services levy 77                 75                
Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance 
statement and grant acquittals 37                 61                
Auditors' remuneration - internal 32                 50                
Financing discount costs (278)             290              
Total other expenses 751               1,372           

Refer to note 23 and 24 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges.
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 17 Investments in associates, joint arrangements and subsidiaries

Investments in associates
Investments in associates accounted for by the equity method are:
  -  West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation 1,318            1,149           

West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation
Background

Fair value of Council's investment in West Gippsland Regional Library 
Corporation 1,318            1,149           

Council's share of accumulated surplus
Council's share of accumulated surplus at start of year 940               630              
Reported surplus for year 154               155              
Change in proportion of equity (based on agreement) (110)             155              

    Council's share of accumulated surplus at end of year 984               940              

Council's share of reserves
Council's share of reserves at start of year 209               70                
Transfers to other reserves 107               -               
Transfers to asset revaluation reserves -               139              
Change in proportion of reserves (based on agreement) 18                 -               

    Council's share of reserves at end of year 334               209              

Movement in carrying value of specific investment
Carrying value of investment at start of year 1,149            700              
Share of surplus for year 154               155              
Share of transfers to other reserves 107               -               
Share of asset revaluation -               139              
Change in proportion of equity (92)               155              

    Carrying value of investment at end of year 1,318            1,149           

Council's share of expenditure commitments

At balance date, there were no contingent liabilities and contingent assets (2016: $nil).

The Council has a 35.86% interest in the West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation, which operates a library 
service for a number of municipalities.

At balance date, there were no capital or operating expenditure commitments (2016: $nil).

Council's share of contingent liabilities and contingent assets
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 18 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 6                   6                  
Cash at bank 6,662            4,131           
Term deposits 31,500          22,205         
Total cash and cash equivalents 38,168          26,342         

- Trust funds and deposits (Note 26) 3,656            2,727           
- Statutory reserves (Note 29) 3,182            1,960           
- Contractually restricted reserves (Note 29) 1,338            693              
Total restricted funds 8,176            5,380           
Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 29,992          20,962         

Intended allocations

 - Cash held to fund carried forward works 5,370            5,790           
 - Identified reserves (Note 29) 13,178          10,749         
 - Discretionary reserves (Note 29) 12,889          6,169           
Total funds subject to intended allocations 31,437          22,708         

Note 19 Other financial assets
Shares in community bank 40                 40                
Total other financial assets 40                 40                

Note 20 Trade and other receivables
Current
Statutory receivables
Rates debtors 2,216            2,665           
Provision for doubtful debt - rates debtors (42)               (420)             
Special charge scheme debtors 729               1,009           
Non statutory receivables
Other debtors 1,374            1,306           
Total current trade and other receivables 4,277            4,560           

Non-current
Statutory receivables
Special charge scheme debtors -               10                
Non statutory receivables
Loans and advances to community organisations 49                 49                
Total non-current trade and other receivables 49                 59                
Total trade and other receivables 4,326            4,619           

Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary 
use.  These include:

Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future purposes by Council:
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Bass Coast Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report
2016/2017 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 20 Trade and other receivables (cont'd)

(a) Ageing of Receivables

Current (not yet due) 584               548              
Past due by up to 30 days 33                 48                
Past due between 31 and 180 days 45                 91                
Past due between 181 and 365 days 11                 27                
Past due by more than 1 year 180               61                
Total trade and other receivables 853               775              

(b) Movement in provisions for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year 420               377              
New provisions recognised during the year -               43                
Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (378)             -               
Balance at end of year 42                 420              

(c) Ageing of individually impaired Receivables

Note 21 Inventories
Inventories held for sale 57                 43                
Total inventories 57                 43                

Note 22 Other assets
Prepayments 285               365              
Accrued income 593               224              
Total other assets 878               589              

At balance date other debtors representing financial assets were past due but not impaired.  The ageing of Council's 
trade and other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) was:

At balance date, there were no impaired debtors representing financial assets (2016: $nil).  Many of the long 
outstanding past due amounts have been lodged with Council's debt collectors or are on payment arrangements.
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N
ote 23  Property, infrastructure, plant and equipm

ent

Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 23
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipm

ent

Sum
m

ary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipm
ent

At Fair Value
30 June 2016

Acquisitions
Contributions

Revaluation
Depreciation

Disposal
Transfers

Reclassifications
W

rite Offs
At Fair Value
30 June 2017

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

Land
140,124

         
-

                 
105

                
12,433

           
(489)

               
-

                 
1,148

             
-

                 
-

                 
153,321

         
Buildings

59,290
           

-
                 

40
                  

7,971
             

(2,845)
            

(24)
                 

1,478
             

-
                 

-
                 

65,910
           

Plant and Equipment
6,264

             
1,936

             
-

                 
-

                 
(1,195)

            
(367)

               
-

                 
112

                
-

                 
6,750

             
Infrastructure

372,612
         

-
                 

6,540
             

-
                 

(9,060)
            

(1,412)
            

6,904
             

(112)
               

-
                 

375,472
         

W
ork in progress

1,869
             

11,159
           

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(9,538)
            

-
                 

(788)
               

2,702
             

Total
580,159

         
13,095

           
6,685

             
20,404

           
(13,589)

          
(1,803)

            
(8)

                   
-

                 
(788)

               
604,155

         

Sum
m

ary of W
ork in Progress

Opening W
IP

Additions
Transfers

W
rite Offs

Closing W
IP

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
Buildings

706
                

4,220
             

(2,634)
            

(461)
               

1,831
             

Plant and Equipment
96

                  
-

                 
-

                 
(96)

                 
-

                 
Infrastructure

1,067
             

6,939
             

(6,904)
            

(231)
               

871
                

Total
1,869

             
11,159

           
(9,538)

            
(788)

               
2,702

             

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 23
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipm

ent (cont'd)

Land and Buildings
Land - specialised

Land - non 
specialised

Land under roads
Land 

improvements
Total Land

Buildings - 
specialised

Other structures
Total Buildings

W
ork In Progress

Total Property

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

At fair value 1 July 2016
122,420

         
3,838

             
-

                 
20,519

           
146,777

         
120,468

         
15,055

           
135,523

         
706

                
283,006

         
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2016

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(6,653)
            

(6,653)
            

(70,275)
          

(5,958)
            

(76,233)
          

-
                 

(82,886)
          

122,420
         

3,838
             

-
                 

13,866
           

140,124
         

50,193
           

9,097
             

59,290
           

706
                

200,120
         

Movem
ents in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
4,220

             
4,220

             
Contributed assets

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

105
                

105
                

40
                  

-
                 

40
                  

-
                 

145
                

Revaluation increments/decrements
12,004

           
429

                
-

                 
-

                 
12,433

           
(41,523)

          
-

                 
(41,523)

          
-

                 
(29,090)

          
Fair value of assets disposed

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(194)
               

-
                 

(194)
               

-
                 

(194)
               

Fair value of assets reclassified
(19,035)

          
-

                 
19,035

           
-

                 
-

                 
4,600

             
(4,600)

            
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
Fair value of assets written off

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(461)
               

(461)
               

Transfers
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
1,148

             
1,148

             
1,286

             
192

                
1,478

             
(2,634)

            
(8)

                   
(7,031)

            
429

                
19,035

           
1,253

             
13,686

           
(35,791)

          
(4,408)

            
(40,199)

          
1,125

             
(25,388)

          
Movem

ents in accum
ulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
(489)

               
(489)

               
(2,251)

            
(594)

               
(2,845)

            
-

                 
(3,334)

            
Accumulated depreciation of revaluation

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

49,494
           

-
                 

49,494
           

-
                 

49,494
           

Accumulated depreciation of disposals
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
170

                
-

                 
170

                
-

                 
170

                
Accumulated depreciation of reclassifications

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(2,226)
            

2,226
             

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(489)
               

(489)
               

45,187
           

1,632
             

46,819
           

-
                 

46,330
           

At fair value 30 June 2017
115,389

         
4,267

             
19,035

           
21,772

           
160,463

         
84,677

           
10,647

           
95,324

           
1,831

             
257,618

         
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2017

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(7,142)
            

(7,142)
            

(25,088)
          

(4,326)
            

(29,414)
          

-
                 

(36,556)
          

115,389
         

4,267
             

19,035
           

14,630
           

153,321
         

59,589
           

6,321
             

65,910
           

1,831
             

221,062
         

Page 2



Our Finances

Bass Coast Shire Council Annual Report 2016/17  114  

Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 23 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Plant and Equipment
Plant machinery 
and equipment

Fixtures fittings 
and furniture

Computers and 
telecomms Art works(2) Work In Progress

Total plant and 
equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At fair value 1 July 2016 10,689           1,360             962                -                 96                  13,107           
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2016 (4,668)            (1,214)            (865)               -                 -                 (6,747)            

6,021             146                97                  -                 96                  6,360             
Movements in fair value
Acquisition of assets at fair value 1,222             125                589                -                 -                 1,936             
Fair value of assets disposed (991)               -                 (246)               -                 -                 (1,237)            
Fair value of assets reclassified (34)                 -                 -                 112                -                 78                  
Fair value of assets written off -                 -                 -                 -                 (96)                 (96)                 

197                125                343                112                (96)                 681                
Movements in accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation (934)               (56)                 (205)               -                 -                 (1,195)            
Accumulated depreciation of disposals 643                -                 227                -                 -                 870                
Accumulated depreciation of reclassifications 34                  -                 -                 -                 -                 34                  

(257)               (56)                 22                  -                 -                 (291)               

At fair value 30 June 2017 10,886           1,485             1,305             112                -                 13,788           
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2017 (4,925)            (1,270)            (843)               -                 -                 (7,038)            

5,961             215                462                112                -                 6,750             

(2)  Art works have been reclassified from Infrastructure to Plant and equipment
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 23
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipm

ent (cont'd)

Infrastructure
Roads & 

footpaths
Bridges

Drainage
W

aste 
management

W
ater sensitive 
urban design

Art works
W

ork In Progress
Total 

Infrastructure

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

$'000
$'000

At fair value 1 July 2016 (1)
374,299

         
41,549

           
92,807

           
240

                
5,533

             
112

                
1,067

             
515,607

         
Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2016 (1)

(115,231)
        

(11,393)
          

(14,112)
          

-
                 

(1,192)
            

-
                 

-
                 

(141,928)
        

259,068
         

30,156
           

78,695
           

240
                

4,341
             

112
                

1,067
             

373,679
         

Movem
ents in fair value

Acquisition of assets at fair value
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
6,939

             
6,939

             
Contributed assets

4,096
             

45
                  

1,717
             

-
                 

682
                

-
                 

-
                 

6,540
             

Fair value of assets disposed
(1,546)

            
(40)

                 
(176)

               
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
(1,762)

            
Fair value of assets reclassified (2)

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

-
                 

(112)
               

-
                 

(112)
               

Fair value of assets written off
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
(231)

               
(231)

               
Transfers

5,842
             

309
                

461
                

24
                  

268
                

-
                 

(6,904)
            

-
                 

8,392
             

314
                

2,002
             

24
                  

950
                

(112)
               

(196)
               

11,374
           

Movem
ents in accum

ulated depreciation
Depreciation and amortisation

(7,424)
            

(514)
               

(962)
               

(9)
                   

(151)
               

-
                 

-
                 

(9,060)
            

Accumulated depreciation of disposals
300

                
6

                    
44

                  
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
-

                 
350

                
(7,124)

            
(508)

               
(918)

               
(9)

                   
(151)

               
-

                 
-

                 
(8,710)

            

At fair value 30 June 2017
382,691

         
41,863

           
94,809

           
264

                
6,483

             
-

                 
871

                
526,981

         
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2017

(122,355)
        

(11,901)
          

(15,030)
          

(9)
                   

(1,343)
            

-
                 

-
                 

(150,638)
        

260,336
         

29,962
           

79,779
           

255
                

5,140
             

-
                 

871
                

376,343
         

(1) Refer Note 40.
(2) Art works have been reclassified from

 Infrastructure to Plant and equipm
ent
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Note 23  Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)      

Valuation of land and buildings     
The last valuation of land was undertaken by a qualified independent valuer, R. Anthony AAPI (valuer 
registration no. 1432) at 30 June 2013. An indexed based revaluation of land was conducted in the current year.  
This valuation was based on the compounded impact of the movement in the land indices published by the 
Valuer-General Victoria since the last valuation undertaken by the independent valuer in 2013. A full revaluation 
of these assets will be conducted in 2017/18. The valuation of land is at fair value, being market value 
based on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted 
through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an 
unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement. 
Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced) 
characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets 
and services. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the 
comprehensive income statement. Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land 
under roads will have a significant impact on the fair value of these assets. 
The last valuation of buildings was undertaken by qualified independent valuers, L. Black AAPI (registered valuer 
no. 2913) and D. Griggs AAPI (registered valuer no. 3204) at 30 June 2017.  The valuation of land is at fair value, 
being the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants.   
The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table.      
Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 June 2017 are 
as follows:

Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 23 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Valuation of land and buildings 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$'000 $'000 $'000

Land - specialised -               -               115,389       06/2017
Land - non specialised -               4,267           -               06/2017
Land under roads - specialised -               -               19,035         06/2013
Land improvements -               -               14,630         06/2013
Buildings -               -               59,589         06/2017
Other structures -               -               6,321           06/2013
Total -               4,267           214,964       

Valuation of infrastructure

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$'000 $'000 $'000

Roads -               -               260,336       06/2015
Bridges -               -               29,962         06/2015
Drainage -               -               79,779         06/2015
Waste management -               -               255              06/2015
Water sensitive urban design -               -               5,140           06/2015
Total -               -               375,472       

The last valuation of buildings was undertaken by qualified independent valuers, L. Black AAPI 
(registered valuer no. 2913) and D. Griggs AAPI (registered valuer no. 3204) at 30 June 2017.  The 
valuation of land is at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants.  

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

The last valuation of land was undertaken by a qualified independent valuer, R. Anthony AAPI (valuer 
registration no. 1432) at 30 June 2013.  The valuation of land is at fair value, being market value based 
on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions.  Where land use is restricted 
through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation.  This adjustment 
is an unobservable input in the valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive 
income statement.  

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or 
unserviced) characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of 
infrastructure assets and services.  This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation.  The 
adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a 
significant impact on the fair value of these assets.

The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table.  An indexed based revaluation of 
land was conducted in the current year.  This valuation was based on the compounded impact of the 
movement in the land indices published by the Valuer-General Victoria since the last valuation 
undertaken by the independent valuer in 2013.  A full revaluation of these assets will be conducted in 
2017/18.

Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 
June 2017 are as follows:

Date of 
Valuation

The valuation of infrastructure assets is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated 
depreciation as at the date of valuation.  The date of the last valuation of infrastructure assets was 30 
June 2015.  

Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017 
are as follows:

Date of 
Valuation

Page 1

Valuation of infrastructure    
The valuation of infrastructure assets is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation 
as at the date of valuation. The date of the last valuation of infrastructure assets was 30 June 2015. Details of the 
Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017 are as follows:  

Bass Coast Shire Council
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Note 23 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Valuation of land and buildings 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$'000 $'000 $'000

Land - specialised -               -               115,389       06/2017
Land - non specialised -               4,267           -               06/2017
Land under roads - specialised -               -               19,035         06/2013
Land improvements -               -               14,630         06/2013
Buildings -               -               59,589         06/2017
Other structures -               -               6,321           06/2013
Total -               4,267           214,964       

Valuation of infrastructure

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$'000 $'000 $'000

Roads -               -               260,336       06/2015
Bridges -               -               29,962         06/2015
Drainage -               -               79,779         06/2015
Waste management -               -               255              06/2015
Water sensitive urban design -               -               5,140           06/2015
Total -               -               375,472       

The last valuation of buildings was undertaken by qualified independent valuers, L. Black AAPI 
(registered valuer no. 2913) and D. Griggs AAPI (registered valuer no. 3204) at 30 June 2017.  The 
valuation of land is at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants.  

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

The last valuation of land was undertaken by a qualified independent valuer, R. Anthony AAPI (valuer 
registration no. 1432) at 30 June 2013.  The valuation of land is at fair value, being market value based 
on highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions.  Where land use is restricted 
through existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation.  This adjustment 
is an unobservable input in the valuation.  The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive 
income statement.  

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or 
unserviced) characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of 
infrastructure assets and services.  This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation.  The 
adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a 
significant impact on the fair value of these assets.

The date of the current valuation is detailed in the following table.  An indexed based revaluation of 
land was conducted in the current year.  This valuation was based on the compounded impact of the 
movement in the land indices published by the Valuer-General Victoria since the last valuation 
undertaken by the independent valuer in 2013.  A full revaluation of these assets will be conducted in 
2017/18.

Details of the Council’s  land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as  at 30 
June 2017 are as follows:

Date of 
Valuation

The valuation of infrastructure assets is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated 
depreciation as at the date of valuation.  The date of the last valuation of infrastructure assets was 30 
June 2015.  

Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2017 
are as follows:

Date of 
Valuation
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Note 23  Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)     

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations    
Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison technique. Significant 
unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land per square 
metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land values 
between 5% and 98%. The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land and 
the current market conditions.  Currently land values range between $1 and $870 per square metre.    
  
Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable 
inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs 
is calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $200 to $8,500 per square metre. The remaining useful 
lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary from 30 years 
to 100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease 
in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or 
requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.    
     
Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs 
include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of 
infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 10 years 
to 100 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in 
cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations 
or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.   

Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 23 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont'd)

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Reconciliation of specialised land
Land under roads 19,035         19,035         
Parks and reserves 71,778         64,056         
Community facilities 16,609         14,933         
Car parks 12,133         11,158         
Civic centres 8,364           7,362           
Caravan parks 5,460           4,886           
Transfer stations and landfill sites 1,045           990              
Total specialised land 134,424       122,420       

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations
Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison 
technique.  Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the 
market cost of land per square metre.  The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results 
in a reduction to surrounding land values between 5% and 98%.  The market value of land varies 
significantly depending on the location of the land and the current market conditions.  Currently land 
values range between $1 and $870 per square metre.  

Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique.  Significant 
unobservable inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings.  
Current replacement costs is calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $200 to $8,500 per 
square metre.  The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current 
condition of buildings and vary from 30 years to 100 years.  Replacement cost is sensitive to changes 
in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation.  Useful 
lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or 
extend the useful lives of buildings.

Infrastructure assets  are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost.  Significant 
unobservable inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure.  
The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are determined on the basis of the current condition 
of the asset and vary from 10 years to 100 years.  Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market 
conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation.  Useful lives of 
infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or requirements that could either shorten or 
extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.
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2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 24 Intangible assets
Landfill air space 508              703              
Total intangible assets 508              703              

Gross carrying amount
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,213           895              
Additions -               1,689           
Revaluation of asset due to change in cost estimates -               (1,371)          
Balance at the end of the financial year 1,213           1,213           

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 510              366              
Amortisation expense 195              1,515           
Revaluation of asset due to changes in cost estimates -               (1,371)          
Balance at the end of the financial year 705              510              

Net book value at 30 June 508              703              

Note 25 Trade and other payables
Trade payables 2,388           1,554           
Accrued expenses 1,026           1,519           
Prepaid income 60                22                
Total trade and other payables 3,474           3,095           

Note 26 Trust funds and deposits
Retention amounts 2,419           1,988           
Other refundable deposits 601              157              
Fire services levy 568              514              
Refundable deposits 68                68                
Total trust funds and deposits 3,656           2,727           

Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain 
requirements or a related warrant or defect period has elapsed.  Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual 
obligations, or the elapsing of time, these amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual 
obligations.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Purpose and nature of items
Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in 
relation to building works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.
Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government.  Council 
remits amounts received on a quarterly basis.  Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line 
with that process.
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 27 Provisions

Employee 
Landfill 

restoration Total
$ '000 $ '000 $ '000

2017
Balance at beginning of the financial year 7,691           3,035           10,726         
Additional provisions 3,490           -               3,490           
Amounts used (3,017)          -               (3,017)          
Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect
of any change in the discount rate (27)               (278)             (305)             
Balance at the end of the financial year 8,137           2,757           10,894         

2016
Balance at beginning of the financial year 8,375           1,284           9,659           
Additional provisions 2,390           1,767           4,157           
Amounts used (3,007)          (228)             (3,235)          
Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect
of any change in the discount rate (67)               212              145              
Balance at the end of the financial year 7,691           3,035           10,726         

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

(a) Employee provisions
Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months
Annual leave 1,965           1,736           
Long service leave 598              618              
Leave in lieu 142              186              

2,705           2,540           

Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months
Annual leave 750              687              
Long service leave 3,793           3,433           

4,543           4,120           
Total current employee provisions 7,248           6,660           

Non-current provisions
Long service leave 889              1,032           
Total non-current employee provisions 889              1,032           

Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions
Current 7,248           6,660           
Non-current 889              1,032           
Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions 8,137           7,692           

Total current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months

Total current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months
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Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 27 Provisions (cont'd)

(b) Landfill restoration
Current 51                53                
Non-current 2,707           2,982           
Total landfill restoration provision 2,758           3,035           

Note 28 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Current
Borrowings - secured (1) 978              1,045           
Finance leases 135              -               
Total current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,113           1,045           

Non-current
Borrowings - secured (1) 12,691         11,484         
Finance leases 141              -               
Total non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 12,832         11,484         
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 13,945         12,529         

(a)
Not later than one year 978              1,045           
Later than one year and not later than five years 7,735           8,469           
Later than five years 4,956           3,015           
Total borrowings 13,669         12,529         

(b) The maturity profile for Council's finance lease liabilities is:
Not later than one year 144              -               
Later than one year and not later than five years 147              -               
Later than five years -               -               
Total finance leases 291              -               

Minimum future lease payments 291              -               
Less future finance charges (15)               -               
Present value of minimum lease payments 276              -               

(1)  Borrowings are secured against the rates and other income of Council.

The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:

IT hardware is leased on fixed lease payments for terms ranging from 4 to 5 years. Each lease has the option to 
purchase at the end of the lease term for $1.
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(a) Asset revaluation reserves
Balance at

beginning of 
reporting period(1)

Increment 
(decrement)

Balance at end of 
reporting period(1)

$'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Property
Land 89,192                12,433               101,625             
Land under roads 3,209                  -                    3,209                 
Land improvements 3,156                  -                    3,156                 
Buildings 40,961                7,971                 48,932               
Other structures 1,782                  -                    1,782                 
Total property asset revaluation reserves 138,300              20,404               158,704             
Infrastructure 179,364              -                    179,364             
Library 209                     -                    209                    
Total other asset revaluation reserves 179,573              -                    179,573             
Total asset revaluation reserves 317,873              20,404               338,277             

2016
Property
Land 89,192                -                    89,192               
Land under roads 3,209                  -                    3,209                 
Land improvements 3,156                  -                    3,156                 
Buildings 40,961                -                    40,961               
Other structures 1,782                  -                    1,782                 
Total property asset revaluation reserves 138,300              -                    138,300             
Infrastructure 179,364              -                    179,364             
Library 411                     (202)                  209                    
Total other asset revaluation reserves 179,775              (202)                  179,573             
Total asset revaluation reserves 318,075              (202)                  317,873             

(1)  Refer Note 40.

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 29 Reserves

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.
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(b) Other reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to
 accumulated 

surplus
Balance at end of 
reporting period

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Statutory reserves
Car parking reserve 54                       -                    -                    54                      
Resort and recreation reserve 1,906                  1,343                 (121)                  3,128                 

1,960                  1,343                 (121)                  3,182                 
Contractually restricted reserves
Capital lease commitments 430                     212                    (38)                    604                    
Inter Council Aboriginal Consultative Committee 19                       -                    (19)                    -                    
Native vegetation offset reserve 39                       25                      (16)                    48                      
Specific development contributions 205                     553                    (72)                    686                    

693                     790                    (145)                  1,338                 
Identified reserves
Constrained works (carry forward) 5,790                  5,370                 (5,790)               5,370                 
Drainage reserve 8                         -                    -                    8                        
Future sustainability fund 609                     -                    (573)                  36                      
Landfill rehabilitation 2,814                  1,316                 -                    4,130                 
LGFV sinking fund 2,635                  1,542                 -                    4,177                 
Long service leave 4,531                  131                    -                    4,662                 
Non-standard street lighting reserve 152                     13                      -                    165                    

16,539                8,372                 (6,363)               18,548               
Discretionary reserves
Art in public places 44                       60                      -                    104                    
Highball development -                      1,500                 -                    1,500                 
Skate park 100                     65                      -                    165                    
Strategic works 5,038                  -                    (1,500)               3,538                 
VGC grant received in advance -                      2,903                 -                    2,903                 
Unallocated surplus 987                     4,072                 (380)                  4,679                 

6,169                  8,600                 (1,880)               12,889               
Total Other reserves 25,361                19,105               (8,509)               35,957               

Note 29 Reserves (cont'd)
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(b) Other reserves (cont'd)
Balance at

beginning of 
reporting period

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to
 accumulated 

surplus
Balance at end of 
reporting period

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2016
Statutory reserves
Car parking reserve 54                       -                    -                    54                      
Resort and recreation reserve 1,657                  249                    -                    1,906                 

1,711                  249                    -                    1,960                 
Contractually restricted reserves
Capital lease commitments 309                     209                    (88)                    430                    
Inter Council Aboriginal Consultative Committee 42                       33                      (56)                    19                      
Native vegetation offset reserve 36                       27                      (24)                    39                      
Specific development contributions 128                     115                    (38)                    205                    

515                     384                    (206)                  693                    
Identified reserves
Constrained works (carry forward) 4,606                  5,790                 (4,606)               5,790                 
Drainage reserve 8                         -                    -                    8                        
Future sustainability fund 171                     573                    (135)                  609                    
Landfill rehabilitation 2,540                  300                    (26)                    2,814                 
LGFV sinking fund 1,185                  1,450                 -                    2,635                 
Long service leave 4,167                  364                    -                    4,531                 
Non-standard street lighting reserve 152                     -                    -                    152                    

12,829                8,477                 (4,767)               16,539               
Discretionary reserves
Art in public places 75                       -                    (31)                    44                      
Highball development -                      -                    -                    -                    
Skate park -                      100                    -                    100                    
Strategic works 4,738                  300                    -                    5,038                 
Unallocated surplus -                      987                    -                    987                    

4,813                  1,387                 (31)                    6,169                 
Total Other reserves 19,868                10,497               (5,004)               25,361               

Art in Public Places

Capital Lease Commitments

Car Parking

Constrained Works (Carry Forward)

Drainage

Future Sustainability Fund

Note 29 Reserves (cont'd)

Other reserves represent an internal allocation of funds for future use. They are in essence a reflection of the funds Council 
has set aside to pay for some future activity.  The name of each reserve and the purpose of each reserve (why Council has 
the reserve) is provided below.

Provision for funds to be allocated to the development and installation of 
major public art installations across the municipality.
Where Council has leases that include a capital contribution obligation 
this reserve is to retain the annual allocation towards that contribution 
less any payments made.
Statutory reserve to be used for the development of car parking from 
specific developer contributions.
This reserve is to recognise the funds allocated and received in prior 
financial periods that are committed to unfinished projects.
Developer contributions towards drainage as part of planning 
agreements.
These funds are to ensure allocations for specific future expenditures 
and where they aid in the future financial sustainability of the Bass 
Coast Shire.
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(b) Other reserves (cont'd)

Highball development

Inter Council Aboriginal Consultative Committee

Landfill Rehabilitation

LGFV Sinking Fund

Long Service Leave

Native Vegetation Offset

Non-standard Street Lighting

Resort & Recreation

Skate Parks

Specific Development Contributions

Strategic Works

VGC grant received in advance

Unallocated Surplus

To fund the repayment of LGFV bonds as the bonds come due for 
payment.

Note 29 Reserves (cont'd)

These funds have been set aside to fund the future highball 
development at the Wonthaggi Senior Secondary College.
Funds provided to support the Intercouncil Aboriginal Consultative 
Committee from committee members whilst Bass Coast remains the 
secretariat.
This reserve is to fund the rehabilitation the waste disposal sites.

These funds are intended for strategic works and acquisitions of new or 
expanded assets that are of an intergenerational nature.
Victorian Grants Commission funding in relation to the next financial 
year paid in advance.

These funds are the funds that remain unallocated at the year end.  

The purpose of this reserve is to ensure that the nominal long service 
leave balances owing to employees are fully funded and maintained.
Funds sourced from certified Native Vegetation Offset Schemes and 
utilised to fund ongoing maintenance of Offset Reserves.
Developer contributions towards non-standard lighting installed and 
collected as part of planning agreements towards non-standard light 
renewal.
Statutory reserve to be used for the development of recreational 
reserves and public open space, sourced from specific developer 
contributions.
These funds have been set aside via council resolution for future works 
on municipal skate park facilities.
To capture funds provided by developers for future specific projects in 
accordance with planning agreements.
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2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 30 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 12,510          (1,249)          

Depreciation/amortisation 13,784          15,207         
Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,471            152              
Share of profits in associates (169)             (310)             
Contributions - Non-monetary assets (6,685)          (1,522)          
Works in progress unable to be capitalised (expensed) 788               822              
Non cash movement in finance leases (123)             -               
Borrowing costs 634               649              

Change in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in trade and other receivables 293               1,206           
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (14)               1                  
Decrease in prepayments 80                 378              
(Increase)/decrease in accrued income (387)             406              
Increase in intangible assets -               (1,689)          
Decrease in trade and other payables (341)             (1,474)          
Increase/(decrease) in trust funds and deposits 929               (212)             
Increase in provisions 168               1,068           
Net cash provided by operating activities 22,938          13,433         

Note 31 Financing arrangements
Bank overdraft 1,000            1,000           
Credit card facilities 400               400              
Total facilities 1,400            1,400           

Used facilities 45                 61                
Unused facilities 1,355            1,339           
Total facilities 1,400            1,400           
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Note 32 Commitments

Not later than 
1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than 2 
years

Later than 2 years 
and not later than 

5 years
Later than 5 

years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2017
Operating
Garbage collection 5,855            5,673              28,363              28,363          68,254          
Software licencing 1,259            948                 2,467                356               5,030            
Leisure centre management 790               790                 829                   -                2,409            
Cleaning contracts for council buildings 522               480                 2,071                -                3,073            
Recycling 578               -                  -                    -                578               
Consultancies 384               -                  -                    -                384               
Electricity supply 215               -                  -                    -                215               
Other - operational 80                 80                   240                   -                400               
Total operating commitments 9,683            7,971              33,970              28,719          80,343          

Capital
Buildings 395               -                  -                    -                395               
Roads 83                 -                  -                    -                83                 
Drainage 10                 -                  -                    -                10                 
Total capital commitments 488               -                  -                    -                488               

Total commitments 10,171          7,971              33,970              28,719          80,831          

2016
Operating
Recycling 3,706            -                  -                    -                3,706            
Leisure centre management 772               2,471              -                    -                3,243            
Cleaning contracts for council buildings 585               859                 -                    -                1,444            
Software licencing 589               616                 -                    -                1,205            
Garbage collection 1,101            -                  -                    -                1,101            
Electricity supply 505               -                  -                    -                505               
Consultancies 340               -                  -                    -                340               
Other - operational 194               30                   -                    -                224               
Open space management 31                 -                  -                    -                31                 
Total operating commitments 7,823            3,976              -                    -                11,799          

Capital
Buildings 98                 -                  -                    -                98                 
Drainage 97                 -                  -                    -                97                 
Total capital commitments 195               -                  -                    -                195               

Total commitments 8,018            3,976              -                    -                11,994          

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Council has entered into the following commitments:
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2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Note 33 Operating leases

Operating lease commitments

Not later than one year 292               467              
Later than one year and not later than five years 522               1,396           
Later than five years -               1,516           
Total operating lease commitments 814               3,379           

Note 34 Superannuation

Accumulation

Defined Benefit

Funding arrangements

 - Net investment returns 7.0% pa
 - Salary information 4.25% pa
 - Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa.

Employer contributions
Regular contributions

At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the lease of 
equipment and land and buildings for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):

Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local 
Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined 
benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in 
the Comprehensive Income Statement when they are made or due.

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receive both employer and employee 
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee 
earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2017, this was 9.5% as required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation).   

Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit 
category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan. 
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as the 
defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the 
aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made.  As a result, the level of participation of 
Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the 
Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 
119. 

Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee 
on the advice of the Fund Actuary.  
As at 30 June 2016, an interim acturial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the Defined 
Benefit category. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing 
employer was 102.0%.  To determine the VBI, the Fund Actuary used the following long-term assumptions:

Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 30 June 2017 was 103.1%. 
The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator.  Because the VBI was above 100%, the 2016 interim  actuarial 
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was 
necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

On the basis of the results of the 2016 interim actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary,  Council makes 
employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee.  For the year 
ended 30 June 2017, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2015/2016).  This rate will increase in line with 
any increase to the contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid 
as a consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit.
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Note 34 Superannuation  
Council makes the majority of its employer 
superannuation contributions in respect of its 
employees to the Local Authorities Superannuation 
Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of 
membership, accumulation and defined benefit, 
each of which is funded differently. Obligations 
for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an 
expense in the Comprehensive Income Statement 
when they are made or due.    

Accumulation   
The Fund’s accumulation categories, Vision 
MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receive both employer 
and employee contributions on a progressive basis. 
Employer contributions are normally based on a 
fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year 
ended 30 June 2017, this was 9.5% as required under 
Superannuation Guarantee legislation).     

Defined Benefit   
Council does not use defined benefit accounting 
for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund’s 
Defined Benefit category. This is because the 
Fund’s Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-
employer sponsored plan.    
There is no proportional split of the defined benefit 
liabilities, assets or costs between the participating 
employers as the defined benefit obligation is 
a floating obligation between the participating 
employers and the only time that the aggregate 
obligation is allocated to specific employers is when 
a call is made.  As a result, the level of participation 

of Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a 
percentage compared with other participating 
employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to 
allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers for the purposes of AASB 119.   

Funding arrangements   
Council makes employer contributions to the 
Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates 
determined by the Trustee on the advice of the 
Fund Actuary.     
As at 30 June 2016, an interim actuarial investigation 
was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in 
the Defined Benefit category. The vested benefit 
index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit category of which 
Council is a contributing employer was 102.0%.  To 
determine the VBI, the Fund Actuary used the 
following long-term assumptions:   
- Net investment returns 7.0% pa   
- Salary information 4.25% pa   
- Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa.   
Vision Super has advised that the estimated VBI at 
30 June 2017 was 103.1%.    
The VBI is to be used as the primary funding 
indicator.  Because the VBI was above 100%, the 
2016 interim  actuarial investigation determined 
the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory 
financial position and that no change was necessary 
to the Defined Benefit category’s funding 
arrangements from prior years.  
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Note 34 Superannuation (cont.) 
Employer contributions   
Regular contributions   
On the basis of the results of the 2016 interim 
actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary,  
Council makes employer contributions to the Fund’s 
Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the 
Fund’s Trustee.  For the year ended 30 June 2017, this 
rate was 9.5% of members’ salaries (9.5% in 2015/2016).  
This rate will increase in line with any increase to the 
contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses 
the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as 
a consequence of retrenchment above the funded 
resignation or retirement benefit.   
     
Funding calls   
If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory 
financial position at an actuarial investigation or the 
Defined Benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall 
limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial 
investigation, the Defined Benefit category has a 
shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is 
required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall 
is fully funded within three years of the shortfall 
occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly 
basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97%. 
In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that 
there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, 
the Fund’s participating employers (including Council) 
are required to make an employer contribution to 
cover the shortfall.  Using the agreed methodology, 
the shortfall amount is apportioned between the 
participating employers based on the pre-1 July 
1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the 
Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with the 
employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the 
shortfall has been calculated. Due to the nature of 
the contractual obligations between the participating 
employers and the Fund, and that the Fund 
includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary 
beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound 
up. If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot 
be returned to the participating employers. In the 
event that a participating employer is wound-up, the 
defined benefit obligations of that employer will be 
transferred to that employer’s successor.   

2016 Interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts 
The Fund’s interim actuarial investigation as at 30 June 
2016 identified the following in the defined benefit 
category of which Council is a contributing employer: 
- A VBI surplus of $40.3 million; and   
- A total service liability surplus of $156 million.  
The VBI surplus means that the market value of 
the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit 
obligations exceed the vested benefits that the 
defined benefit members would have been entitled 
to if they had all exited on 30 June 2016. The total 
service liability surplus means that the current value of 
the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category plus 
expected future contributions exceeds the value of 
expected future benefits and expenses. Council was 
notified of the 30 June 2016 VBI during August 2016.   

2017 Full triennial actuarial investigation 
A full actuarial investigation is being conducted for 
the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2017. It is anticipated 
that this actuarial investigation will be completed in 
December 2017.     
 
Future superannuation contributions   
The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined 
Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 
30 June 2018 are $194,359.   

Note 35 Contingent liabilities and contingent 
assets 
Contingent liabilities related to legal matters  
Council is presently involved in a confidential legal 
matter, which is being conducted through Council’s 
solicitors.  As the matter is yet to be finalised, and the 
financial outcome is unable to be reliably estimated, 
no allowance for any contingency has been made in 
the financial report.      
 
Contingent liabilities related to public liability and 
professional indemnity   
Council has no recognised contingent liabilities 
relating to public liability or professional indemnity.  In 
the event of a claim and judgement against Council, 
it is anticipated that Council’s insurer would cover 
the claim, with Council contributing the policy excess 
only.   
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Note 35 Contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets (cont.)
Contingent liabilities arising from potential shortfall 
in Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan 
Council has obligations under a defined benefit 
superannuation scheme that may result in the need 
to make additional contributions to the scheme, 
matters relating to this potential obligation are 
outlined in Note 34.   As a result of the volatility 
in financial markets the likelihood of making such 
contributions in future periods exists.  At this point 
in time it is not known if additional contributions will 
be required, their timing or potential amount.
      

Contingent liabilities related to landfill rehabilitation
Council operates a landfill site, and has provided for 
this potential obligation to carry out site rehabil-
itation works in the future as outlined in Note 27.  
Council also has a number of closed landfill sites and 
will have to carry out site rehabilitation works in the 
future. At balance date Council is unable to accu-
rately assess the financial implications of such works 
for these closed sites. 

Guarantees or loans to other entities

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Phillip Island Football Club 47 47
Department of Sustainability and 
Environment

5 5

Phillip Island Nature Parks 350 350
Environmental Protection Agency 811 811

The amount disclosed for financial guarantee in this 
note is the nominal amount of the underlying loan 
that is guaranteed by the Council, not the fair value 
of the financial guarantee.

Contingent assets   
Estimated developer contributions to be received 
in respect of estates currently under development: 
$9,222,953 (2016: $8,811,637) 

Note 36 Financial instruments   
(a) Objectives and policies  
The Council’s principal financial instruments 
comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables 
(excluding statutory receivables), payables (excluding 
statutory payables) and bank borrowings.  Details 
of the significant accounting policies and methods 
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, 
the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect 
of each class of financial asset, financial liability 
and equity instrument is disclosed in Note 1 of 
the financial statements.  Risk management is 
carried out by senior management under policies 
approved by the Council. These policies include 
identification and analysis of the risk exposure to 
Council and appropriate procedures, controls and 
risk minimisation.   

(b) Market risk  
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of council financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices.  The 
Council’s exposure to market risk is primarily through 
interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to 
other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency 
risk.   

Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value 
of a financial instrument or cash flows associated 
with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market interest rates. Council’s  interest rate 
liability risk arises primarily from long term loans 
and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes council 
to fair value interest rate risk / Council does not 
hold any interest bearing financial instruments that 
are measured at fair value, and therefore has no 
exposure to fair value interest rate risk.  Cash flow 
interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal 
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its 
cash and deposits that are at floating rates.   
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Note 36 Financial instruments (cont.) 
Investment of surplus funds is made with approved 
financial institutions under the Local Government 
Act 1989. Council manages interest rate risk by 
adopting an investment policy that ensures:  
• diversification of investment product;  
• monitoring of return on investment; and  
• benchmarking of returns and comparison with 

budget.  
There has been no significant change in the Council’s 
exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for 
managing interest rate risk or the methods used to 
measure this risk from the previous reporting period. 
Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently 
significant during the year to have an impact on the 
Council’s year end result.    

(c) Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will 
not complete its obligations under a financial 
instrument and cause Council to make a financial 
loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some 
financial assets included in the balance sheet. To 
help manage this risk:  
• council have a policy for establishing credit limits 

for the entities Council deal with;   
• council may require collateral where appropriate; 

and  
• council only invest surplus funds with financial 

institutions which have a recognised credit rating 
specified in council’s investment policy.  

Receivables consist of a large number of customers, 
spread across the ratepayer, business and 
government sectors. Credit risk associated with 
the Council’s financial assets is minimal because the 
main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable 
property.   
There are no material financial assets which are 
individually determined to be impaired.  
Council may also be subject to credit risk for 
transactions which are not included in the balance 
sheet, such as when Council provide a guarantee for 
another party. Details of contingent liabilities are 
disclosed in Note 35.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date to recognised financial assets is 
the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the 
balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. 
Council does not hold any collateral.  

(d) Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of 
council’s operational liquidity requirements it will not 
have sufficient funds to settle a transaction when 
required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at 
below value or may be unable to settle or recover a 
financial asset.  
To help reduce these risks Council:  
• have a liquidity policy which targets a minimum 

and average level of cash and cash equivalents to 
be maintained;  

• have readily accessible standby facilities and other 
funding arrangements in place;  

• have a liquidity portfolio structure that requires 
surplus funds to be invested within various bands 
of liquid instruments;  

• monitor budget to actual performance on a 
regular basis; and  

• set limits on borrowings relating to the percentage 
of loans to rate revenue and percentage of loan 
principal repayments to rate revenue.  

The Council’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk 
is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as 
disclosed on the face of the balance sheet and the 
amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in 
Note 35, and is deemed insignificant based on prior 
period data and current assessment of risk.  
There has been no significant change in Council’s 
exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes 
for managing liquidity risk or the methods used to 
measure this risk from the previous reporting period. 
 
With the exception of borrowings, all financial 
liabilities are expected to be settled within normal 
terms of trade.  Details of the maturity profile for 
borrowings are disclosed at Note 28.  
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of 
financial instruments reflect their fair value.  
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(e) Fair value  
Fair value hierarchy  
Council’s financial assets and liabilities are not valued 
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.  Council’s 
financial assets and liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost.      

(f) Sensitivity disclosure analysis  
Taking into account past performance, future 
expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s 
knowledge and experience of the financial markets,  
Council believes the following movements are 
‘reasonably possible’ over the next 12 months: 
• A parallel shift of +1% and -1% in market interest 

rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 1.70%.  
These movements will not have a material impact 
on the valuation of Council’s financial assets and 
liabilities, nor will they have a material impact on the 
results of Council’s operations.  
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

2017 2016
No. No.

Note 37 Related party disclosures
(a) Related parties

Parent entity
Bass Coast Shire Council

Subsidiaries and associates
West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation
Interests in subsidiaries and associates are detailed in Note 17.

(b) Key management personnel

Councillors
Jordan Crugnale (Mayor 30 June 2016 - 24 October 2016)
Pamela Rothfield (Mayor 16 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Brett Tessari (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Bruce Kent (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Clare Le Serve (1 July 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Geoff Ellis (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Julian Brown (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Les Larke (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Michael Whelan (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Stephen Fullarton (4 November 2016 - 30 June 2017)
Andrew Phillips (1 July 2016 - 24 October 2016)
Bradley Drew (1 July 2016 - 24 October 2016)
Kimberley Brown (1 July 2016 - 24 October 2016)
Neil Rankine (1 July 2016 - 24 October 2016)
Phillip Wright (1 July 2016 - 24 October 2016)

Total number of councillors 15                7                 
Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel 6                  6                 
Total number of key management personnel 21                13               

The full time equivalent of the Chief Executive officer and other key management personnel at 30 June 2017 was 
5.5 FTE (30 June 2016 6.0 FTE)

2017 2016
$,000 $,000

(c) Remuneration of key management personnel
Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
Short-term benefits 1,663           1,650          
Long-term benefits 318              345             
Total remuneration of key management personnel 1,981           1,995          

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at 
any time during the year are:

Page 1
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 37 Related party disclosures (cont'd)

2017 2016
Income range: No. No.

4                  -              
7                  -              
3                  2                 

-               3                 
1                  1                 

-           1                 
1              -              

$160,000 - $169,999 -           1                 
$190,000 - $199,999 1              -              
$200,000 - $209,999 -           1                 
$210,000 - $219,999 -           1                 
$220,000 - $229,999 2              -              
$230,000 - $239,999 1              1                 
$250,000 - $259,999 -               1                 
$320,000 - $329,999 -               1                 
$340,000 - $349,999 1                  -              
Total number of key management personnel 21                13               

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

(d)

Rent 295              -              
Library contributions 1,760           1,710          
Total transactions with related parties 2,055           1,710          

(e)

(f)

(g)

Rent 733              -              
Total commitments to related parties 733              -              

$10,000 - $19,999

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and 
any related entities, fall within the following bands:

$1 - $9,999

Loans to/from related parties

$20,000 - $29,999
$30,000 - $39,999
$40,000 - $49,999
$60,000 - $69,999
$150,000 - $159,999

Transactions with related parties 
During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties:

The rent is for commercial property with a lease term of 7 years. The arrangement is on normal commercial terms.
The library contribution is made to the West Gippsland Regional Library Corporation to operate the library service for a 
number of municipalities.  Further details of this arrangement are provided in Note 17.

Outstanding balances with related parties 
There were no outstanding balances payable from Council to related parties at the end of the reporting period  in relation 
to transactions with related parties.

Refer to Note 37(b) for further detail relating to key management personnel

No loans have been made, guaranteed or secured by Council to a responsible person of Council, or a related party of a 
responsible person during the reporting period (2016: $nil).

Commitments to related parties
The aggregate amount of commitments  in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed or secured by 
Council to a related party are as follows:

Page 2
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 38 Senior Officer Remuneration

The number of senior officers are shown below in their relevant income bands:
2017 2016

No. No.
1                  -              

-               1                 
-               1                 
-               1                 
-               1                 

3                  3                 
4                  3                 
1                  1                 
1                  -              

Total number of senior officers 10                11               

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

1,447           1,407          

Note 39 Events occurring after balance date 
No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.

$80,000 - $89,999

A senior officer is an officer of Council, other than key management personnel, who: 
 - has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer; or
 - whose total annual remuneration exceeds $142,000.

Income range:
$40,000 - $49,999
$60,000 - $69,999
$70,000 - $79,999

Note that this does not include those officers included within note 37.

Total remuneration for the reporting year for senior officers included above amounted to:

$110,000 - $119,999
$140,000 - $149,999
$150,000 - $159,999
$160,000 - $169,999
$170,000 - $179,999

The senior officers above are not full time equivalent employees but are the number of 
people that have been in a senior officer position during the period.  The ful time equivalent 
senior officers at 30 June 2017 was 9.0 FTE (30 June 2016 10.0 FTE)

Page 3

Note 38 Senior Officer Remuneration

Note 39  Events occurring after balance date
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Bass Coast Shire Council
2016/2017 Financial Report

Note 40 Prior period error

(a) Property, infrastructure plant and equipment

1 July 2015
As reported

Property, 
infrastructure, plant 

and equip
1 July 2015

Restated
$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance sheet extract
Non-current assets
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 575,221                7,795                    583,016                
Total assets 608,022                7,795                    615,817                
Net assets 577,881                7,795                    585,676                
Equity
Accumulated surplus 239,938                7,795                    247,733                
Total equity 577,881                7,795                    585,676                

2016
As reported

Property, 
infrastructure, plant 

and equipment
2016

Restated
$'000 $'000 $'000

Comprehensive income statement extract
Income
Contributions - non monetary 1,411                    111                       1,522                    
Total income 69,881                  111                       69,992                  
Expenses
Depreciation and amortisation 15,072                  135                       15,207                  
Total expenses 71,106                  135                       71,251                  
Surplus/(deficit) for the year (1,225)                   (24)                        (1,249)                   
Total comprehensive result (1,086)                   (24)                        (1,110)                   

2016
As reported

Property, 
infrastructure, plant 

and equipment
2016

Restated
$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance sheet extract
Non-current assets
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 572,387                7,771                    580,158                
Total assets 605,873                7,771                    613,644                
Net assets 576,795                7,771                    584,566                
Equity
Accumulated surplus 233,561                7,771                    241,332                
Total equity 576,795                7,771                    584,566                

Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Due to found assets and recognition of water sensitive urban design assets for the first time, the value of land, 
buildings and infrastructure assets were understated.  As a result the value of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment and accumulated surplus was understated by $7,795K as at 1 July 2015 and by $7,771K for the year 
ended 30 June 2016.

Page 1

Note 40  Prior period error
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Certification of the Financial Statements       
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014, Australian 
Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.     
    
         
         
         
         
Brett Exelby CPA         
Principal Accounting Officer         
Date: 27 September 2017       
76 McBride Ave, Wonthaggi VIC 3995         
         
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Bass Coast 
Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position of the Council as at that date. As at 
the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.       
We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2014 to certify the financial statements in their final form.        
 
         
         
         
         
Cr Pamela Rothfield         
Councillor         
Date: 27 September 2017       
76 McBride Ave, Wonthaggi VIC 3995         
         
         
 
        
         

Cr Brett Tessari         
Councillor         
Date: 27 September 2017       
76 McBride Ave, Wonthaggi VIC 3995         
         
         
         

         
Paul Buckley PSM         
Chief Executive Officer         
Date: 27 September 2017       
76 McBride Ave, Wonthaggi VIC 3995         
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Bass Coast Shire Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Bass Coast Shire Council (the council) which comprises 
the: 

 balance sheet as at 30 June 2017 
 comprehensive income statement for the year then ended 
 statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
 statement of capital works for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 
 certification of the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the council as at 30 June 2017 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Councillors’ 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
council to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
28 September 2017 

Tim Loughnan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 


